“Walking together: on the road to Emmaus (Lk 24.13-35).”
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1.2 Convention Schedule

Schedule -June 4 & 5, 2021
FRIDAY, June 4, 2021

1 P.M.
Orientation: Virtual Meeting / Convention Rules & Procedures
Opening Worship Service
Remembrance & Anniversary Recognitions
Opening of Convention
2:00 – 3:00
Keynote Speaker – Dr. Karoline Lewis

BREAK (30 Minutes)
3:30 – 5:00
Plenary #1 (1 ½ hours)
BREAK (2 hours)
7:00 – 8:30
Plenary #2 (1 ½ hours)

SATURDAY, June 5

9:00 a.m. – 10:00 a.m.
Keynote Speaker – Dr. Karoline Lewis

BREAK 30 MINUTES
10:30 – 12:00
Plenary #3 (1 ½ hours)
BREAK 1 HOUR
1:00 p.m. – 2:30 p.m.
Plenary #4 (1 ½ hours)
Closing Prayer
Closing of Convention
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Agenda
Friday, June 4, 2021
Orientation: Virtual Meeting / Convention Rules & Procedures
Opening Worship Service
• National Bishop Susan Johnson preaching
• Remembrance & Anniversary Recognitions
• Opening of Convention
Keynote Speaker – Dr. Karoline Lewis
Plenary #1 (1 ½ hours)
• Welcome and opening prayer by Chaplain
• Greetings – Synod Chair
• Announcement of Convention Committees
• Recognition of Guests and Granting Seat and Voice
• Registration and Attendance Report
• Approval of Convention Agenda
• Announcement and review of Constitution / Bylaw amendments
• Reference and Counsel Introduction
• Bishop Sid Haugen’s Report
o Bishop’s Ministry Team reports
• ELCIC Report – National Bishop Susan Johnson
Plenary #2 (1 ½ hours)
• Call to order and prayer by Chaplain
• Registration and Attendance Report
• Officers Reports
o Synod Chair
o Synod Secretary
o Synod Treasurer & Audited Financial Statements
• 2018 Convention Motions Referred to Council
• 2020-2025 Strategic Plan
• Synod Council Committee Reports
o Finance and Audit
o Compensation Review
o Funding Allocation
o Governance
o Congregational Constitution Review
• Synod Council Standing Committee Reports
o Candidacy
o Examining
o Mission in Ministry
o Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon
o Reference and Counsel Committee - Report#1
June 4-5, 2021
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Saturday, June 5, 2021
Keynote Speaker -Dr. Karoline Lewis
Plenary #3 (1 ½ hours)
• Call to order and prayer by Chaplain
• Registration and Attendance Report
• Committee on Nominations for Synod Council & LTS
• Election for Synod Council & LTS
• Synod Council – Constitution / Bylaw Amendments
• Report from Ministry Partners
o Lutheran Theological Seminary
o Luther College
o Kinasao Lutheran Bible Camp
o Prairie Centre for Ecumenism
o Lutheran Ministries in Hospitals of Saskatoon (LuMinHos)
o indigenous Christian Fellowship (ICF)
• Lutheran Collegiate Bible Institute (LCBI)
• Election Committee – result of elections & run-offs if required
• Reference & Counsel Report - #2
Plenary #4 (1 ½ hours)
• Call to order and prayer by Chaplain
• Registration and Attendance Report
• CLWR Report
• Corporation Meetings
o LutherCare Communities
o St. Paul Lutheran Home – Melville
Closing Prayer
• Bishop Sid Haugen and Chaplain
• Closing of Convention

June 4-5, 2021
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Code of Conduct
for Participants in Events Organized
by the ELCIC1, SK SYNOD
In the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada (ELCIC) SK Synod, we are committed to being a church that
welcomes all of God’s people in a safe and accepting environment. The Code of Conduct is adapted from
the ELCIC National.
In the context of 2019, we are increasingly aware of sexual harassment as a result of the #metoo
movement along with its #churchtoo counterpart. We are also aware of the systemic racism in our
country as expressed through government programs such as Residential Schools and the Sixties Scoop.
We are conscious of other forms of racism as expressed through movements like #BlackLivesMatter. We
are aware of ageism towards both the young and the old and ableism that is focused towards a wide
range of different abilities. We are aware of ongoing discrimination towards members of the LGBTQ2+
community and we have a growing awareness of diversity in gender identity and gender expression. As
we seek to work with our neighbours of other faiths we are aware of the discrimination that they face.
Our church has adopted the following understanding of our commitment to upholding dignity.
This church upholds the dignity of all people. We recognize the image of Christ in every person and
serve that person as Christ himself. In meeting diverse people, we begin with a core sense of respect
2

for the value of each person as a unique child of God.

This is why we are creating this Code of Conduct for all ELCIC events including task force and committee
meetings, council meetings, conventions and other national events.
Expected Behaviors by Participants in Events Organized by the ELCIC, SK Synod
• Treat all persons fairly and with respect, courtesy, and dignity during events including breaks and
meals.
• Behave respectfully towards others and do not misuse personal or professional relationships.
• Be sensitive to cultural and social differences and practices, to different faith and interfaith traditions,
and careful in your use of language that may be disrespectful or demeaning.
• Do not cross boundaries set by others regarding their personal space. If someone indicates “No,” even
without words, respect it.
• Do not engage in behaviors such as bullying, harassment, sexual abuse, or sexual harassment.
• Do not make false accusations against people for your own advantage.
• Commit to working with the process outlined even if you are the subject of a complaint.
ELCIC SK Synod Preparation for all events
• Before the start of the ELCIC SK Synod event, a minimum of two people, preferably of different
genders and with an understanding of and sensitivity to diversity, are appointed by the event organizer
to form the Complaint Handling Committee (CHC). The CHC members will receive instructions from the
event organizer on this Code of Conduct and the procedures to follow.

June 4-5, 2021
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• At the beginning of the event, the organizers shall remind all participants about the Code of Conduct.
The CHC should be introduced at the first session. The attention of the participants shall be drawn to the
Code of Conduct principles and the commitment of the ELCIC to uphold them.
• For online (conference call, audio/video) meetings, participants are to be provided with an electronic
copy of the SK Synod Code of Conduct prior to the meeting and advised during the meeting if there are
any complaints, the Complaint Form is to be obtained as per the Procedure 3 link and filed as per
Procedure 5.
What action should be taken when someone violates the code of conduct?
The procedures to follow are in harmony with Matthew 18:15–17. In the case of criminal behavior the
matter should be referred directly to the police.
Procedure:
1. An individual who experiences or witnesses a violation of the Code of Conduct should speak directly
to the subject of complaint in as timely a manner as possible, pointing out the violation in a
reasonable manner and requesting that it stop/not be repeated.
2. If there is no resolution, or if the complainant is not comfortable speaking directly to the subject of
complaint, the complainant (including a third party complainant) should speak to a member of the
CHC, who will discuss with them potential next steps.
3. If the complainant decides to begin a formal complaint process, the complainant should fill out the
Complaint Form available at the event. The Complaint Form is also available at
http://elcic.ca/Documents/documents/ELCICEventComplaintFormFILLABLE.pdf.
4. During the event the complainant should hand the completed Complaint Form to a member of the
CHC.
5. After the event, the complainant should send the Complaint Form to the SK Synod office –
info@sasksynod.ca. Complaints may be registered up to 60 days following the completion of an
Event organized by the ELCIC SK Synod.
• All complaints will be carefully investigated in a time-sensitive manner. Wherever possible, the
CHC or the CRT will meet privately and separately with the subject of complaint and the
complainant. Complaints will be dealt with in a confidential manner.
• For the complainant, pastoral care and support should be made available. In cases where the
complainant wishes to consider reporting the incident to the relevant legal and/or ecclesial
authorities, they shall be offered support and assistance in considering such report. However, if the
complainant decides to pursue legal action against the subject of complaint, it shall be done by the
complainant independent of the ELCIC SK Synod.
• For the subject of complaint, pastoral care and support should be made available. The CHC may
remove the subject of complaint from the meeting or from positions where the offense could be
repeated if the CHC determines it is reasonable to do so.
Working Definitions
[Adapted from the Lutheran World Federation (LWF) Code of Conduct]
Bullying
Bullying is the use of force or coercion to abuse or intimidate others. The behavior can be habitual and
involve an imbalance of social or physical power. It can include verbal harassment or threat, physical
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assault or coercion and may be directed repeatedly towards particular victims, perhaps on grounds of
race religion, gender, sexuality, or ability.
Complainant
The person making a complaint of a violation of the Code of Conduct by the ELCIC. This may include a
third party, someone who has witnessed a violation.
Complaint Handling Committee (CHC).
The individuals appointed at an event organized by the ELCIC to receive and review complaints.
Discrimination
Discrimination means exclusion of, treatment of, or action against an individual based on social status,
race, ethnicity, color, religion, gender including gender identity and gender expression, sexual
orientation, age, marital status, national origin, political affiliation or disability.
SK Synod Complaints Response Team (CRT)
The SK Synod office will handle complaints after events organized by the ELCIC have completed.
Event organizer
Usually a SK Synod Staff Person, a Synod Officer, a contract person, or an appointed volunteer.
Harassment
Harassment means any unwelcome comment or behavior that is offensive, demeaning, humiliating,
derogatory, or any other inappropriate behavior that fails to respect the dignity of an individual.
Sexual harassment
Sexual harassment means any unwelcome sexual advance, comment, expressed or implied sexual
demand, touch, joke, gesture, or any other communication or conduct of a sexual nature, whether
verbal, written or visual, by any person to another individual within the scope of work. Sexual
harassment may be directed at members of any gender and includes harassment based on sexual
orientation and gender identity.

Sexual abuse
Sexual abuse is actual or threatened physical intrusion of a sexual nature, including inappropriate
touching, by force or under unequal or coercive conditions.
Subject of Complaint
The person about whom a complaint is made for violating the Code of Conduct.
Zero tolerance
The principle and practice of not tolerating any instance of sexual abuse, harassment, bullying and
discrimination in all of our meetings and conferences and applying a clear procedure for breaches or
violations.

June 4-5, 2021
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Guidelines for Members of the Complaint Handling Committee
1. Individuals or groups of individuals may come to you with concerns about how to handle a
violation of the Code of Conduct. Your initial response is to listen to the complainant or to
arrange a mutually agreeable time and place for a meeting. Such meetings should be
conducted in private but in a public space.
2. Options for you to consider in dealing with a complaint are:
a. To encourage the complainant to speak directly to the subject of complaint.
b. To be willing to go with the complainant to speak directly to the subject of complaint.
c. To encourage the complainant to fill in a Confidential Complaint Form, and then to speak
in private with the subject of complaint.
3. You will need to exercise your caring discretion to help the complainant choose which
avenue to pursue.
4. In cases involving what you know to be or which might be criminal behavior the matter
should be reported by the complainant directly to the police.
5. Remember you are part of a team. Use the other CHC team member(s) as a sounding board.
You may decide which one of you will speak to the subject of complaint or you may go
together. You may also speak to the event organizer for assistance.
6. In any case, do your best to provide pastoral care and support to both the complainant and
the subject of complaint. With the permission of the complainant or the subject of
complaint you may ask others at the event to provide pastoral care or support.
7. Keep written notes of the actions you take and submit them, along with the original
complaint form to the event organizer for confidential management.
8. If the event ends before the matter is settled, forward the Complaint Form and your noted
to the ELCIC Complaint Response Team for follow up.
1 This Code of Conduct does not supersede existing policies for Rostered Clergy such as Sexual
Abuse or Harassment or Manual on Discipline.
2 ELCIC Social Statement on Human Sexuality 2011
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CONFIDENTIAL COMPLAINT FORM
For Events Organized by the ELCIC, SK Synod
This form should be completed by a person wishing to lodge a complaint. All information will be
held securely and confidentiality will be maintained at all times.
A. General data
Name of the person lodging the complaint: __________________________________________
Address: ______________________________________________________________________
Tel.: _____________________________ Email: _______________________________________
Name of the person you wish to lodge a complaint against (if known):
_____________________________________________________________________________________________
Date of incident: _________________________________ Time of incident: ________________
Title of Event: __________________________________________________________________
Place of incident: _______________________________________________________________
Date of reporting:____________________________________ Time of reporting: ___________
B. Brief description of the incident or concern:
State what happened, trying to follow the sequence of events from start to finish. If the
incident location is not well known, describe the location based on your memory of it. Give a
description of the “subject of complaint” if you do not know their name.

C. Name of witnesses: (if any)
Supply the names of witnesses and how they can be contacted, if known.

June 4-5, 2021
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Bishop’s report
Submitted to Saskatchewan Synod Convention, June 2021
It has been difficult to report on the work of the Bishop’s team for the period since our last
convention in June of 2018. Scanning over the material from the early part of this term seems
like reading about ‘another world’ than the one that has been challenging us for the last 14
months. In some ways, though, writing this report has been a bit of a ‘healing’ journey for me,
as I realize that the pandemic has not been going on forever—it just feels like it! Below is my
report in broad strokes, of the work of Bishop’s team in the last triennium.
The first part of the report is a summary of the changes to the Bishop’s team over the last three
years. The second and major part of the report is a final report on the 2014-2020 Strategic plan.
Then I will close. Without opportunity to meet in person at convention this year, this report is
somewhat more detailed-- longer--than usual. My apologies.

The Bishop’s teams
The bishop is tasked by the synod constitution, to be the synod’s chief executive officer and to be
the synod’s pastor. The bishop is then called on to assemble a team within the budget approved
by synod council to accomplish that administrative and pastoral charge.
The Bishop’s Administrative Team works with the bishop as the synod’s chief executive officer
in handing the administrative work of the Synod. The Bishop’s Administrative Team went
through sweeping changes immediately following the 2018 convention. In the fall of 2018,
following the convention in which I had announced that two part-time staff were leaving for
retirement; our full-time office manager tendered her resignation. The fall of 2018 began with
the pressing task of re-configuring the entire office staff. The reconfigured office staff consists
of a .75 time Office manager, a .5 time Executive Assistant to the Bishop, and a .2 time Synod
Finance manager—a total of about 1.5 Full Time Equivalents. Our contract with our Canada
Lutheran Editor was the one constant in 2018! Finally, during the last month, with the
retirement of our Synod Archivist, we have filled the Synod Archivist position through a
Volunteer Agreement.
The Bishop’s Pastoral Team also went through a reset in 2018 with previous Bishop’s Assistant
to the South accepting a call to a parish. Following appointment of a new Assistant to the
bishop in the south, the Pastoral team returned to the shape of two quarter time Bishop’s
Assistants: one covering the northern region of the synod, the other covering the southern
region.
Synod Office Relocation: In less than a year after resetting the teams, the seminary began plans
to leave its building on Seminary Cr. That meant the new team needed to begin planning office
relocation. The process began in earnest in early 2020, just in time for the pandemic. Admin
staff did complete the search during the pandemic, and found a space in north Saskatoon: #6-
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2220 Northridge Dr. The new office has excellent access--both strong WIFI and good parking.
The team moved in during the summer when health directives were somewhat relaxed and
were about settled--just in time for the second wave. Since November we have adopted a work
at home policy mandating only one staff person in the new office at a time.
The Bishop’s team has worked well through a full turnover of staff in the fall of 2018, a year of
getting our feet underneath us in 2019, followed by an Office relocation during the pandemic in
2020 and continuing adjustments through 2021—including a virtual convention.

Strengthening faith communities for service
The 2014-2020 Strategic Plan held up the Vision Statement: Strengthening Faith Communities
for Service and followed with three goals: Sharing of Resources, Engaged Faith Communities,
Community Involvement.

Sharing of resources: Operate as one team

The strategic plan’s goal to “operate as one team” is particularly important when faith
communities tend to work in silos. Congregations and ministries are indeed very independent
life-forms. They have a tremendous ability to ‘work it out’ as they know their people and their
context. But they also have needs that are beyond the resources of a single faith community.
And we are stronger together.
Worship: Operating as one team begins with worship—begins with remembering whose ‘team’
it is, and what it is that holds us together and gives us life. Weekly staff meetings begin with a
time of ‘Dwelling in the Word.’ Zoom meetings begin with Dwelling in the Word or more briefly,
with a time of devotion and prayer. Bishop’s visits and the Visits of the Assistants to the Bishop
bring together faith communities in worship. During COVID, those visits were curtailed. I did
produce a series of Holy Week Services in 2020 (in my basement!) and again in 2021 with the
partnership of the leadership of Our Savior’s, Regina. To be drawn together—one way or
another—is crucial to our operating as one team. But we do look forward to being ‘on the road
again’.
Communication: The Bishop’s Administrative Team has worked on our channels of
communication to faith communities.




The SaskSynod website (www.sasksynod.ca) has been a major communication vehicle
for the synod. Policies, recommendations, funding applications, information are placed
on the website with direct email sent to synod leadership with links to the relevant
website material.
Email Distribution Lists: Admin team spent many weeks in the summer of 2019
developing a strong system of Distribution Lists for ‘in house’ information for faith
community leaders, lay and rostered.
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The SaskSynod News has moved away from a periodically delivered ‘newsletter’ which
although digital resembled a ‘print based’ newsletter and tended to be rather unwieldy.
In its place we have developed a Synod News feed through Mailchimp. The newsfeed is
open to subscription to anyone visiting our website, and delivers timely, brief, notices to
the general community. Currently there are about 800 recipients on the Synod News.
The Sask Synod Insert in the Canada Lutheran continues to reach across the synod.
Virtual gatherings: Zoom licenses have been essential to our virtual gatherings.

These communication channels have been critically important to bring our lay and rostered
leaders together during the pandemic.
Presence: In order to work together, we need to build trust. In a sprawling geography that is
Saskatchewan Synod, that has meant miles and miles of travel for the Bishop’s pastoral team.
There have been Bishop’s visits, and Assistant to the Bishop visits throughout the province over
the past three years. From Redvers to Kindersley, from Meadow Lake to Estevan we have
traveled. We have set out to worship with faith communities, to listen to their stories, and to
share some of our own.
It would be fair to say that we have spent the majority of our time with town and country
parishes, in part because about 75% of our congregations are town and country parishes. In
part, because accessing pastoral leadership is becoming increasingly difficult in those parishes.
The team also connects with our Synod ministries and with ministries with whom we have a
Memorandum of Understanding or other formal relationship. All of that work of course, has
pivoted with the pandemic, to making contact primarily through Zoom calls, phone-calls, and
email.
The pastoral team has met with rostered leaders throughout the synod. The team has been
present in clusters and in face to face meetings. Pastoral team has made contact through email
and through phone-calls. (And of course, there have been moments when we could have been
a pastoral presence and we just didn’t see it. For that, our apologies.)
No question, the pandemic has deeply undermined the work of the pastoral team. Although, at
the same time, Zoom technology has also opened doors we had never tried. Early in the
pandemic, with most of us following a ‘stay at home order’ from the Health Authorities, the
pastoral team gathered the rostered leaders together in Zoom calls--primarily to support each
other. Pastoral team gathered ‘clusters’ of 12-15 by geographic area weekly for the first few
months of the pandemic. We met for Dwelling in the Word, mutual support and sharing
updates. I will not soon forget the feel of these meetings. The anxiety. The alone-ness. The outof-sync feeling of those unable to do the work that they had trained for, and that they had
refined over years or decades of ministry.
Synod teams also gathered lay leadership by Zoom during the early months of the pandemic.
Among other issues, we dealt especially with financial issues. How were congregations securing
funding when ‘passing the plate’ was no longer possible? We found that, overall, the
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adjustment of the roster of congregations was amazing. They sent out letters to their members
asking for donations. They encouraged members to move to PAR or e-transfer. In the calls with
Synod, they took notes on ideas gained from each other. Our Synod financial manager also
came on the calls with expertise to guide congregations in these matters and in navigating
federal pandemic relief possibilities.
Consulting and Responding together: Synod teams gathered both rostered and lay leadership
together in a series of Zoom consultations over the last year. As the weeks passed, and the
pandemic shifted, and new Health Authority Directives came out, faith communities were in
need of both accompaniment and advice to meet the new challenges. I brought in Pastor Ali
Tote, one of our rostered leaders—who also has a PhD in epidemiology--to work with me in
engaging lay and rostered leadership in the Synod. We used Zoom technology to gather 100150 rostered and lay leaders from across the synod to engage the latest turn in the pandemic
and provincial Health guidelines. The consultations had a simple frame: I opened with devotions
and prayer; Pastor Ali led the conversation by presenting out of his expertise on the state of the
pandemic; I laid out the current Health Directives and possible Synod Guidelines; Discussion
followed. I closed with a blessing. Following the consultation, Pastor Ali and I would work
together on producing and revising a set of synod guidelines for faith communities. We were
clear throughout, that Synod expected faith communities to follow the Provincial Health
Directives. Synod guidelines were given as advice, sometimes strongly worded advice, but
always given as synod advice to congregations who would make their own call for their own
context. Following the Zoom Consultations, Synod Guidelines were placed on the Website, with
an email update sent out to lay and rostered leaders.
Working as one team nationally: If congregations and ministries are stronger together, so are
synods. Over the last triennium, our relationship with the national church continues to be a
vital one. National convention, National Church Council (NCC) and the committees of the
national church, including the Conference of Bishops (CoB) are the usual avenues for national
work. Saskatchewan synod continues to supported the National church financially with 20% of
receipts.
During the pandemic, our synods have been drawn more closely in their relationship to our
national church. The Conference of Bishops was meeting together in Mississauga (during NCC
meetings) when COVID broke. The six ELCIC serving bishops were there together, and there for
each other to discern how to initially respond to this challenge. We wrote our first joint letter to
address the pandemic while still at the conference center. Conference of Bishops sent out a
joint letter urging congregations to not hold face to face services for the coming Sunday.
Looking back, I wonder if any of us were up to that task by ourselves.
National staff have coordinated a valuable “online worship services available” page that has
been essential to our faith communities who were unable to conduct their own virtual services
Sermon series coordinated by National staff were offered by the bishops and assistants for the

June 4-5, 2021

Page 15 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

2.1 Sask Synod Bishop’s Report

summer of 2020, again in an Epiphany series in 2021, and are being put together for the
summer of 2021.
The relationships nationally have deepened during the pandemic on many levels. The
Conference of Bishops have met regularly by Zoom throughout the pandemic, to both share
advice, and for mutual support as we face this challenging time. The National and Synodical
treasurers and finance managers have met often throughout the pandemic. Synod and national
officers met by Zoom across the country for a valuable discussion on the new national strategic
plan.
CLAY (Canadian Lutheran and Anglican Youth Gathering) remains a highlight in our working
together as a national church. In 2018 our Youth and Young Adults Ministry team worked to
coordinate Saskatchewan Synod’s participation in CLAY in Thunder Bay. It was an excellent
event. Young people from across the country participated in the Ministry events, Service
events, and Large Group Gatherings. The speakers were challenging. The youth were
outstanding. They were respectful and engaged throughout CLAY. Our Sask Synod had about
100 youth in attendance. CLAY of course was postponed due to the pandemic in the summer of
2020. See the YYAM report for further details about the virtual CLAY event planned for 2021.
Working as one team Internationally: The Academy of Bishops gathers the bishops of the ELCIC
and the ELCA (and their spouses when available) together for a week of study and prayer and
conversation—normally every other year. Canadian bishops are outnumbered about 10 to 1 by
our American neighbours, but the hospitality of these partners in including us in their large
group is inspiring. And being together brings both the wisdom that comes from learning, and
the understanding that comes from being accompanied on the journey together. During the
pandemic the Academy has not been able to meet in-person, but has met virtually from time to
time.

Engaged faith communities: Build leadership capacity
Congregations individually would not have the resources to develop and train their own
leadership. Synod teams work to build rostered and lay leadership capacity.
Rostered ministry
Developing candidates for rostered ministry: The pastoral team meets with individuals
interested in rostered ministry. Synod Admin team supports the Candidacy committee in
mentoring candidates seeking rostered ministry. The Bishop supports the placement of interns
in the synod. The Admin team works with candidates who are being examined by the Western
Examining Committee. The pastoral team works with candidates to discern their first call.
Working through LTS in forming rostered ministers: Synod office supports the work of our
partner, the Lutheran Theological Seminary in Saskatoon. Synod supports LTS with 15% of
congregational benevolence. The western bishops sit on the Board of Governors of LTS. I have
served for several years on the Executive committee of that board.
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Supporting rostered ministers in the first years of their call: First Call is a program for rostered
leaders in their first three years of call led by the four western bishops. The four days are filled
with opportunities for these colleagues in those challenging years to care for and support each
other and also provided continuing education through presentations by a speaker. During the
pandemic, First Call moved to a Zoom platform. On the one hand, the Zoom platform doesn’t
allow the sorts of late night conversations that happen when we gather in person. On the other,
in 2020, with travel costs not an issue, the First Call participants from Eastern Synod joined with
the Western Synods for a full ELCIC First Call. That was quite amazing
Engaging Congregations in the Call process: The Bishop’s Pastoral Team consults with faith
communities in various stages of the call process.
Supporting Rostered Ministers through Fall Leadership Conference: An important way the
synod has supported Rostered ministers has been the Fall Leadership Conference. Synod team
has organized in the past triennium three days study conferences in late September in 2018 and
again in 2019--before the pandemic cancelled our plans for 2020. We are booked for late
September in 2021. . .tentatively.
Exploring Lay Ministry
Saskatchewan synod has about 20 congregations who are unable to call a rostered minister at
this point in their history. Lay preaching is happening in many of these areas, often with lay
leaders simply ‘stepping up’ because there is no one else available. The issue of provision of
sacrament to underserved areas remains a daunting challenge for Saskatchewan synod. One of
our faith leaders summarized it this way: “We have a pastor-centric ministry model, and we are
very short of pastors.” We are feeling that reality across the synod—though less so in our major
cities where call processes still are able to fill pastoral vacancies.
The 2015 ELCIC policy for Authorized Lay Ministry passed at the National Convention in 2015
similarly had trouble getting off the ground. Sask Synod did get approval from the Conference
of Bishops for an Authorized Lay Minister in a four-point rural setting. The authorized lay
minister, mentored by a retired rostered minister has functioned well for several years, and
includes presiding at communion as an extension of the rostered minister’s administration of
the sacrament. To my knowledge this is the only Authorized Lay Minister in the ELCIC.
Another exploration in Lay ministry came in making use of national CECF funds to fund the Lay
Academy, a lay ministry school operating loosely under the Seminary’s umbrella. In the end the
Lay Academy never quite got off the ground as we had planned, but a quite stunning LIFT
(Leading in Faith Today) curriculum did emerge that is available for synods and local
congregations to support developing Lay ministers in specific areas of ministry. The curriculum
is designed as a stand-alone curriculum to be delivered by parish pastors at the congregational
level (rather than anticipating the delivery of the program at LTS, Saskatoon).
Finally, synod has embarked on a new initiative the LPA Program: In the face of continued
pressure to find some form of synod authorized leadership for congregations without access to
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a pastor, Pastoral team is working with Dr. Ann Salmon to develop a program for Lay Pastoral
Associates. A LPA is trained in ministry areas through the LIFT curriculum on the one hand; and
on the other, is mentored by a rostered minister who may live at a distance from the faith
community. The Lay Pastoral Associates program is designed both for parishes without a called
pastor and also for congregations served by a called pastor who look to broaden their ministry
team. The LPA program does not involve the complexities that come with the administration of
sacraments. LPA training has already begun for one candidate. COVID did slow the promotion
of the program considerably, but it looks like a hopeful beginning.

Community Involvement: Practice love and service

This strategic plan Goal is to seek to find our way off our faith community ‘islands’ to reach out
to the community. At times our ethnic history of gathering together as one group of North
Europeans or another has us looking inward to ‘take care of our own’ rather than outward in
Mission for Others. The past three years has seen some surprising developments in this area—
some initiated by the community, some by us.
Relationships with our Global companion: Right after convention in 2018, I accepted an
invitation from President Gustavo Gomez to accompany Bishop Susan on a visit to Sask Synod’s
Global Companion in Argentina. It was 12 days with the amazingly hospitable President Gustavo
Gomez. We drove and flew and walked to faith communities connected to IELU. We saw
everything from large Lutheran schools in Buenos Aires (1500 students!) , to tiny rural churches
in Patagonia with just a few people left in a faith community—wondering about how to access a
pastor. We saw a church setting out to deal with leadership training after their large historic
Seminary that had closed.
There is so much to learn and to share in walking with our global companion. These partners
can expand our own limited view of what it means to be church. Sask synod was in the process
of re-booting our Global Companion committee just as COVID came into play in 2020.
Relationships: Ecumenical and Inter-faith and beyond: COVID has been a crisis—also an
opportunity. At the beginning of June 2020 the government of Saskatchewan announced its
phased plan for Open Saskatchewan. As the plan provided no direction for faith communities in
the government roll-out, about 50 faith leaders across ecumenical and interfaith boundaries
met with each other through Zoom. We talked about how to begin building a bridge to
government so we could be informed about directions for the faith communities. A Working
Group was formed and has been working with the government and health authorities to
develop guidelines for faith communities. As one of our provincial bishops tested positive and
was hospitalized for some time, I was asked to step in to the Working Group. Apparently, this
Saskatchewan working group is the only one of its kind in the country where faith leaders have
a seat at the table with government. Planning is in place to continue this Consultation of Faith
Leaders after the pandemic crisis.
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Ecumenical relationships: Conversation with the leadership in the three Anglican Diocese in
Saskatchewan continue to develop. The Diocese of Qu’Appelle in particular, meets regularly
with our Pastoral team to explore possibilities of joint work in the southern region.
More broadly, The LAURC (Lutheran Anglican Ukrainian and Roman Catholic) covenant
emerged in 2019. As part of the covenant journey I was given the privilege to preach at St.
Athanasius Ukrainian Catholic Parish, Regina. Worship brings us together! The covenant has the
potential to inspire Lutheran, Anglican, Roman and Ukrainian Catholic congregations on the
ground to relate to each other in new ways.
Relationships with Indigenous communities: We continue to value our Memorandum of
Understanding with Indigenous Christian Fellowship in Regina, a ministry based out of the
Reformed church. I am in contact frequently with their director Bert Adama, and have been
involved there as my schedule allows: from giving a synod greeting at 40 th Anniversary suppers,
to having a simple meal in the community. Regina area churches are deeply involved in the
ministry. Treaty recognition statements are gradually growing in our synod, as we engage and
affirm the Truth and Reconciliation statement. In this area, yes, we have much work ahead of
us.

Closing
Looking back, I have been grateful for the wise direction of the 2014 Strategic Plan. The three
goals were always on the horizon as we made plans on synod council and on the bishop’s
teams. Like a target, the arrows of our effort are all over the strategic plan board. . .some,
admittedly, stuck somewhere in the trees behind it!
Looking ahead, the new Synod strategic plan was approved in February of 2020. .
.unfortunately just in time to be paused by COVID. If I had a criticism of “Strengthening Faith
Communities for Service” it was highly focused on the specific work of the “Synod level” and
less about the ministry of congregations and ministries of the synod. The new Strategic plan is a
target for all of us. The Mission is “To use our God given gifts to make a difference in the world.”
The Vision statement is “Creatively Transforming how to be church.” The two Goals, “Expand
Leadership Capacity” and “Courageous Innovation.” The full plan is located on our website at
https://www.sasksynod.ca/about-us/our-strategic-plan/.
Looking back, particularly on the COVID time, I have been impressed with our rosters, the roster
of congregations and the roster of ministers, throughout the pandemic. In the faith
communities, innovations developed rapidly in community care through increased use of email,
regular mail, personal phone-calls. Innovations in funding when ‘passing the plate’ became
impossible. Ministers who have never used video stepped up and worked at it and these video
services were ‘eaten up‘ by congregations who knew their minister’s familiar voice. Many of the
remote services have seen increased numbers from in-person worship. Where virtual services
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were not a possibility, pastors delivered printed orders of prayer and printed services. And all
this happened in our rosters in the midst of the grief of not being able to do what we have lived
to do. Well done, good and faithful servants!
Looking forward, the future is foggy, isn’t it? What will the church look like as the pandemic
wanes? On pessimistic days I worry that people will not come back to in-person worship after a
year away. On optimistic days, I imagine that they will flood back having missed the beauty of
worship in live community. Which way will it all go? No one can give a definite answer. Perhaps
no one should. There will be work for us all to do, no doubt. But the harvest is always in God’s
hands.
In the midst of all this, our new convention theme comes to mind: Walking together: on the
road to Emmaus (Lk 24.13-35) I love this text from Luke. It is about walking, about sometimes
having to stop and take stock, about walking in the presence of Jesus sometimes without
realizing it, then sometimes knowing His presence, then again not-knowing it, then. . .walking it
all through in this journey of faith. We are on this road together and together with our Risen
Lord. We will walk together to God’s new day, in God’s own good time.
Dear friends, thank you for your partnership in this work.
+Sid
Bishop Sid Haugen
BA, MDiv, MA, PhD
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Report to ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod‘s Convention 2021
Youth and Young Adults Ministry (YYAM) Team
May 2021
The primary function of YYAM is to bring the youth and young adults from the Synod together,
while supporting ministry within the local contexts of the Synod’s congregations. For the past
one and half year YYAM has mostly been inactive, due to the pandemic. The following gives
account of what YYAM has been involved in since our last convention in June of 2018.
2018 CLAY Gathering in Thunder Bay, ON.
97 participants from the ELCIC Saskatchewan
Synod went on a bus trip to the 2018 CLAY
gathering in Thunder Bay. The MNO Synod
graciously hosted us in churches big and small
throughout Manitoba and we are very
grateful to them for their welcoming spirit.
Both bus trip and CLAY gathering were a huge
success, and we were very pleased with how
it all went. The youth were tired but happy
when we came back and enthusiastic about
future youth events.
Kinasao retreat November 2018
November 23-25, 2018, YYAM hosted a retreat at Kinasao as a follow-up CLAY2018 (Canadian
Lutheran Anglican Youth) gathering in Thunder Bay. This was an opportunity to bring youth
together again, to build on some of the themes at CLAY, and to provide an opportunity for new
youth to find out about CLAY and other youth in the Synod. There were 42 participants in
attendance.
YYAM Meetings
YYAM had four meetings via conference call in 2018, 2019, and 2020 to discuss various issues,
such as appointing new members, plan the next CLAY bus trip to Calgary, collaboration with the
Anglican Diocese in the Synod, PCYM (The ELCIC’s National Program Committee for Youth
Ministry), and more. There was also correspondence between YYAM members in the wake of
the pandemic, when it became clear that planned youth events would be cancelled.
Youth Events cancelled
We had already started to plan a bus trip for the CLAY gathering in Calgary in August 2020 when
the coronavirus hit Canada in March 2020. We had also planned to have two Pre-CLAY mini
gatherings for each region, North and South, in April 2020. Unfortunately, these events were all
cancelled and the CLAY gathering was postponed until 2021.
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En Route Clay Gathering 2021 in Calgary
Youth in our Synod were invited to participate in an event called Journey Interrupted in August
2020, an online Large Group gathering as experienced in CLAY gatherings. The 2021 En Route
CLAY Gathering in Calgary will also be an online event, featuring worship, workshops, large
group gatherings, and evening activities. YYAM has not been directly involved in the planning
of these events, but announcements have been sent by the Synod’s office to the
congregations to promote them.
YYAM members 2018-2021:
Rev. Zsófi Schmiedge – Chair, Rostered Rep, South Region
Rev. Emmanuel Aristide – Rostered Rep, North Region
Rev. Iris Kristjánsdóttir – Rostered Rep, North Region
Brooklynn Lane – Lay Rep/Ordinand – later ordained and moved from the Synod
Marilla Rackow – Lay Rep/Young Adult, South Region
Dominic Hall – Lay Rep/Young Adult, North Region
Rev. Sean Bell – Synod Council Rep
The tasks of YYAM has changed dramatically in this time of pandemic. Life and work for each of
our members has also changed and new people are needed, especially young people, to
continue this important ministry. We encourage the members of our congregations to help us
in this endeavor so that youth ministry in our Synod may flourish.
Faithfully submitted, on behalf of the YYAM,
Íris Kristjánsdóttir.
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Global Mission Companion report not available at time of publishing.
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Report of the National Bishop
Called to Journey Together
Grace and peace to you in the name of our Lord and Saviour Jesus Christ!
I want to start my report by first and foremost saying, Thank You! What a year this has been. To
our members and rostered leaders — you have really inspired me. Thank you for the ways you
have continued to support your congregations and communities and continue your ministries in
safe and appropriate ways. I have enjoyed the opportunity to worship with so many of you.
We have had to be creative and flexible in so many ways this past year.
We are in this together. Not just as Canadians but as the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada.
I feel like we are much more connected between all expressions of the church than ever before.
There are so many stories of people worshiping with one another, praying for and with one
another, and I appreciate the work so many of us have been able to do together. We are all
doing our very best.
I want to focus my report on just some of those ways we have come together and the many
partnerships that help enable this work to be carried out. There are many things I could share
but for the sake of brief reporting, here are just a few of the highlights.
These will be organized by the four areas of focus that make up the National Office strategic
plan: Courageous Innovation, Reconciled Relationships, One Body Working Together and
Empowered Disciples. I would invite you to look at these areas and consider how you, your
congregation and your community might also be engaged in one or more of these priorities.

Courageous Innovation
If ever there was a time for courageous innovation, this is it. The many ways we have all come
together across the church as we have gone through various stages of restrictions, and then
opening up, and then in some cases increased restrictions again has been admirable. It was not
widely felt when the first online worship services were set up that this would be something we’d
continue to carry on one-year later, and beyond.
Innovative interaction with the community
There have been many joint communication pieces from the National and Synod leaders to
ELCIC members since the start of the global pandemic. The hope for these has been to offer
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support, guidance and prayers as we journey together. You can find these letters and updates
online: www.elcic.ca/publichealth/.
The ELCIC website devoted a special section of the website (www.elcic.ca/publichealth/livestreaming.cfm) to listing all the live streaming and pre-recorded worship services from across the
church, in addition to other COVID-19 related resources (www.elcic.ca/publichealth). We saw this
page grow from a small handful to a list of almost 200 congregations very rapidly — with new
additions still being added weekly. This continues to be one of the most accessed pages of the
website.
In March of 2020, I began a daily practice of sharing daily hymns and prayers, inviting ELCIC
members to sing and pray along with me. These are shared on social media and via a daily
email and have been very well received. This continued into the Fall of 2020 and tapered off just
before November 2020 when I began a three-month sabbatical. I have once again begun this
hymn/prayer journey for the seasons of Lent and Easter this year.
National and Synod leaders offered two sermon series in the last year. From June 14 to
September 13, 2020, National and Synod Bishops, along with Synod Assistants to the Bishops
shared sermons as part of the Summer Sermon Series. Video and text of the sermons were
made available to all congregations as a means of providing support, offering different voices,
and introducing congregational members to Bishops and Assistants from across the church.
From January 10 to February 14, 2021, National and Synod Bishops offered a series of six sermons
for use in congregations using this similar format. Both of these series were well utilized by ELCIC
congregations.
Flexibility in sharing and deploying financial resources
ELCIC National and Synod Treasurers, along with the ELCIC Director of Finance and Administration,
and the Assistant to the Bishop for Communications and Resource Generation, have been holding
regular meetings via zoom since the Government of Canada began announcements on financial
support for COVID-19. The purpose of these meetings has been to assist one another with
navigating through the current financial challenges that congregations may be facing and to
identify areas of mutual support. The meetings have been very productive and resulted in almost
monthly communication pieces for congregations. You can read these letters and updates here:
www.elcic.ca/publichealth/.

Reconciled Relationships
Inclusive vision of the church
The ELCIC has been a supporter of the World Council of Churches (WCC) Thursdays in Black
campaign for many years now — a weekly reminder of our commitment to end gender-based
violence including domestic violence. For several years I have been a WCC Thursdays in Black
Ambassador which means I have been involved in issuing statements urging awareness of
gender-based violence.
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On April 23, 2020, the Ambassadors issued a statement urging awareness and protection from
the “dual pandemics” of COVID-19 and gender-based violence: https://www.oikoumene.org/en/
press-centre/news/thursdays-in-black-ambassadors-we-mustenable-and-promote-safe-spacesfor-all.
On March 4, 2021, I joined with our Synod Bishops to write to the church to express our ongoing
concern for domestic violence in our country and within our church. Social isolation and current
lockdown measures have led to a dramatic increase in domestic violence. The UN describes this
as a shadow pandemic alongside COVID-19, “a pandemic within a pandemic.” You are invited to
join in this campaign by wearing black on Thursday: https://www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=593
&fbclid=IwAR0bs0h-FpRcYmWv4sF3cb5vG7ykRG6H3r3SqnsTsvLPM_dfBVo3I1uDDcc.
Following a 2019 convention motion, three new tasks forces formed. The Task Force addressing
Ableism, Task Force addressing Racism and the Task Force addressing Homophobia, Biphobia
and Transphobia have all begun their work.
Challengers of racism and privilege
On March 21, 2020, I joined with Anglican and United Church leaders to issue a statement lifting
up the United Nations International Decade for People of African Descent as an opportunity to
eliminate anti-black racism: www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=552.
On June 2, 2020, in response to the demonstrations across the United States and Canada in the
wake of the May 25 death of George Floyd in Minneapolis, the leaders of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada, the Anglican Church of Canada, and The United Church of Canada
issued a joint letter: https://www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=569.
On June 4, 2020, the Synod Bishops and I issued a pastoral letter acknowledging that, racism is
within us and within our communities. The leaders call on all congregations and members to
commit to doing the hard work and change our ways of thinking and our actions that demean
and hurt: https://www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=570.
On June 19, 2020, I joined with other ecumenical leaders to encourage the UN Human Rights
Council to address racism: http://wcrc.ch/news/wcrc-joins-ecumenical-call-against-racism.
On July 1, 2020, eight additional churches joined the ELCIC, United and Anglican churches in
committing to recognize and celebrate the United Nations International Decade for People of
African Descent (2015–2024) and to addressing anti-Black racism.
On July 29, 2020, I sent a letter to the Prime Minister supporting private member’s motion for
Parliament to designate August 1 of every year as Emancipation Day in Canada: https://elcic.ca/
From-the-Bishop/documents/20200729LettertoPrimeMinisterEmancipationDay-2.pdf.
On November 30, 2020, the National Bishop and the leaders of the Anglican Church of Canada,
Evangelical Lutheran Church in America, and The Episcopal Church joined together to offer
June 4-5, 2021

Page 26 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

2.2 National ELCIC Bishop's Report

an Advent message: Churches Beyond Borders — Advent Call to Address Racism and White Supremacy:
www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=586.
Healthy relationship with the earth
The national bishops for the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada (ELCIC), Evangelical
Lutheran Church in America (ELCA), the Anglican Church of Canada (ACC) and The Episcopal
Church (TEC) prepared devotions for each Sunday during the Season of Creation, September 1
to October 4.
Work to End Poverty in Canada
On May 3, 2020, I joined other Anglican and Lutheran Bishops in a letter to the Prime Minister
calling for Guaranteed Basic Income: www.elcic.ca/news.cfm?article=565.
On March 20, 2020, I joined with Anglican and Presbyterian Church leaders in a letter to the
Prime Minister lifting up the need to support the non-profit sector during the pandemic.
Ecumenical and interfaith partnerships
The ELCIC has been in the process of deepening relationships with the Moravian Church in
North America. There are currently 19 Moravian congregations in Canada (9 in Alberta, plus 1
mission ministry; 1 in Toronto, Ontario; and 10 in Labrador). In the US, both the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in America and The Episcopal Church have full communion relationships
with the Moravian Church. In September 2020, National Church Council approved a motion to
authorize representatives of the ELCIC to participate in a task force to pursue the possibility of:
1) a trilateral mutual recognition as churches, and 2) a ministry and public witness partnership
between the Anglican Church of Canada, the Northern Province of the Moravian Church in
North America and the ELCIC.
In October 2007, Muslim scholars, clerics and intellectuals came together to unanimously declare
the common ground between Christianity and Islam. Since then, A Common Word Between Us
and You has been encouraging Muslim-Christian dialogue and understanding. In 2018, the ELCIC
National Convention and the Anglican Church of Canada General Synod each acted to endorse
A Common Word. In January 2020, more than 70 people gathered to celebrate this endorsement.
The event included scripture reading, prayers, keynote addresses by two Muslim scholars, and I
joined with Archbishop Linda Nicholls as we participated in a ceremonial signing of A Common
Word. The event also marked the launch of www.acommonword.ca which features resources and
a toolkit supporting Muslim Christian dialogue.

One Body Working Together
Shared vision across all expressions of the church
The Vision Statement Task Force continues to work to carry out its duties related to ELCIC motion
CC-2018-25. The task force has been involved in broad consultation across the church and will be
presenting final recommendations to National Church Council at its September 2021 meeting.
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National and international partnerships
In September 2020, National Church Council approved a motion to designate $100,000 to The
Lutheran World Federation (LWF) Rapid Response Fund. Many of the 148 LWF member churches
live in contexts that are particularly vulnerable for emergencies. The COVID-19 pandemic has
presented an unprecedented challenge for these churches. The LWF Communion Office has
created a space for showing solidarity to these member churches by setting up a COVID-19
Rapid Response Fund. The fund provides short-term grants for the implementation of specific
COVID-19 prevention and response work.
On May 31, 2020 the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada and the Anglican Church of Canada
joined together for One Family in Mission — an online Pentecost Sunday afternoon event. The
seed of inspiration for this joint worship came from a vision for what would it look like to have
Lutherans and Anglicans from across our two churches praying the Lord’s Prayer together — in
our own versions and languages. The online gathering included an opening hymn featuring two
Winnipeg singers along with myself, Archbishop Linda and Archbishop Mark; greetings; a reading;
reflections; prayer; and a closing hymn. The highlight of the event was the coming together of
our Lutheran and Anglican voices in the saying of the Lord’s Prayer.
Submissions were requested from across our two churches during the beginning of May. Not
knowing what kind of response we might receive, we set our sights on a goal of 100 submissions.
To our great surprise, we actually ended up receiving 150 responses (59 Anglican, 89 Lutheran
and 2 from joint ELCIC/ACC communities). Thank you to all who made a recording of yourself
praying the Lord’s Prayer and sent it in. You can still watch the event online at https://www.
anglicanlutheran.ca/pentecost/.
Anglican and Lutheran staff meet regularly to discuss shared work in the areas of communication,
justice, and ecumenical and interfaith relations. While these meetings used to be in-person, the
move to online has meant that these meetings have been able to take place more frequently
which has allowed for a continuity of discussion and work flow.
While unfortunately the 2020 National Worship Conference (NWC) had to be postponed due to
COVID-19, it will be taking place online July 6–7, 2021 as an online event. More information about
Disruption and Grace: Learning edges in liminal times can be found here: https://www.national
worshipconference.org.
Support CLWR’s mission
We continue to work very closely with our partner in international relief and development,
Canadian Lutheran World Relief (CLWR). While we have both mostly been working from home
and not at our shared office space at 177 Lombard in the last year, we continue to meet regularly
to discuss joint areas of work.
CLWR made a special appeal for COVID-19 relief. A portion of funds raised was designated for relief in Canada. A total of $11,400 was distributed to synods to help vulnerable people in Canada.
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This year, CLWR celebrates its 75th anniversary. In acknowledgement of this milestone, the ELCIC
will designate Sunday, September 26 as CLWR Sunday. More information will be coming.

Empowered Disciples
Baptismal vocation
The Living our Faith four-year emphasis completed its first year’s focus on prayer at the end
of August 2020. As we began our second year of the emphasis in September 2020 we shifted
our focus to Read — a study of the books of the Bible. We have been so encouraged by all the
Bible Book Clubs that have been organized across the ELCIC. And it’s still not too late to join
in! Each month we will read a book of the Bible and resources are provided for discussion at a
monthly book club that you can coordinate however best works for your context (in-person
with appropriate social distancing, or online!): www.elcic.ca/livingourfaith. In September 2021,
we will begin a third year of the emphasis with a focus on worship and personal devotions.
Engaged/empowered youth/young adults
Due to COVID-19, the 2020 Canadian Lutheran Anglican Youth (CLAY) gathering was postponed
and rescheduled for 2021. To help bridge the gap a video event was planned and brought
together many groups from across the country and from both the ELCIC and Anglican Church
of Canada on August 22, 2020.
Due to the ongoing uncertainty of the global pandemic, the difficult decision was made for
CLAY 2021 to be hosted as an online event. The event will take place August 20–22, 2021. There
will be three hours of group gathering time each day featuring: worship, workshops, and a large
group gathering with CLAY band, drama team, and keynote speaker Melanie Delva. There will
also be late night spots every day, and activities engaging with the National Youth Project.
Registration will open April 2021. Find out more here: www.claygathering.ca.
I want to end this report as I began — by thanking you for your faithfulness and for your
partnership. 2020 was a challenging year and 2021 has been no different thus far. But we are
people of hope, Christ is with us, and together we will manage the challenges and faithfully live
into the next chapter.

Yours in Christ,

June 4-5, 2021

Page 29 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

Section 3
Officers’ Reports

June 4-5, 2021

Page 30 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

3.1 Synod Chair's Report

Synod Council Chair's Report
Introduction
And let us consider how to stir up one another to love and good works, not neglecting to meet together, as is the
habit of some, but encouraging one another, and all the more as you see the day drawing near. Hebrews 10: 2425
The preceding passage sums up the relationship Synod Council has developed over the past three years. I have
been honoured to chair a group of men and women who have effectively met together to do the work of the
church, with wisdom, dedication, and respect for one another. We, along with Bishop Sid, his ministry team,
and the Synod staff, have mutually shared in our common goals with love and encouragement for each other.
Synod Council Meetings
To say our times of meeting since the 17 th Biennial Convention have been out of the ordinary is an
understatement. In 2019 we met in person for meetings in the Spring and Fall. Most other meetings were
conducted via conference call. Synod committee teams also did much of their work together in person, via
conference call or a combination of both.
Obviously, along with everything else in the world our opportunities to meet in person were turned up-sidedown with the arrival of Covid. As a result, we were forced to meet using the Zoom technology. Among other
things, I discovered the work of Synod Council did not lose any effectiveness. While we missed speaking to one
another face to face, we continued to work together in this new way without missing a beat. I also discovered
God continues to bless us with modern and cutting edge stuff that allows us to continue our work for the
church – not only at a local and provincial level but also for the good of the church in Canada and the world. It
goes without saying, we long for the days we can meet together and, maybe – just maybe – hug one another
once again.
Strategic Plan
Synod Council, with the help of a goal planner, worked hard in re-developing the strategic plan in 2018-19.
Fortunately we were able to do this work before we weren't able to meet in person because of the virus. It
wasn't a major overhaul of the plan but we redefined much of the work we have been doing well, while scaling
back on the areas of the plan where we did not have the resources to keep it working as we needed it to be.
Once again, Covid has put a lot of this work on the back burner for the time being and Synod Council is looking
forward to continuing this important task in the near future.
Closing Remarks
In St. Paul's letter to the church in Rome he writes, “We know that all things work together for good for those
who love God, who are called according to his purpose”.
This sums up, quite nicely, the work of Synod Council since the last convention. Each person involved feels as
though they have been called by God to accomplish the work God has commissioned us to complete. We gather
as a committee because we love God and know, without a doubt, the work we do is for the glory of God. There
is always a purpose in what we do.

June 4-5, 2021
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I close by thanking each member of Synod Council for making my job as council chair as easy as possible. It is
my prayer we will continue to run the race God has called us to undertake and in all that we do, we will
always remember it is God who is up to something in our work together. As a result we can say, with complete
confidence, thanks be to God.
Shalom,
Rev. Doug Schmirler
Good Shepherd Lutheran Church – Melville, Sk.

June 4-5, 2021
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Synod Secretary’s Report
The role of the Synod Secretary is to record the decisions of Synod Council when they meet and
to maintain the various rosters of the Synod. The Roster changes since the 2018 Synod Convention are
reported in the Secretary’s Report in the Officers’ Section of the Bulletin of
Reports while the current Rosters are in their own section of this Bulletin of Reports.
This report lists the dates of the Synod Council meetings [e-vote, virtual (conference call / zoom), inperson] from March 2018 to March 2021. Following the bi-annual in-person (zoom since March 2020)
meetings, notes are prepared and distributed via email and posted on the website link … Synod Council
meeting notes - Saskatchewan Synod (sasksynod.ca)
Synod Council Members:
Position
Bishop
Treasurer
Secretary
Lay

Rostered

Name
Sidney Haugen
Lyndon Carlson
Cheryl Bauer Hyde
Jeff Barber
Merv Bender
Lynda Erlandson
Cindy Hoppe (Vice-Chairperson)
Sean Bell
Liz Kuglin-Alyea
Doug Schmirler (Chairperson)
Ali Tote

Term End
2024
2021
2024
2024
2021
2021
2024
2024
2021
2021
2024

Synod Officers:
The following Officers are elected by the Synod in Convention for terms of six years: Bishop, Treasurer
and Secretary. The Chairperson and Vice-Chairperson Officer positions are elected by Synod Council
following the Convention for terms of three years. For the period 2018 - 2021, Doug Schmirler was
elected as Chairperson, and Cindy Hoppe as Vice-Chairperson.
Synod Council Meetings:
Synod Council meetings are held twice per year, generally in Saskatoon or Regina. Electronic and
conference call meetings augment the minimum of two in-person meetings. Since March 2020, inperson and conference call meetings have been held virtually via Zoom.
March 12, 2018: Conference Call
June 7, 2018: In-person prior to 2018 Convention
September 11 – 13, 2018: E-vote
October 26 – 27, 2018: In-person bi-annual
December 22 – 24, 2018: E-vote
January 16, 2019: Conference Call
March 29 – 30, 2019: In-person bi-annual
May 1 – 3, 2019: E-vote

June 4-5, 2021
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June 25, 2019: Conference Call
October 3 – 5, 2019: In-person bi-annual
October 23 - 25, 2019: E-vote
November 24 – 25, 2019: E-vote
January 28 - 29, 2020: In-person strategic planning
March 27, 2020: Zoom bi-annual
June 15, 2020: Zoom
July 31 – August 3, 2020: E-vote
September 18 – 21, 2020: E-vote
October 23, 2020: Zoom bi-annual
November 23 – 25, 2020: E-vote
February 12, 2021: Zoom bi-annual
March 18 – 20, 2021: E-vote
April 13 – 15, 2021: E-vote
Synod Staff:
Rev. Dr. Sidney Haugen served as Synod Bishop.
The Bishop’s Administrative Team consists of:
- Monica Johnson, Finance Manager
- Anna-Marie Skogsrud, Office Manager
- Judy Parker, Executive Assistant and Convention Manager, 2021 Synod Convention
- Anno Bell, SK Synod editor for the Canada Lutheran
- Kathy Haugen, website and sharepoint support
The Bishop’s Pastoral Team consists of:
- Rev. Jerry Borkowsky, Southern region
- Rev. Dennis Serfas, Northern region
Synod Committees & Affiliated Organizations:
Standing committee structures are defined in the Synod Constitution and Bylaws. The Governance
Committee recommends committee appointments for approval by the Synod
Council. Synod Council committees are defined in policy or through documents of understanding with
affiliated organizations. Synod Council Committee members are appointed
directly by Synod Council while at large appointments are recommended by the Governance
Committee for approval by the Synod Council. The Committee appointment terms that expire in 2021
are as of December 31.
Standing Committees
Candidacy
Lay
Rostered
Rostered
Rostered
Lay
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Lay
Fran Seidler
Bishop or Designate
Dave Solheim
Mission in Ministry
Lay
Anna Jensen
Lay
Darlene Stelmacowich
Rostered
Chad Moir
Lay
Jeff Barber
Rostered
Linda Hall, Chair
Lay
Monica Fraske-Bornyk
Bishop or Designate
Dennis Serfas
Examining (* Western Examining)
Lay
Don Slind
Rostered Diaconal
Joan Cole-Heine
Rostered Ordained
*Jerry Borkowsky
Lay
Carol Baber
Seminary professor
Appt by President
Bishop
Sid Haugen
Lutheran Campus Ministry, Saskatoon
ELCIC
Mark Hedlin, Chair
ELCIC
Sean Bell
ELCIC or a student
Patricia Blakley
ELCIC or a student
Rebecca Hoffman-Schlosser, Secretary
ELCIC or a student
Echo Fettes
Student
Liam Cummins
House Manager
Matthew Doll
Chaplain
George Hind
Bishop or Designate
Sid Haugen (Monica Johnson)

Synod Council Committees
Congregational Constitution Review
SC member
Jeff Barber
SC member
Merv Bender, Chair
At Large
Darlene Stelmacowich
Rostered Ministers Compensation Review
SC Member
Doug Schmirler
SC Member
Lyndon Carlson
SC Member
Sean Bell, Chair
At Large
Bert Ottenson
Bishop
Sid Haugen
Synod Council Review
Vice-Chair
Cindy Hoppe, Chair
Council (non-council person)
Harold Hesje
Officers (SC members)
Merv Bender, Ali Tote
Committees (SC members)
Lyndon Carlson, Lynda Erlandson
Finance & Audit
Treasurer (Chair)
Lyndon Carlson
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SC Member
At Large
At Large
Staff
Bishop
Investment Management
Treasurer
At Large
Bishop or designate
Funding Allocation
SC Member
At Large
SC member
Bishop or delegate
Governance
Secretary, Chair
SC Member
SC Member
Bishop ex-officio
Chair ex-officio
Officers (& Convention)
Bishop Sid Haugen
Chair Doug Schmirler
Vice-Chair Cindy Hoppe
Secretary Cheryl Bauer Hyde
Treasurer Lyndon Carlson

Merv Bender
Ian Hamilton, CA
Joan Meyer
Monica Johnson
Sid Haugen (Judy Parker)
Lyndon Carlson
Darryl James
Sid Haugen (Monica Johnson)
Merv Bender, Chair
Diane Mossing
Tami Halvorson
Sid Haugen (Judy Parker)
Cheryl Bauer Hyde
Merv Bender
Liz Kuglin-Alyea
Sid Haugen
Doug Schmirler

Ministry Teams
Global Mission Companion
Bob Edwards
Monica Johnson
Arlene Thickett
Greg Kiel
Bishop or designate (Ali Tote)
Youth & Young Adult
Emmanuel Aristide
Dominic Hall
Iris Kristjansdottir
Marilla Rackow
Zsofi Schmiedge
Bishop or designate (Sean Bell)
Other Appointed or Elected Affiliated Committees/Boards
LutherCare Communities – Bishop or designate
St Paul Home, Melville – Bishop or designate
Prairie Ctr for Ecumenism – Lay
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Lutheran Theological Seminary
– SK Synod Lay elected representative
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Trent Felstrom
Bert Ottenson
Glenda Hunter-Markquardt
Larry Tehse 2018 - 2020

Respectfully submitted,
Cheryl Bauer Hyde
Synod Secretary

June 4-5, 2021
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Synod Roster Changes
The Rosters of the Synod containing the Roster of Ministers and the Roster of Congregations are listed in
the Rosters Section of this Bulletin of Reports. Listed below are the changes that have been approved by
Synod Council in the Rosters since the 2018 Synod Convention through to February 2021.
ROSTER OF MINISTERS
Received to the Roster of ministers:
Rev. Marja Hordern by Ordination-Call to Dannevirke, Redvers
Rev. Sarah Urano by Ordination– Call to Partners in Worship, Spiritwood/Shell Lake
Rev. Carlton Larsen –by Reinstatement -- Call to St John, Strasbourg/Noronna, Bulyea
Sister Jane Amiotte by Transfer from the Southwestern Pennsylvania Synod, ELCA, Retired
Rev. Jailyn Corbin by Transfer from the Synod of Alberta and the Territories, Call to St. Paul,
Yorkton
Rev. Richard Engel by Transfer from Manitoba-Northwestern Ontario Synod, Call to specialized
ministry (Chaplain, LuMinHos)
Rev. Dr. Marc Jerry by Transfer from Synod of Alberta and the Territories, Call to specialized
ministry (President of Luther College)
Removed from the Roster of ministers:
Dr. Michael Nel by transfer to the British Columbia Synod
Rev. Heike Toeller by transfer to the Eastern Synod
Rev. John Dut by transfer to the Manitoba/Northwestern Ontario Synod
Rev. Randy Meissner by transfer to the Synod of Alberta and the Territories
Rev. Sarah Mowat by transfer to the Synod of Alberta and the Territories
Rev. Peter Walker by transfer to the Synod of Alberta and the Territories
Rev. Brad Wudrich (on contract from UCC) by resignation Partners in Faith, Shell Lake
Rev. Nora Borgesonn (on contract from UCC) by resignation Partners in Faith, Spiritwood
Rev. Karl Shin – (on contract from UCC) by retirement from Christ, Young.
Necrology:
Rev. Gene Grant – September 6, 2020
Rev. Caron Parke – May 14, 2020
Moved within Roster of ministers: Active, On Leave from Call (OLC), Retired
Rev. Cindy Werner–Active to OLC Year 1
Rev. Melissa Brooks – Active to OLC Year 1
Rev. Jeff Tank – Active to OLC Year 1
Rev. Martin Olson – OLC to Retired
Rev. Dennis Fingas – Active to Retired Rev.
Rev. Bill Cantelon – Active to Retired
Rev. Harley Johnson – Active to Retired
Rev. Janet Kostyna –Active to Retired
June 4-5, 2021

Page 38 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

3.3 Synod Roster Changes

Calls to Specialized Ministry Issued by Synod Council:
Rev. Iris Kristjansdottir - LutherCare Communities
Rev. Richard Engel - Chaplain, LuMinHos
Rev. Dr. Marc Jerry - President of Luther College

ROSTER OF CONGREGATIONS:
Removed from the Roster of Congregations:
St. Olaf, Kindersley, following the procedures of the congregational constitution, voted to leave
the ELCIC. Their decision was formally accepted by Synod Council February 2021.
Christ, Marengo, following the procedures of the congregational constitution, voted to leave the
ELCIC. Their decision was formally accepted by Synod Council February 2021.

June 4-5, 2021
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Synod Treasurer's Report
In the three years since our last Saskatchewan Synod convention we have enjoyed balanced
budgets. The unforeseen arrival of COVID-19 in early 2020 resulted in the global pandemic of
the century. And we are still living in its impact every day. First and foremost of its impact is
the loss of lives and the suffering of millions. The responsibility we share is that of protecting
the lives of each other.
Of course every congregation and ministry across our Synod has been significantly challenged
in many ways including financial. It is understandable that Synodical support has been
impacted. That said, financial support to the Synod has remained a priority. Congregational
support to the Synod in 2020 was 80% of that of the year before. It is also noteworthy to
acknowledge the support the Synod received from the Federal Government COVID relief wage
subsidy which largely offset lower congregational benevolence.
Financial Statements
The audited financial statements for the year ended December 31, 2020, prepared by VIRTUS
GROUP Chartered Professional Accountants are included. The statements show the Synod's
financial position and operations results as at December 31, 2020. The 2019 figures are also
included for comparison.
Financial Insights 2020
The financial position of the Synod remained stable over the past three years. Modest operating
surpluses were achieved in each of the years 2018 through 2020. The operating surplus in 2020
was enabled by reduced expenses of 5% or $25,000.
As already noted, COVID-19 impacted congregational benevolence decreasing by $80,000 to
$419,667. The Federal Government COVID wage subsidy was a welcome offset of $57,496.
Looking forward it is believed that congregational benevolence will hold fast in 2021 at $420,000.
The continued efforts of our management and administrative teams have been noteworthy in
managing spending. We are thankful for achieving a balanced budget and maintaining a strong
financial position in 2020.

Respectfully submitted,
Lyndon Carlson, Treasurer

June 4-5, 2021
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The Annual Benevolence Giving over the past 10 years is illustrated in the chart.
The decrease in 2020 is largely due to the impact of the COVID-19.

June 4-5, 2021
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
DECEMBER 31, 2020
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MANAGEMENT'S RESPONSIBILITY FOR
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
The accompanying financial statements of Saskatchewan Synod, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada Inc.
have been prepared by the Synod's management in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit
organizations and necessarily include some amounts based on informed judgement and management estimates.
To assist management in fulfilling its responsibilities, a system of internal controls has been established to provide
reasonable assurance that the financial statements are accurate and reliable and that assets are safeguarded.
The board of directors have reviewed and approved these financial statements.
These financial statements have been examined by the independent auditors, Virtus Group LLP, and their report is
presented separately.

____________________________
Monica Johnson
Finance Manager

June 4-5, 2021
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT
Saskatchewan Synod, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada Inc.
Qualified Opinion
We have audited the financial statements of Saskatchewan Synod, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada Inc.,
which comprise the statement of financial position as at December 31, 2020, and the statements of operations,
changes in fund balances and cash flows for the year then ended, and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies.
In our opinion, except for the effects of the matter described in the Basis for Qualified Opinion section of our report
the accompanying financial statements present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Synod as at
December 31, 2020, and its financial performance and cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations.
Basis for Qualified Opinion
In common with many non-profit organizations, the Synod derives revenues from donations, the completeness of
which is not susceptible to satisfactory audit verification. Accordingly, our verification of revenue was limited to
accounting for amounts recorded in the records of the Synod. As a result, we were not able to determine whether any
adjustments might be necessary in respect of revenues, assets, liabilities or net assets.
We conducted our audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards. Our responsibilities
under those standards are further described in the Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial
Statements section of our report. We are independent of the Synod in accordance with the ethical requirements that
are relevant to our audit of the financial statements in Saskatchewan, and we have fulfilled our other ethical
responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion.
Information Other than the Financial Statements and Auditors' Report Thereon
Management is responsible for the other information. The other information comprises the information included in
the annual report, but does not include the financial statements and our auditors' report thereon. The annual report is
expected to be made available to us after the date of this auditors' report.
Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express any form of
assurance conclusion thereon.
In connection with our audit of the financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other information identified
above when it becomes available and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent
with the financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit, or otherwise appears to be materially misstated.
When we read the annual report, if we conclude that there is a material misstatement therein, we are required to
communicate the matter to those charged with governance.
Responsibilities of Management and Those Charged with Governance for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of the financial statements in accordance with
Canadian accounting standards for not-for-profit organizations, and for such internal control as management
determines is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement,
whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, management is responsible for assessing the Synod’s ability to continue as a
going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going concern basis of
accounting unless management either intends to liquidate the Synod or to cease operations, or has no realistic
alternative but to do so.
Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Synod's financial reporting process.
June 4-5, 2021
SASKATOON
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS' REPORT continued

Auditor's Responsibilities for the Audit of the Financial Statements
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor's report that includes our opinion.
Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with
Canadian generally accepted auditing standards will always detect a material misstatement when it exists.
Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they
could reasonably be expected to influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial
statements.
As part of an audit in accordance with Canadian generally accepted auditing standards, we exercise professional
judgment and maintain professional skepticism throughout the audit. We also:
•

Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or
error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence that is
sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion,
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

•

Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the
Synod's internal control.

•

Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and
related disclosures made by management.

•

Conclude on the appropriateness of management's use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may
cast significant doubt on the Synod's ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor's report to the related disclosures in the
financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our conclusions are based
on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor's report. However, future events or conditions
may cause the Synod to cease to continue as a going concern.

•

Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the financial statements, including the disclosures,
and whether the financial statements represent the underlying transactions and events in a manner that
achieves fair presentation.

•

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and
significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we identify during our
audit.

April 19, 2021
Saskatoon, Saskatchewan
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Page 45 of 187

3.5 2020 Audited Financial Report

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports
SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
AS AT DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for 2019)

Operating
Fund

Assets
Current Assets
Cash and cash equivalents
Other receivables
Prepaid expenses
Investments

$

$
Due (to) from Operating fund
Tangible capital assets (Note 4)
Cash surrender value of life insurance policy

437,218
882
9,898
811,144
1,259,142

Ministry Area
Initiative Fund

-

Capital
Fund

Youth Ministry
Fund

-

-

Church Extension
& Capital Fund

-

Bishop's Discretionary
Endowment Fund

-

Planned Giving
Endowment Fund

-

Legacy
Fund

Aboriginal Ministry
Fund

-

-

Total
2020

$

Total
2019

$

437,218
882
9,898
811,144
1,259,142

$

$

378,405
13,920
8,291
786,808
1,187,424

$

209,870
98,556
308,426

$

(819,312)
(819,312)

(8,359)
(8,359)

184,907
184,907

26,885
26,885

357,632
357,632

121,129
121,129

100,984
100,984

105,980
105,980

216,045
216,045

$

184,907
100,984
285,891

$

439,830

(8,359)

184,907

26,885

357,632

121,129

100,984

105,980

216,045

$

1,545,033

$

1,495,850

Liabilities
Special gifts payable
Other accounts payable

$

-

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

13,917
39,664
53,581

$

$

13,917
39,664
53,581

56,513
19,412
75,925

Deferred revenue (Note 5)

$

79,361

-

-

5,280

-

-

-

-

Total Liabilities

$

132,942

-

-

5,280

-

-

-

-

$

$

267,128
39,760
306,888

12,554
(20,913)
(8,359)

184,907
184,907

21,605
21,605

357,632
357,632

121,129
121,129

100,984
100,984

$

439,830

(8,359)

184,907

26,885

357,632

121,129

100,984

Total Assets
Liabilities and Fund Balances

Fund balances
Unrestricted
Operating Reserve
Internally Restricted (Note 6)
Interest Surplus
Endowment Contributions
Other Fund Balances

Total Liabilities and Fund Balances

$

$

84,641

66,221

$

138,222

$

142,146

$

$

$

217,655
46,375
12,494
23,087
1,054,093
1,353,704

$

1,495,850

105,980
105,980

216,045
216,045

$

267,128
39,760
12,554
(20,913)
1,108,282
1,406,811

105,980

216,045

$

1,545,033

Commitment (Note 12)
Significant event (Note 15)

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
APPROVED BY:
Director

June 4-5, 2021

Director
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN FUND BALANCES - OPERATING FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

Unrestricted
Fund balances - beginning of year

$

Excess of revenue over expenses for the year
Purchase/disposal of tangible capital assets
Transfer (to) from the Capital fund
Transfer (to) from CECF Fund
Transfer (to) from Ministry Area Initiative Fund
Transfer (to) from BDF
Transfer (to) from Youth Fund
Transfer (to) from Legacy Fund
Transfer (to) from Aboriginal Ministry Fund
Fund balances - end of year

217,655

Operating
Reserve
$

38,950
(710)
11,233
$

267,128

-

Internally
Restricted
$

$

-

46,375

Total
2020
$

(6,615)
$

39,760

264,030

Total
2019
$

32,335
(710)
11,233
$

306,888

362,851
40,100
24,112
(62,026)
(1,007)
(100,000)
-

$

264,030

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS - OPERATING FUND
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)
2020

2019

Revenue
Donations and bequests
General congregational support
Interest

$

18,049
419,667
852

$

33,397
499,667
1,784

$

438,568

$

534,848

$

10,000
3,000
9,544
1,541

$

10,000
3,718
9,514
1,601

Expenses
Campus ministry (Note 3)
Church and society
Communications
Dean's meetings
Examinations committee
General congregational support to Evangelical Lutheran
Church in Canada Inc. (Note 3)
Office and administration
Other
Global Mission committee
Saskatchewan Synod Mission committee
Synod Council
Meetings
Programs
Theological education and leadership (Note 3)

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses before the following

99,933
267,173
626
831
2,354

2,703
39
64,786

6,762
3,779
90,920

$

472,467

$

497,211

$

(33,899)

$

37,637

Government COVID relief wage subsidies (Note 14)
Change in unrealized gain/(loss) on investments
Gain (loss) on sale of tangible capital assets
Rostered Ministers' study conference (Note 8)
Conventions (Note 9)
Excess of revenue over expenses for the year

83,933
295,956
965

78,240
(973)
(11,133)
100
$

32,335

10,767
(5,293)
(3,011)
$

40,100

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
STATEMENT OF OPERATIONS AND CHANGES IN OTHER FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)
Ministry Area
Initiative Fund
Interest
Surplus
Contributions
Revenue
Change in unrealized gain/(loss) on investments
Increase (decrease) in CSV of investment
Youth Ministry registrations
Donations and bequests (Note 7)
Allocation received for Canadian Missions (Note 11)
CECF Synod Mission Initiatives (Note 11)

$

$
Expenses
Amortization
Bishop's discretionary expenses (Note 7)
Grants awarded
New mission opportunities
Assistant to the bishop
Special initiatives
Youth Ministry CLAY
Youth Ministry committee
Youth Ministry retreat

$

$

60
60
-

Capital
Fund

Youth Ministry Bishop's Discretionary
Fund
Endowment Fund

-

-

502
502

44,000
44,000

14,440
14,440

(44,000)

(14,440)

502

-

(10,523)

-

-

Church Extension &
Planned Giving
Capital Fund
Endowment Fund
Mission & Ministry Special Initiatives
Fund
Fund

Legacy
Fund

Aboriginal Ministry
Fund

Total
2020

Total
2019

2,631
260
2,891

10,398
156,912
167,310

-

2,428
2,428

2,276
2,276

4,481 $
4,481 $

20,348
2,428
260
156,912
179,948

$

-

42,900
42,900

42,014
5,822
47,836

-

-

$
10,000
10,000 $

14,440
96,900
42,014
5,822
159,176

$

23,510
5,850
28,440
1,500
40,528
11,065
110,893

2,891

124,410

(47,836)

2,428

2,276

(5,519) $

20,772

$

18,743

-

-

-

(10,523)

$

138,921
932,010

$
$

25,857
15,281
88,498
129,636

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
for the year

$

Transfers between funds

$

-

Fund balance - beginning of year

$

12,494

23,087

209,870

21,103

118,238

205,105

75,953

98,556

103,704

221,564

$

1,089,674

$

Fund balance - end of year

$

12,554

(20,913)

184,907

21,605

121,129

329,515

28,117

100,984

105,980

216,045

$

1,099,923

$ 1,089,674

60

-

-

-

$

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)
2020

2019

Cash provided by (used in) operating activities:
Excess (deficiency) of revenue over expenses
Items not affecting cash
Amortization
Unrealized losses (gains) on investments
Donation of investment shares received
Loss (gain) on sale of tangible capital assets

$

Net change in non-cash working capital balances
Accounts receivable
Prepaid expenses
Accounts payable
Deferred revenue

Cash provided by (used in) investing activities:
Sale of investments
Purchase of investments
Purchase of tangible capital assets
Proceeds on sale of tangible capital assets

Increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents
Cash position - beginning of year
Cash position - end of year

$

53,107

$

58,843

14,440
(21,803)
(4,961)
11,133

23,510
(51,905)

51,916

30,448

13,038
(1,607)
(22,344)
18,420

(3,592)
(2,496)
(6,651)
(16,270)

7,507

(29,009)

59,423

1,439

-

(710)
100

(100,000)
-

(610)

(100,000)

58,813

(98,561)

378,405

476,966

437,218

$

378,405

See accompanying notes to the financial statements.

June 4-5, 2021

Page 50 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

3.5 2020 Audited Financial Report

SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

1.

Nature of operations
Saskatchewan Synod, Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada Inc. (the "Synod") was incorporated under
The Non-Profit Corporations Act in the province of Saskatchewan. As the regional expression of the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, the Synod's intent is to facilitate and advance the mission of the
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada within its territory by shepherding its congregations and ordained
ministers, and by engaging in other forms of ministry which proclaim God's Word and serve to bring
reconciliation to the world.
The Synod is a registered charity under the Income Tax Act and is non-taxable.

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies
The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with Canadian accounting standards for not-forprofit organizations which required management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the reported
amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the financial
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and expenses during the period. These estimates are reviewed
periodically, and, as adjustments become necessary, they are reported in earnings in the period in which they
become known. The financial statements reflect the following policies:
Fund accounting
The Synod uses fund accounting as the basis for reporting its financial activities. The purpose and operation of
each fund is described below:
Operating Fund
The Operating Fund is used to account for the general activities of the Synod. These general activities are
complemented by the activities of the Capital Fund.
Tangible capital assets acquired with Operating Fund resources and payments on any Capital Fund loans are
recorded as a decrease in the Operating Fund balance.
Any externally restricted funding is recorded as deferred revenue until the specified expenditures are
incurred. In 2000, the operating surplus was set aside in a reserve as approved by Synod Council. The
internally restricted fund balance represents amounts that have been selected by Council or donors for
intended purposes.
Ministry Area Initiative Fund
During 1989, the Synod established a Rural Internship Endowment Fund. Only future investment income of
the fund was to be used for training of interns in rural areas. In 2016, the Synod Council approved the
repurposing of the Rural Internship Endowment Fund into the Ministry Area Initiative Fund.

June 4-5, 2021

Page 51 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

3.5 2020 Audited Financial Report

SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Capital Fund
The Capital Fund records the Synod's tangible capital assets and any related debts.
Tangible capital assets are recorded at cost in the period purchased, along with any related debt incurred to
purchase the assets. Any amount paid by the Operating Fund on acquisition of assets, or as repayment of
Capital Fund loans, is recorded as an increase in the Capital Fund balance.
Amortization is calculated using the straight-line method at the following annual rates:
Automobiles
Building
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

6 years
40 years
3 years
5 years
5 years

Youth Ministry Fund
During 1994, net proceeds on sale of Luther Lodge were allocated with the specified purpose to be used in
youth ministry as determined by the Synod Council.
Aboriginal Ministry Fund
In 2014, the Synod received funds designated for ministry to Aboriginals in Southern Saskatchewan. In
2015, Synod Council established criteria for the use of these funds by organizations for ministry to
Aboriginals.
Church Extension and Capital Fund
During 1997, the Synod established a Church Extension and Capital Fund. Income for the fund is derived
from allocations from the National Church Extension and Capital Fund governed by the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada Inc. The Mission and Ministry fund is only available for disbursement upon the
approval of the Synod Canadian Mission in Ministry Committee. The Special Initiatives fund is available for
disbursement under the authority of the Bishop.
Bishop's Discretionary Endowment Fund
This fund, created in 2005, includes contributions received from individuals and interest and gains on
investments over the last ten years. The fund was released to the control of Synod Council in November
2015. Synod Council has approved the following purpose for these funds: the funds are to be available for
Synod Ministries, non-budgeted expenditures and to assist Rostered Ministries at the Bishop's discretion (not
to exceed $10,000 in a fiscal year).
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Planned Giving Endowment Fund
This fund, created in 2005, accounts for contributions received from individuals where the principal
endowment funds are invested and income is available for purposes determined by the donor.
Legacy Fund
In 2018, the Synod received funds that could be used at the discretion of the Council. In 2019, Synod
Council established the Legacy Fund and Council is currently establishing criteria for the use of these funds
by organizations of the ministry of the province to support the Bishop's assistants.
Financial instruments
Financial assets and financial liabilities are recorded on the statement of financial position when the Synod
becomes party to the contractual provisions of the financial instrument. The Synod initially measures its
financial assets and financial liabilities at fair value, except for certain related party transactions that are
measured at the carrying amount or exchange amount, as appropriate.
The Synod subsequently measures all its financial assets and financial liabilities at cost or amortized cost,
except for investments in equity instruments that are quoted in an active market, which are measured at fair
value. Changes in fair value of these financial instruments are recognized in excess (deficiency) of revenue over
expenses. Fair value is the amount at which a financial instrument could be exchanged at arm’s length between
willing, unrelated parties in an open market.
The Synod's recognized financial instruments include cash and cash equivalents, investments, other receivables,
special gifts payable and other accounts payable.
Revenue recognition
The Synod follows the deferral method of accounting for contributions. Restricted contributions are recognized
as revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred. Unrestricted contributions are recognized as
revenue of the appropriate fund when received or receivable if the amount to be received can be reasonably
estimated and collection is reasonably assured.
Investment income includes dividend and interest income, and realized investment gains and losses. Unrealized
gains and losses on held-for-trading financial assets are recognized in the statement of operations.
Conference and convention fees are recognized as revenue of the Operating Fund when the events are held.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

2.

Summary of significant accounting policies (continued)
Revenue recognition (continued)
The Synod recognizes subsidies and grants received from various government programs as revenue in the period
earned after all necessary applications have been completed and collection is reasonably assured. If the grant or
subsidy arose as a result of incurring certain expenses, the corresponding grant or subsidy revenue will be
reported in the same period as the expenses. These amounts may be subject to review by Canada Revenue
Agency or other government agencies. Any differences between the amounts recorded in the financial
statements and the amounts received will be recognized in income in the period in which new information
becomes known.

3.

Associated and affiliated organizations
The Synod has a number of other organizations with which it is associated and affiliated. These organizations,
the nature of their relationships and information as to financial arrangements are as follows:
i) Member congregations
Congregations become members of the Synod and the church by accepting the church's profession of faith,
constitution, by-laws and responsibility for carrying out the purposes of the church.
ii) Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada Inc.
As a regional expression of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada Inc., the Synod remits a portion of
its income to fund the work of the larger church. During 2020, $83,933 (2019 - $99,933) was paid to the
church's national office with respect to this commitment.
iii) Educational organizations
A portion of the church's work is carried on through educational organizations associated with the church.
The Synod contributed the following grants to these organizations and has recorded the grants as expenses of
the Operating Fund:

Lutheran Theological Seminary
Lutheran Campus Ministry, Saskatoon

2020

2019

$64,786

$82,620

10,000

10,000

iv) Health care organizations
The church carries on a portion of its work in the health care field through health care organizations
associated with the church. These organizations are financially independent from the Synod. The three
organizations affiliated with the Synod are LutherCare Communities of Saskatoon, Saskatchewan,
LuMinHoS of Saskatoon Saskatchewan and St. Paul Lutheran Home of Melville, Saskatchewan.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

4.

Tangible capital assets
Cost
Automobiles
Lutheran Student Centre
Land
Building
Computer equipment
Furniture and fixtures
Leasehold improvements

$

$

36,850
243,684
21,819
22,892
$

5.

41,753

2020
Accumulated
Amortization

366,998

17,400

Net Book
Value
$

120,754
21,819
22,118
$

182,091

2019
Net Book
Value

24,353

$

36,850
122,930
774
$

184,907

31,311
36,850
129,022
473
981
11,233

$

209,870

Deferred revenue
Deferred revenue is made up of the following externally restricted contributions and will be recognized as
revenue in the year in which the related expenses are incurred.
2020
Operating Fund
CTEL - Seminary Student Support/First Call Program
Compassionate Justice Project
Ministry Area Initiative Fund
Companion Synod
Stewardship Consultant
Campus Ministry
Canadian Missions Fund
Regina Hospital Chaplaincy Network

$

Youth Ministry Fund
Youth Committee

$

5,280
$

June 4-5, 2021

38,515
6,070
2,930
5,812
1,895
57
12,910
11,172

2019

84,641

38,337
2,930
10,812
1,895
57
6,910
5,280

$

66,221
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

6.

Internally restricted fund balance - Operating Fund
The following funds are not subject to external restrictions, but have been segregated by Synod Council to be
used for designated purposes:
2020
2019
Campus Ministry
Congregational Lay Assistant
Bishop's discretionary

7.

$

37,434
1,364
962

$

44,049
1,364
962

$

39,760

$

46,375

Bishop's discretionary
2020
Donations
Direct expenses

$

260

$

(5,850)

260

$

(5,850)

$

8.

2019

Rostered Ministers' study conference
The Synod holds an annual study conference. The conference was cancelled in 2020 due to the global pandemic.
2020
2019

9.

Conference receipts
Direct expenses

$

-

$

10,605
(15,898)

Net conference income

$

-

$

(5,293)

Conventions
Conventions are held by the national ELCIC and provincial Synod every three years. There was no convention
in 2020.
2020
2019
(None)
(National)
Convention receipts
Direct expenses

$

Net convention income

$
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100

$

27,332
(30,343)

100

$

(3,011)

-
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

10. Other collections
The following is a summary of the special gift donations that were received by the Synod and disbursed to the
respective missions or appeals:
2020
2019
Canadian Lutheran World Relief
World Missions
Canadian Foodgrains Bank
Saskatoon Campus Ministry
Hospital Chaplaincy - Regina
LUMINHOS Care Society - Saskatoon
Seminary student sponsorship
ELCIC Praise Appeal
Canadian Missions
Kinasao Bible Camp
Lutheran Association of
Missionaries and Pilots
Lutheran Theological Seminary
Luther College
Canadian Lutheran Bible
Institute
Canadian Bible Society
Lutheran Collegiate Bible Institute
LutherCare Communities
Others

$

52,450
4,295
963
3,742
4,863
8,665
178
1,110
970
825

$

40
6,656
273

10,284
1,021

173
50
683
100
190
$

86,226

70,682
9,471
360
3,964
5,695
7,113
3,205
1,979
1,515
1,025

779
2,055
100
1,185
$

120,433

11. Church Extension and Capital Fund - Synod Mission initiatives
Between 2015 and 2019, the Synod received $300,000 for the special initiative fund. The funds are to be used
for activities that are experimental in spirit and genuinely seek to explore what it means to participate in God's
mission in the world today. The Saskatchewan Synod is formulating plans to develop area ministries and to
work with the Lutheran Theological Seminary to establish a Lay Leadership program. Originally, any funds not
used by June 30, 2018 were to be returned to CECF National Fund; however, the funding has been extended to
2021.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, EVANGELICAL LUTHERAN
CHURCH IN CANADA INC.
NOTES TO THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

12. Commitment
The Synod leases premises under an agreement requiring aggregate minimum payments over the next five years
as follows:
2021
2022
2023
2024
2025

$

24,440
24,440
24,440
24,440
16,293

13. Financial risk management
The Synod has a comprehensive risk management framework to monitor, evaluate and manage the principal
risks assumed with financial instruments. The significant financial risks to which the Synod is exposed are:
Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by
failing to discharge an obligation. The Synod is exposed to credit risk on the accounts receivable from its
customers, however, does not have a significant exposure to any individual customer or counterpart.
Interest rate risk
Interest rate risk is the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate
because of changes in market interest rates. The Synod's exposure to interest rate risk is limited to the
investments. The interest rates on these investments are fixed and therefore, do not expose the Synod to
additional risk.

14. Government grants and subsidies
During the year, the Synod received the following government grant subsidies:
Canada Emergency Wage Subsidy (CEWS) and the Temporary Wage Subsidy (TWS) totalling $78,240 was
recognized as revenue with respect to qualifying wages within the year. This subsidy is not expected to be
repaid.

15. Significant event
On March 11, 2020, the World Health Organization declared a global pandemic for the COVID-19 virus. The
Synod is following health advisories and mandatory requirements from local, provincial and national health and
government organizations. The long-term financial impact on the Synod is unknown, but may be significant.
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SCHEDULE OF REVENUES, EXPENSES AND FUND BALANCES
FOR THE YEAR ENDED DECEMBER 31, 2020
(with comparative figures for the year ended December 31, 2019)

Ministry Area
Operating
Initiative
Fund
Fund

Capital
Fund

Revenue

$

504,802

60

Expenses

$

472,467

44,000

14,440

Excess (deficiency) of revenue over
expenses for the year

$

32,335

(43,940)

Transfers between funds

$

10,523

Fund balance - beginning of year

$

Fund balance - end of year

$
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-

Youth
Ministry
Fund
502

Church
Bishops
Planned
Extension Discretionary
Giving
and Capital Endowment Endowment
Fund
Fund
Fund

Legacy
Fund

Aboriginal
Ministry
Fund

Total
2020

Total
2019

167,310

2,891

2,428

2,276

4,481

$

684,750

$

666,947

-

90,736

-

-

-

10,000

$

631,643

$

608,104

(14,440)

502

76,574

2,891

2,428

2,276

(5,519) $

53,107

$

58,843

-

(10,523)

-

-

-

-

-

-

$

-

264,030

35,581

209,870

21,103

281,058

118,238

98,556

103,704

221,564

$ 1,353,704

$

1,294,861

306,888

(8,359)

184,907

21,605

357,632

121,129

100,984

105,980

216,045

$ 1,406,811

$

1,353,704

-

$
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4.1 Summary of 2018 Convention Motions

Summary of 2018 Synod Convention Motions
– referred to Synod Council
Constitution Amendments – Second reading of Constitution at 2021 convention.
Synod Action: Second reading of the Constitution will take place at this Convention.
Lay Ministry - encouragement to accelerating the discussion to provide sacraments especially as it
relates to rural congregations who are unable to attract / afford a rostered minister and consequently
are suffering without delivery of the sacraments at their worship services.
Synod Action: Work is ongoing through the National Church and included encouragement to
provide sacraments especially in rural congregations.
SCC-18-20 Moved by Rev. John Mayer Dut; Seconded by Rev. Ron Bestvater - That thanks, appreciation,
and gratitude be extended to ELCIC, Government of Canada and people for prayers and pressure to
South Sudan leaders to accept Peace, this saves and rescues innocent lives; and
That we continue our prayers in Saskatchewan Synod and across Canada to pray that Almighty God
bring Full Peace to South Sudan people; and
That we encourage those who wish to support humanitarian assistance to the South Sudan people to
channel financial contributions through CLWR. Carried
Synod Action: Communicated to the National Church and Synod congregations through the
Convention Minutes. Synod congregations encouraged to pray for peace and to provide
financial support through CLWR’s work in Uganda to assist people in South Sudan.
St. Paul Lutheran Home (Melville): MSC that Synod Council be authorized to work with the Board of St.
Paul Lutheran Home – Melville, to explore viable options and approve a final decision, to be reported to
the Synod.
Synod Action: St. Paul Lutheran Home Board adopted the Saskatchewan Health Authority (SHA)
model – Patient & Family Centered Care.

.
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4.2 Synod Strategic Plan

ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod Strategic Plan 2020 - 2025

Mission

Vision

To use our
God-given gifts
to make a
difference in the
world

Creatively
transforming
how to be church

Strategic Priorities
Expand Leadership
Capacity
Courageous Innovation

Values
Word alone,
Grace alone,
Faith alone
We depend on God's
action to live out
our faith.
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Roots in tradition,
Life in the Spirit
We value where we have
come from and trust the
spirit to lead us where we
need to be.

Word and sacrament
are central to worship
and our life together

Cooperative
relationships toward
common goals

God's gracious love
moves us to respond
together in thanksgiving
and praise.

God calls us to work
together with our
neighbours for the
good of all.
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Saskatchewan Synod - ELCIC

2021 Budget

Operating
Fund
Revenue
General congregational support
Donations and bequests
Convention Levies
Synod Convention - registrations
Synod Convention - offering
Study Conference - registrations
CLAY - registrations
Miscellaneous Income
Regional Gathering
Internship Initiative Funding
CECF Allocation
Total Revenue

Operating
Restricted

Legacy
Fund

MAIF

Youth
Fund

Capital
Fund

SIF

52,500.00

492,250.00

-

-

-

-

10,000.00

-

-

-

Excess (Deficiency)

(61,004.00)

(10,000.00)

-

-

500.00
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CECF
MMF

-

-

86,907.00
86,907.00

-

20,000.00

-

27,500.00

-

(5,000.00)

-

59,407.00 (27,000.00)

(43,597.00)

200.00

1,100.00

10,000.00

3,300.00

1,000.00

(10,000.00)
38,798.00

1,000.00
105,980.00

500.00
(8,359.00)

200.00
25,945.00

(3,900.00)
121,129.00

2,100.00

2,100.00
216,045.00

1,800.00

61,207.00 (27,000.00)
329,515.00
28,116.00

122,107
690,607

-

60,000.00

27,000.00

156,911.84
649,199.72

-

10,000.00
10,000.00
52,804.00
700.00

5,000.00

57,596.40

83,933.32
201,929.15
7,962.51
42,833.16
19,102.50
9,544.00
42,013.90
-

34,750.00

Budget 2020

500,000
5,000
11,000
52,500
-

80,000
215,000
15,000
40,000
14,000
10,000
47,000
5,000
34,750
10,000
10,000
52,804
700
7,500
60,000
10,000
3,000
8,000
622,754.00

27,000.00

7,500.00

419,666.62
14,924.86
100.00

-

5,000.00

-

Total 2020

86,907
579,157

80,000.00
215,000.00
15,000.00
40,000.00
14,000.00
10,000.00

(57,704.00)
258,865.00

Budget 2021

400,000
5,000
34,750
52,500
-

3,000.00
8,000.00
553,254.00

Fund Transfers
Net Change in Fund Balance
Net Asset Balance at January 1, 2021
* PCE $2,000
* LuMinHos $1,000
* M. Patzwold PCE comm exp

Aboriginal
Ministry

400,000.00
5,000.00
34,750.00

Expenditures
Benevolence to National Church
Salaries and Benefits
Bishop Travel
Office and Administration
Accounting and Audit
Communications (Canada Lutheran)
Assistants to the Bishop - salary
Bishop's discretionary - expenses
Synod Convention - expenses
National Convention - expenses
Study Conference - expenses
Candidacy Committee/Scholarships
Council and Committees
Youth Ministry - CLAY
Youth Ministry - Committee
Youth Ministry - Retreat
Grants Awarded
Lutheran Theological Seminary
Lutheran Campus Ministry
Church and Society *
Other / Contingency
Total Expenditures

Non-cash Revenue
Interest and Investment Gain (Loss)
Non-cash Expenses
Asset Amortization

Bishop's
Fund

Actual 2019

499,666.93
31,723.75
27,332.19

Budget 2019

1,675.00

510,000
8,000
30,500
10,000
-

88,497.54
659,500.41

78,000
636,500

10,605.00

99,933.39
202,912.06
15,187.24
33,967.70
15,106.00
9,514.00
40,528.11
5,850.00

96,900.00
62,949.99
10,000.00
3,000.00
593,073.27

100,000
210,000
20,000
40,000
10,000
10,000
42,000
5,000
15,210
15,000
11,000
52,804
700
73,000
75,000
10,000
4,000
10,000
703,714.00

41,004.71
74,950.03
10,000.00
3,717.87
626.16
630,835.28

102,000
265,500
20,000
45,000
10,000
11,000
40,500
1,000
30,500
10,000
1,500
10,500
500
9,500
76,500
10,000
4,000
10,200
658,200.00

56,126.45

(13,107.00)

28,665.13

(21,700.00)

3,376.60
9,528.14

30,342.94
15,898.22
17,571.52
13,725.33

10,000

21,522.48

10,000

38,406.80

2,000

(13,400.00)

(13,400)

(25,673.19)

(25,500)

(23,510.28)

(17,500)

(13,400.00)
195,430.00

(46,997)

51,975.74

(28,607)

43,561.65

(37,200)
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Compensation Committee Report to Synod Convention 2021
Hello,
Since the last convention the compensation committee met under the mandate to review the
annual salary adjustments of ELCIC Rostered Ministers serving in Saskatchewan.
Broadly speaking there have been many changes in terms of the letters of call and employment
contracts of Rostered leaders. Changes were also made to benefits. All of these changes come
from Group Services and NCC and are outside the mandate and control of this committee.
This Committee looked at the Rostered Ministers salary minimum guidelines and for the first
time entered into a multi-year plan to allow churches to see the changes coming years in
advance. This strategy was well received and similar plans will be put into place for the years to
come so churches can have 3 years notice of the salary guidelines.
Respectfully Submitted:
Rev. Sean Bell

June 4-5, 2021
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Funding Allocation Committee
Report to Synod Convention June 2021
On behalf of the Funding Allocation committee, I am pleased to provide this report to Synod convention.
The committee is comprised of three members: Merv Bender, Chair, Tami Halverson and Diane Mossing,
and Judy Parker and Monica Johnson as administrative supports.
As outlined in the Funding allocation committee relationship document, the committee has the
following responsibilities.
The Funding Allocation Committee shall:


Recommend criteria to Synod Council for the allocation of designated funds to approved
applicants



Develop applications and reporting requirements for applicants to use when applying for project
funding from designated synod accounts



Promote awareness throughout the synod of designated synod accounts available for project
funding



Receive, review and recommendation applications to Synod Council for project funding
according to the criteria approved for designated synod accounts



Receive and monitor reports related to the approved funding applications.



The primary contact for stewardship initiatives on behalf of Synod Council.

The committee meets as applications for funding are received and are reviewed, usually meeting via
email. We have had only email meetings since covid began.
Some of the funding allocations included grants to Souls harbour, Carmichael Outreach, Fort Qu’Appelle
Community Outreach and North Battleford Transitional Living program. Good shepherd in Saskatoon
also received funding support under the Area Ministry funding stream.
I want to thank all the committee members for their hard work and dedication to this committee. I also
want to thank Judy and Monica for their administrative support and guidance.
Merv Bender, Chair
Funding Allocation committee

June 4-5, 2021
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Governance Committee
The Synod Council Governance Committee is responsible for:

• Reviewing and recommending to Synod Council amendments to the Synod Constitution
and Bylaws for approval at the Synod Convention.
• Reviewing and recommending to Synod Council amendments to the Synod policies.
• Facilitating:
o Appointments to Synod boards, committees and affiliated organizations;
o The nomination and appointment process for delegates to the National ELCIC Convention;
o The nomination of candidates to Synod Council and LTS Board; and
o The orientation of new Synod Council members.
The committee oversees scheduled reviews of the Governance Manual. In addition, Synod committee
and board appointments were made as outlined in the Synod Secretary’s report.
The committee facilitated a full slate of Sask Synod delegates to the 2019 National Convention.
If you are willing to assist your Synod by serving on a Committee/Board, please contact the Synod Office
so that your name can be forwarded to the Governance Committee for
consideration.
Governance Committee
Cheryl Bauer Hyde, Chair
Merv Bender
Liz Kuglin-Alyea
Bishop Sid Haugen – Ex Officio
Doug Schmirler – Ex Officio
Judy Parker - Staff

June 4-5, 2021
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Constitution Review Committee
Report to Synod Convention June 2021
The committee is comprised of three members: Merv Bender, Darlene Stelmacowich and Jeff Barber.
The committee responsibilities are, in cooperation with synod Council:





Receive requests from congregations to review their congregational constitution;
Consult with congregations regarding any changes the congregation wishes to make;
Approve or recommend to Synod Council approval of amendments to congregational
constitutions and communicate the decision to the congregation.

The committee continues to review constitutions via email and Judy assists us in tabulating these
reviews and coordinating communications with the congregations involved. Since the last convention,
we have received 18congregational constitutions to review.
I want to thank the committee members Darlene and Jeff for their tremendous insight and expertise in
doing the work of this committee. Their dedication is truly appreciated. I also want to thank Judy Parker
for assisting the committee in tracking correspondence with congregations and reviews are being
conducted. This support is greatly appreciated.

Merv Bender
Constitution review committee

June 4-5, 2021
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD´S CANDIDACY COMMITTEE
The Candidacy Committee (CCOM) is responsible for determining the readiness of individuals who wish
to enter the candidacy process and begin theological education, for endorsing candidates for a specific
roster of the church and forwarding a final evaluation of each candidate’s qualifications and readiness for
the ministry to the Synod for the use of the Examining Committee.
At the time of this report (spring 2021) the members of CCOM are:
Rev. Iris Kristjansdottir, chair
Rev. Dr. Lois Knudson Munholland
Lynda Erlandson, vice-chair
Rev. Dr. William Harrison (LTS representative)
Dave Solheim (Synod representative)
Fran Seidler, secretary
Rev. Melissa Brooks
Since the last Synod Convention, Heidi Hesselink, Deacon Eldon Danielson and Keith Bratvold have left
the committee. Rev. Lori James stepped down as the Synod’s representative. We thank all of them for
their dedication and service to the committee and the synod.
CCOM usually met twice a year, once in late spring and again in September. As a result of changes in the
course of delivery at LTS and an interest in more direct, face-to-face meeting with candidates, the
committee was in the process of reviewing the timing of the meetings when the pandemic hit. We now
meet more frequently in Zoom meetings, and of course we are only able to meet with the candidates in
the same manner. In the year 2020 the committee met six times. All of the meetings were virtual. The
number of candidates has decreased but it seems that the volume of business is still the same.
The CCOM process for candidates is as follows:
 A potential candidate completes a registration package and submits it to Synod Office
 A structured interview with a Synod delegated interviewer is then arranged by CCOM
 A psychological evaluation is arranged and completed
 Based on the information gathered in the above steps and the results of the first interview with
CCOM representatives, a decision is made by CCOM regarding initial endorsement
 The candidates receive an annual review and endorsement for continued study and an
internship endorsement as they work toward internship. The endorsements are based upon
written materials provided by the candidates themselves, evaluations provided by contextual
education supervisors, clinical pastoral education supervisors, and internship supervisors, as
well as interviews with CCOM, and input from the seminary.
 At the end of the process, CCOM makes a decision on recommendation to the examining
committee.
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Near the beginning of the process, each student is assigned a relator, a member of CCOM, to act as a
liaison between the committee and the student, helping the student to understand endorsement
decisions and answer related questions.
At this time (spring of 2021), CCOM is working with the following:
 five (5) candidates working toward pastoral ordination (M Div)
 one (1) candidate working toward diaconal certificate, graduation, diaconal ordination
 one (1) candidate working toward diaconal certificate, graduation
We would like to thank those of you who have supported the Synod Seminary Student Aid Fund. These
funds are very important as they are awarded to candidates and are helpful in defraying some of the
many costs that come along with education toward ministry.
In addition to working with candidates, CCOM:
 continues to seek out ways to identify potential candidates.
 continues to work with the revised Candidacy Manual of the ELCIC and revise the processes and
documents related to these changes.
 is in the process of updating all documents and processes related to CCOM to clarify
responsibilities, improve communication, and better serve the candidates (see more below)
 continues to work with the Program Committee for Leadership for Ministry (PCLM) of the ELCIC
The committee has started to use the Synod‘s Sharepoint website that has been designated for CCOM. It
makes our work much easier and allows us to check on our candidates and their enducational process
virtually. This is of course even more important now that we have not been meeting in person with the
files at hand. Kathy Haugen has done a great job in preparing the site for the Synod, and also Anna-Marie
Skogsrud at the Synod‘s office by scanning the files of every candidate and uploading them on the
website.
It is the responsibility of the whole church to identify, support, encourage and pray for potential leaders
for ministry. Your continued prayers and support for all our candidates for ministry and our discernment
process are encouraged.
Yours in Christ,
Respectfully Submitted by Iris Kristjansdottir, Chair SK CCOM

June 4-5, 2021
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WESTERN EXAMINATION COMMITTEE REPORT
This committee is composed of the following people:





Mary Hanson (BC)
Deacon Karen Wedman (ABT)
Rev. Jerry Borkowsky (SASK)
Duane Kelln (MNO)

In addition, there is always a representative from our Seminary in Saskatoon. We also have a Bishop
present, who will be from the synod, which is the home synod of the candidate.
We meet as the Western Examination Committee because we usually have a small number of
candidates from each synod. In this way we are a larger group, and it means we can examine all the
candidates at one time.
Our task is to review the information we have received on each candidate. This information is received
with the permission of the candidate. Our responsibility is to make sure that each candidate is prepared
for ministry and that they can be ordained upon receiving a call.
The committee takes this responsibility very seriously. We are aware that we can have a huge impact on
each of the candidates. We want them to be the best that they can be. If we feel that, upon
examination they are ready to be ordained we will recommend them for call.
There have been times that we may recommend additional work for the candidate, so that an area of
concern may be addressed. It should also be noted that if we feel that this may not be the best use of
their gifts, we can also postpone their endorsement and encourage them to do some additional
reflection and career counselling. They can always re apply for ordination.
I have served on this committee for two consecutive terms, and I can say that in most cases we have
always been impressed with their work, faith and preparation for ministry.
It has been my privilege to serve on this committee as the committee chair and I am thankful to the
people who have been on this committee with me. This has always been a good working committee and
I am sure whoever serves on this committee as our representative will enjoy the work and task that they
will be asked to do.

In God’s service
Rev. Jerry Borkowsky
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Mission in Ministry Committee Report
I can do all things through him who strengthens me.
Philippians 4:13
BUILD leadership capacity

OPERATE as one team

PRACTICE love and service

The past three years has been a journey of feeling more comfortable in our name change to the Mission in
Ministry Committee. It has been wonderful to see that come to life in the discussions around the table, via
conference call and zoom as we sought out the mission and outreach focus of the applications that came to the
committee. Whether the application was funded or not, we were delighted to receive your applications and in
all of them, we could find seeds of God’s presence being planted in congregations and communities. Give
thanks that it is God that brings the growth, so keep planting seeds.
As we considered applications the discussion would often come around to the out-dated and somewhat
inappropriate criteria for application approval. It turned out we were not alone in our concern. In each of the
other Synods, there was also discussion taking place on this very same topic. As a result of these conversations
and some recommendations made to the CECF Advisory Board, the criteria have been changed to more closely
fit with this time in the church. Projects are to be experimental and exploratory. They seek to address a
challenge the church or your community is facing in your context as it relates to the mission of the church. They
are to seek the development of relationships and partnerships in the local context, and most importantly
encourage participation in God’s mission, what God is already up to, in your communities. The possibilities are
much broader and the encouragement to ‘give it a try’ is built into the process. I pray your eyes are open to the
possibilities and your imagination is sparked with many new ideas.
We are delighted to report the following projects were supported in the last three years :
Funding for youth to attend the 2020 CLAY Gathering in Calgary
This was a targeted initiative of the Mission in Ministry Committee. We sought to reach out to include not
only churches and their programs and projects in the community. We saw the faith development of the
youth of our church as a fundamental piece of God’s mission for the life of the church. St. Olaf Lutheran,
Swift Current; St. John’s Lutheran, Shellbrook; Saskatoon Joint Youth Project were all recipients of a grant
to support their trip to CLAY. We received three very joy-filled and extensive reports of what the gathering
meant to the youth that attended. It was clear the experience had an impact on their lives.
Joint Ecumenical Internship with Southwest Lutheran Parish and St. Stephen’s Anglican, Swift Current
With the intent of building upon the full communion agreement between the ELCIC and the ACC, this
internship was seen as an exploration of how we might partner together at the local level. We hoped to
take learnings from this project forward as we encouraged other partnerships especially in the rural areas
where congregations are struggling to meet the needs of their communities. Unfortunately, about one
third of the way through the internship, the Anglican parish felt they could not continue in the internship.
The intern completed the internship solely in the Southwest Lutheran Parish. This was a learning
experience for all who were involved. This knowledge will help to inform future explorations in this
important area of the mission of the church.
Lawson Heights Outreach Project, Resurrection Lutheran, Saskatoon
Resurrection Lutheran was looking to expand their presence in the surrounding community in keeping with
their mission statement as ‘a loving and caring community that reaches out to all people to serve Christ.’ A
community carnival was held with the intention to liftup the Lutheran presence in the community, invite
people in the neighborhood to a place of welcome, peace and hope in Christ, and to discover who our
neighbors are and how can the people of Resurrection meet their needs with full hearts and grounded
purpose. We received a report with many pictures of the almost 330 attendees having fun and engaging
with one another. The report included learnings discovered about the neighborhood, suggestions for what
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the church might do to engage more fully, observations by the organizers about what went well and where
changes need to be made for future events.
Quad Parish Lutheran Anglican Internship
Four rural congregations, three Lutheran and one Anglican that were being served by a part-time Vice
Pastor from Regina saw an opportunity to serve the larger church and receive more consistent and frequent
ministry by inviting an intern to share in their ministry. The start date for the internship was September
2020. Due to Covid 19, this project was halted and new arrangements were made for the internship.
Intentional Interim Ministry Training—Rev. Janet Kostyna
A three-phase course based out of Luther Seminary in St. Paul, Minnesota. It consists of a combination of
classes at Luther Seminary and independent project work in the pastor’s home community. Interim ministry
serves to walk congregations through whatever transition process they might encounter in the life of the
congregation.
Bread of Life, Regina and St. Paul’s Lutheran, Edenwold, Rural/Urban Internship Project
A unique setting for an internship. Firstly, urban and rural which gives the intern a taste of both very
different and yet in many ways similar experiences of congregational life. Each of these parishes has already
begun work to move their focus more strongly toward outreach and inclusivity. Secondly, Bread of Life is a
part of the Living Spirit Center, an ecumenical ministry of shared building and programming involving
Anglican and United churches. Finally, a possibility to be involved in a new ecumenical initiative, the White
Butte Christian Community involving several smaller communities around Regina.
Campus Ministry Initiative, Messiah Lutheran, Prince Albert
There are seven post secondary institutions in Prince Albert. At the time of the application, no religious
denominations in Prince Albert were providing campus ministry. Rising out of a conversation with a student
from the Saskatchewan Polytechnic in Prince Albert, a plan was formulated to engage students on that
campus to discover their needs for spiritual care and support. Covid 19 has put these plans on hold.
Development of Mission in Ministry Powerpoint presentation and update of brochure
With the approval of Synod Council, Christ the King Sunday, the last Sunday of the church year is designated
as Mission Sunday. Anna Clara Jensen has developed a power point presentation that will be available on
the Synod website for congregations to download and show on that Sunday. The brochure for the Mission
in Ministry committee that compliments the power point presentation will also be made available on the
Synod website. We encourage congregations to use this as a springboard to spark the imaginations of
congregational members.

The Mission in Ministry Committee is very appreciative of the guidance and support of Bishop Sid and the
Synod Council. We have also been blessed to have Dennis Serfas, Assistant to the Bishop, join us as the liaison
between the committee and the Bishop’s office. He has provided much needed information and welcomed
input as the committee deliberates decisions and carries out the work we have been entrusted to do. We have
also been blessed to have Jeff Barber join the committee as a representative from Synod Council. His input and
connection to Synod Council has been invaluable in keeping our work on track and in step with the direction of
the Synod.
In the coming biennium, the committee seeks to increase the visibility and awareness of the availability of
support and encouragement for local mission work. Training and education for rostered and lay leadership are
also key parts to the work of the committee. We will continue to seek out opportunities in this area and look
for your guidance as to areas and subjects that would be helpful to you in your local mission efforts.
In the works for the next two years:
Support youth initiatives including CLAY
Encourage and support local initiatives that involve and enhance relations with indigenous peoples and
communities
Encourage and support ecumenical projects
Raise the profile of local mission projects as we collect stories and share them throughout the Synod
Link communities and congregations with similar projects and mission opportunities
June 4-5, 2021
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The Mission in Ministry Committee has experienced some changes over the course of the last three years. In
2018 we welcomed Jeff Barber to the committee as Synod Council liaison. In 2019 we welcomed Dennis Serfas
as liaison to the Bishop’s office. Serving on the committee as well are Darlene Stalmacowich(secretary),Monica
Fraske-Bornyk, Rev. Chad Moir, Anna Clara Jensen(Vice-chairperson)and Rev. Linda Hall(Chairperson). Iam
very grateful and delighted to serve with this insightful and hard working group of people. All their
contributions and service on the committee are greatly appreciated. We are truly blessed to be in partnership
in mission and ministry with each of you in the SK Synod. I pray that we journey together with joy as God brings
to completion the work begun in us.
In Christ,
Rev. Linda Hall
Chairperson
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Lutheran Campus Ministry - Saskatoon
Grace and peace to you from God our Father and from our Lord and Savior, Jesus Christ.
The Campus Ministry Committee is a small group dedicated to supporting and working together
Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon. Our committee is comprised of Mark Hedlin, Rebecca
Hoffman-Schlosser (Secretary), Matthew Doll, Patricia Blakley, Echo Fettes, Liam Cummins
(Student rep), and Rev. Sean Bell (Synod Rep). Monica Johnson has attended meetings with us at
times and always works with us to help govern many financial stewardship items.
Campus Ministry continues to faithfully pursue ministry for and with students, faculty
and staff of the University of Saskatchewan. The realities of COVID came like a wave over this
context in March 2020. In the span of only a couple of short weeks the University canceled most
on campus classes, all but one resident of the Campus Centre moved out, our summer rentals
were dropped and those who had submitted applications for residence in Fall 2020 were put on
hold. A decision was made to offer residence to one student for the Fall and Winter terms. This
decision was based on concerns for student safety as well as existing public health orders.
Our one resident rented a room at the Centre until the end of December, 2020. She
found the isolation quite difficult and petitioned the Committee to allow a second student to
move in. After deliberations, the committee took a vote on the matter but landed on the side of
caution. The majority felt that two students from different “bubbles” created too much
likelihood of potential exposure from their different circles of operation. And that, if one were
exposed to COVID and made to isolate, it might be challenging to require the other’s isolation.
The Annual Spring Fundraiser supper, traditionally held at the end of March, was
canceled as restaurants closed due to COVID. These changes outside of our control have meant
operating with limited income. We are thankful for donations that have come in (a Newsletter
went out near Christmas and we give thanks for the supports received along the way).
On April 10th, 2021 we presented “An Appeal-ing Evening” which was an online
fundraising/information event with music, student testimony, Chaplain George Hind updating
on the ministry and invitation to give in support. It was presented, and continues to be present,
on the Facebook page (Lutheran Campus Ministry at Usask Saskatoon). We are thankful for all
who helped make it possible, for those who could tune in and for all the support we have
received through that appeal.
Beginning in March we have rented one space to a single woman working on a Masters
Program. We anticipate her continuing to rent through the summer months and, as COVID
realities proceed to ebb or flow we will make determinations about opening up rentals for the
Fall.
The biggest challenge to Campus Ministry is financial. With such a drop in revenue (rent
and parking) and the lack of the 2020 Annual fundraiser, our bottom line is much diminished.
We are deeply blessed with Pastor George Hind as chaplain. He continues to maintain
the Student Movement community with Facebook, virtual worship services and virtual “coffee
houses” to help students continue to be connected to each and to be a faith community in
diaspora.
Pastor George was carefully, and with Board’s consent, able to hold Tuesday evening
worship and supper for students who are in the city. Many international students continue to
reside on campus or in the community. Careful limits on attendance, sign ups in advance and
food preparation, serving and clean up were all done only by George so as to limit multiple
points of contact. The students were located at individual tables which were “socially distanced”

June 4-5, 2021

Page 75 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

4.4 Lutheran Campus Ministry - Saskatoon

during the suppers. It was well received by participants and adroitly performed by George. To
date there have been no instances of COVID infection related to worship or supper. He also is a
valued counselor, support and caregiver in so many circumstances. As the government
guidelines became more restrictive, Pastor George included a “Take Out” model for meal and
contact – this prevents attendees from being at the Centre but maintains connections and is
well received by the community. As COVID numbers and variants of concern rise the Take-Out
model has been even more important.
Pastor George has built some strong bridges through his service on the Faith Leaders
Council – a group of leaders from diverse faith communities who work with the University to
serve the campus community in many ways. It has opened doors with the University and George
has been a part of a food security (breakfast) program. He has also worked with the University
on an Online Wellness Program to care for students struggling at a distance with all the many
things students have always struggled with as well as all the new things that COVID has brought
into students’ sphere. Realities such as struggling with remote learning that can bring isolation,
loss of camaraderie with other students, anxiety, and other mental health challenges as well as
academic struggles. The length of time away from the “typical” university experience due to
COVID has challenged the students’ resilience.
Early in December, 2020 the Board was reached out to by the Ecumenical Chaplaincy
University of Saskatchewan (ECUS - Anglican, Presbyterian, United) who had been without a
chaplain with the departure of Rev. Daniel Kim-Craig. They invited a partnership in which Pastor
George would be determined to serve their ministry for approximately 10 hours a week. There
has been much that was already being done in concert and so, after conversation to seek to
ascertain some clarity of expectations we agreed to enter a 6-month agreement (to June 2021).
Pastor George is the developer of much of the programming with some guidance from both
bodies. And I and the chair of ECUS commit to regular monthly correspondence to ensure we
are meeting expectations and to ensure Pastor George is not going beyond agreed upon time
commitment. ECUS is committed to a monthly stipend paid to LCM of $1000.
We believe the ministry is still relevant, vibrant, active though less of that is happening
presently in situ. We are mindful of our finances. The ministry’s traditional incomes are
decreased but the ministry is strong. We hope that we can come through this time with healthy
assets, new partnerships, new relationships and new skills and abilities.
I will be in conversation with Committee members as we review terms of service and
will declare to Synod Council if there are members who will transition from service to the
committee. We will seek nominees to ensure effective governance and invite Synod’s
recommendations (if any) to that purpose.
The committee reviewed our Memorandum of Understanding (from 2010) at our last
meeting and encourage a review with probable need for revision as it is outdated and has a
number of sections that are no longer applicable.
We give thanks for the many blessings that Campus Ministry has provided, continues to
provide and has received as well. We pray that the time of COVID will be shortened. We will
continue to be hopeful as we look with realism on circumstances of revenue, student
participation and how best to discern the path of the ministry. Thank you for your prayers, and
we invite your wisdom and guidance to our task as well.
I hope this report will provide some useful, albeit brief, insights into Campus Ministry. If
there are questions or comments to this report, or anything Campus Ministry related, I invite
your emails or phone calls. We give thanks for this ministry and pray that God would bless all
who are a part of it.
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Thank you to the Bishop and to Synod Council for the service that you offer to our
Synod. May the Lord bless your endeavors.
Yours in Christ,
Rev Mark Hedlin, Chairperson Lutheran Campus Ministry - Saskatoon
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Saskatchewan Synod Convention
June 2021
Dear CLWR family within the Saskatchewan Synod,
In March of 1946, representatives of North American Lutheran churches gathered in Ottawa to
discuss a pressing challenge of the time: providing support for the millions of Europeans
displaced by the Second World War. The outcome was the creation of Canadian Lutheran
World Relief. Canadian Lutheran World Relief is now in its 75 th year of service on behalf of
Lutherans from coast to coast to coast. We are proud of CLWR’s long history of growth and
adaptation as an organization. CLWR has continually adapted its efforts in response to shifting
contexts, and especially to the voices of our partners. CLWR has always tried to exemplify the
spirit of semper reformanda — always reforming — that has guided our faith tradition as
Lutherans. Today, facing the prospect of a post-COVID world, we are united in our belief that
we must not cease to learn, grow, and reform.
Inspired by God’s love for the world, CLWR challenges and responds to the injustices
which cause human suffering and poverty. We are committed to working alongside our
partners to build resilience through a continual shared learning approach. As an
international relief and development agency of the Lutheran communicates, CLWR
provides opportunities for Canadians to respond to national and international needs.
The need experienced by our global partners has never been greater or more urgent, and
the COVID-19 pandemic is disproportionately affecting those who already face hunger and
poverty, with millions more being pushed into extreme poverty. In this context, particularly
with ongoing restrictions, we are grateful for your continued support, compassion and
generosity.
Always reforming…..
On September 26th, CLWR’s Board of Directors made the decision to transition We
Care, CLWR’s long-standing and beloved commodity shipment program, with the intent that
the shipping component of the program will be fully closed by the end of 2021. While many of
us feel a deep, personal connection to this aspect of We Care, the decision was made with the
unanimous support of everyone involved.
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Despite some sadness in making this change, we are united in confidence that this decision
affirms CLWR’s most deeply-held values, including responsible stewardship, shared learning
and honouring the voices of those we are called to serve. We are encouraged and optimistic at
the commitment everyone at CLWR has shown to being the most responsible and effective
organization we can on behalf of you, the Lutherans in Canada.
While earlier in the program’s history, We Care filled a vital gap of needed items, in the world
we now face, many of you have expressed growing concern about the climate impacts of
shipping supplies from Canada, especially when they are available for purchase much closer to
the regions where we work.
The We Care program, in its decades of operation, has provided comfort and care to tens of
thousands of people. To the faithful people of the Saskatchewan Synod, an incredible
community of faithful, loyal volunteers, pastors, lay leaders, youth groups, and Sunday
schools: we are inspired by you. Your generosity has wrapped warm quilts around those who
have lost their homes, put supplies in otherwise empty school classrooms, and given young
mothers the very first set of clothing their new babies will ever wear.
You have made such a difference. You have our deep thanks. And we also want to say you are
needed now — as much as ever.
As this work evolves, we will count on your continued partnership in the Saskatchewan
Synod, and we pledge to continue in our commitment to do everything we can to be faithful
and responsible partners in this ministry.
Always reforming…..
At least 79.5 million people around the world have been forced to flee their homes in the last
year. Among them are nearly 26 million refugees, around half of whom are under the age of
18. There are also millions of stateless people, who have been denied a nationality and lack
access to basic rights such as education, health care, employment, and freedom of movement.
At a time when 1 per cent of the world’s population have fled their homes as a result of
conflict or persecution, our work together in support of displaced people and refugees is more
important than ever before (UNHCR Ottawa2021).
The deeply disturbing news about the humanitarian crisis at the U.S.-Mexico border has moved
us to respond. Working with the ACT Alliance, CLWR has become engaged in a new endeavor to
bring assistance to the injustices of so many fleeing Central America. CLWR would become the
first Canadian Sponsorship Agreement Holder (SAH) to work directly with the United Nations
Refugee Agency, (UNHCR) to bring a vulnerable single mother with children to Canada from the
US-Mexico border. We will need your assistance, generosity and engagement as we work to
respond to the injustices at the border. Thank you for all the care and love you have shown
newcomers to Canada. Your ability to welcome strangers continues to inspire us. Thank-you.
Always reforming…..
In the Palestinian Territories, unemployment is a main cause of poverty. Women have even fewer
opportunities than men to find employment, which exacerbates existing economic and social
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barriers, compounding the challenges they already face. For women with disabilities, the
situation is even more difficult.
To address these challenges, Gender-Responsive and Inclusive Technical and Vocational
Education and Training (GRIT) is a new project from Canadian Lutheran World Relief and
Lutheran World Federation that provides women in Palestinian Territories better access to
technical and vocational training programs suited to their specific needs, so they can secure jobs
and gain financial independence.
GRIT is a six-year (2019-2025), 10 million dollar project funded by Global Affairs Canada, as part
of the Government of Canada’s 400 million dollar investment in support of the G7 Charlevoix
Declaration on Quality Education for Girls, Adolescent Girls and Women in Developing Countries,
with contributions from the Manitoba Council for International Cooperation.
Always reforming…..
CLWR has signed the Anti-Racism Framework of the international cooperation sector and to
join the more than fifty Canadian agencies and organizations that have already done so. The
framework aims at addressing systemic racism in the international cooperation sector – a
sector that by its self-definition aims to contribute to building a better and fairer world. The
framework urges us to address the sector’s legacy of racial bias, and to redress global
interventions that have denied peoples and institutions from historically disadvantaged
countries their right to self-determination in the name of economic and social progress.
As Lutherans, as people of faith, we are called to semper reformanda. We are delighted to
celebrate with the Saskatchewan Synod at your Synod convention. Thank-you Bishop Sid for
your unwavering support. Thank-you to all Saskatchewan Synod pastors, deacons, lay leaders
and congregations for your faithful partnership.
We celebrate together, as it is only through partnership that CLWR has been able to celebrate a
long history of growth, challenging and responding to injustice. Seventy-five years bringing
hope, compassion, and love to so many in this world. Our deepest gratitude for your
partnership, and we invite you into deepened engagement this year and look forward to the
journey together.
Respectfully submitted,

Karin Achtelstetter, Executive Director
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Moving Into A New Life
Lutheran Theological Seminary, Saskatoon
The Rev. Dr. William Harrison, President

The 2018-21 period has been an exciting time of transformation in the life of LTS and there is
more change to come. We have embraced the reality of life as a small seminary, moved into a new
space, and fundamentally redesigned the way that we operate. The one constant has been our focus on
providing solid Lutheran education and formation for leaders in the church of today and tomorrow.
COVID-19 has changed every aspect of our lives. From a school perspective, the move from a
model that combined classroom presence with electronic engagement to an entirely online life has been
the most obvious shift. I am pleased to report that we have proven to be ready.
The Move
In the summer of 2020, LTS moved from the building complex on Seminary Crescent that we
had occupied for over 50 years, starting in 1968, into a thoroughly renovated wing of the St. Andrew’s
College Building. The comfortable and attractive space that we rent on College Drive offers a whole new
range of blessings. Included in the changes that we made to the space is a well-equipped electronic
classroom, which has strengthened our capacity to function in the electronic world. The move has also
enabled us to work closely with our Saskatoon Theological Union (STU) partners, the College of
Emmanuel & St. Chad (Anglican) and St. Andrew’s College (United), on COVID response, moving to
electronic worship and sharing reflections on everything from building use to assisting international
students. We have not been able to foster in-person social life; however, we have developed a sense of
mutual support that is truly encouraging.
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We give thanks for the many years of wonderful service that the Seminary Crescent buildings
provided. The buildings were part of growth experiences for many of today’s church leaders,
experiences of many kinds: religious, social, educational, recreational… Those spaces have seen a great
deal of life. We do well to remember that the structures around us are not simply passive contexts for
human tableaux. Instead, the places where we live become, themselves, a part in forming what happens
and whom we become. Viewed from this perspective, we all have reason to be grateful for the gift that
114 Seminary Crescent has been to the life of the church.
Unfortunately, we are unable to speak to the future of the Seminary Crescent building complex;
the University of Saskatchewan (USask) owns the land and controls use of buildings on campus, so the
university is in the process of deciding what will happen. When we know something and can speak, we
will share the news.
Relationships
For LTS, the move is an important shift, a physical change that signals a philosophical
development that has been occurring in recent years: a strengthened focus on relationships. We have
always valued partnerships. LTS is a product of a variety of Lutheran relationships. Moreover, LTS’s
move to the USask campus in 1968 signaled an interest in working with the university, a commitment
that we have sustained in a variety of ways and manifest today in conversations with St. Thomas More
College. The move also gave rise to the relationship that became the Saskatoon Theological Union.
Now, partnerships mean more than ever before. We have made the transition from being a
medium-sized Canadian seminary, capable of independent operation on our own large and fully
equipped campus, to a small seminary, called to work in partnership with others. Our academic and
church relationships are now integral to our operations.
Strategic Plan
Our new strategic plan, passed in May 2020, is called, “A FARR-Sighted Seminary Looks to the
Future.” FARR speaks to our determination to strengthen our standing in four key areas: Finances,
Academics, Recruitment, and Relationships. The move has improved our financial situation already: we
now function with a balanced operating budget, rather than with the persistent deficits imposed by the
need to care for large, aging, buildings.
We continue to emphasize becoming an engaged and inclusive seminary, including working with
the Association of Theological Schools on strengthening our learning from and about Indigenous
Peoples, while decolonizing our curriculum. We have made the commitment to live as a Reconciling in
Christ school.
Relationships will be the key to further improvements in finances, academics, and recruitment.
We continue to look for ways to strengthen partnerships with other schools, synods, and various church
institutions, so that we can undertake our work more effectively and efficiently. With synods, we are
especially interested in common recruitment and educational efforts.
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Development
Thank you all for your generous support. Our life in partnerships means that we invite
contributions to the Grace Fund for Faculty to help us sustain a strong Lutheran voice. Our biggest need
is to support a new generation of scholar-teachers who think deeply and communicate well about the
insights that Lutherans contribute to the world. The Grace Fund makes funding available to support
faculty in any format of theological education and formation that proves valuable, today and tomorrow.
This is our priority.
Thanks to the many kind donors who have provided funds for student assistance over the years.
We rejoice in announcing that our student support funds are well supplied. Although the portion of
tuition and fees that we can cover varies from year to year, based on everything from student needs
through investment income, we pay nearly all the cost for the great majority of our degree students.
Faculty Changes
We celebrate the Rev. Dr. Kristine Ruffatto, Associate Professor of Old Testament and Ethics
and Director of Globalization, who has given a decade of service to LTS. Dr. Ruffatto is retiring to spend
more time with family in Wisconsin. She is a fine scholar and engaging teacher, who will be missed.
Thank you and Godspeed, Dr. Ruffatto.
We celebrate the Rev. Dr. Ann Salmon, who served a three-year term as Assistant Professor in
Pastoral Theology and Leadership for Mission, 2017-20. Dr. Salmon is now Director of the Doctor of
Ministry programme for the STU, so she continues to be part of our lives. Thank you, Dr. Salmon.
As we consider changing needs in the world, church, and academy, while reimagining our
relationships with our partners, we are giving thought to the design of our faculty for the future. Our
priority is to ensure that our Lutheran identity be sustained, and that we be able to foster the
development of Lutheran Christianity.
Invitation
The world continues to change and LTS changes with it. We welcome your ideas and stories.
Please visit our website ( https://lutherantheological.ca/ ). To share your thoughts, click on “Contact”
and use the contact email system.
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Luther College, Regina Report to Synodical Conventions
Spring 2021
Overview
Luther College, Regina, is an educational institution with a long and favourable history and affiliation
with the ELCIC (and its predecessor bodies). Since the last synodical conventions held in the Spring/
Summer of 2018, the Province of Saskatchewan gave Royal Assent to the new Luther College Act 2018,
enabling Luther College to operate and govern its affairs independently including through its own
Annual General Meeting, by-laws, and corporate governance structures as defined in the Act. This is a
change from when the annual meetings of the Luther corporation previously took place embedded
within the national convention of the ELCIC, which has now been moved to three-year intervals.1
Dr. Bryan Hillis retired from Luther College in June 2020 after a three-decade long distinguished career
as a Professor of Religious Studies, Academic Dean, and as President for the final decade. The Rev. Dr.
Marc Jerry began as Luther College’s eighth President in July 2020 and was installed as President by
Bishop Sid Haugen in October 2020 via a live-streamed service with only a handful of participants
present.
The 2020-2021 academic year has largely focused on managing COVID-19 operations with our top
priority being the health and safety of students, staff, faculty, and community as the pandemic
continues. The following are a few highlights from both our High School and University campuses
during this uncertain but inspiring COVID-19 year:
High School Campus Highlights
Until mid-March 2021, when the COVID-19 variants of concern led us to close the school building and
return to remote learning, we have been operating largely in person for most of the academic year.
Strict COVID-19 protocols were implemented for staff and students including restricting entrance to
the school, temperature checks and hand sanitation upon entry, mandatory mask usage, physical
distancing, one-way traffic flows in some spaces, and regular sanitation and cleaning of the school.
The Merlis Belsher Heritage Centre was also converted into an overflow cafeteria and study space with
numbered tables to allow for greater physical distancing and aid in contact tracing in the event of a
positive case in order to comply with health authority guidelines.
Regrettably, we have had to cancel many of our famed annual co-curricular activities this year due to
COVID-19 restrictions including the Luther Invitational Tournament (L.I.T.), musical, and team athletics.
Our Candlelight Advent Vespers service, that has been held every year since 1926, was reimagined
into a virtual format. Daily chapel has also gone virtual, and although we cannot gather in person, the
gospel continues to be proclaimed including from some very inspirational alumni guest speakers from
all over North America. We have done our very best to maintain the High School’s well-known
International Baccalaureate academic excellence as well as our tight-knit Luther community during
these challenging times.
1

See: https://www.luthercollege.edu/university/about-luther/governance-administration/luther-college-act-2018-bylaws
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University Campus Highlights
Luther’s University campus at the University of Regina has operated remotely for the entire 2020-2021
academic year except for essential services (i.e. food services, maintenance, and housekeeping) who
remained in-person to support students living in residence. Thanks to the dedication and ingenuity of
our faculty and staff, we were able to transition our university operation (e.g. finance, HR, academic
advising, library services, academic classes, governance meetings, etc.) completely online. We also
took the opportunity while the building was closed to do some capital upgrades including the HVAC
systems, classroom/office renos, and installing brand-new environmentally friendly windows on the
south side of the building in the second-floor classrooms (50 years after the campus opened in 1971).
We have hired a new Director of the Non-Profit & Voluntary Sector Services Network and will be
looking to hire a new Director of Finance & Administration with the retirement of Mr. Mark Duke in
August 2021. The University campus will also be celebrating its 50th Anniversary in September 2021
and a COVID-19 safe year-long celebration is being planned – stay tuned for more details. Despite the
COVID-19 restrictions, we have nevertheless had a busy and productive year serving and caring for our
students, and as the vaccination program continues to roll out in Saskatchewan, we are hopeful for an
eventual return to our University of Regina campus.
Vision 2025: Looking Forward
Luther College is now looking forward to 2025 and the long-term sustainability of the institution.
Mr. Greg Swanson, a retired lawyer, will be taking over as Board Chair from Mr. Karl Tiefenbach in July
2021. Special thanks to Mr. Tiefenabch, a member of Christ Lutheran Church, Regina, for his leadership
and governance of the institution during the recent transition to a new President.
Our Board of Regents, in consultation with our stakeholders (i.e. students, faculty, staff, alumni,
donors), are currently working on a refreshed Vision/Mission/Values and Strategic Plan for Luther
College entitled “Vision 2025” to help position us to succeed in a post-COVID-19 reality. Vision 2025
will allow us to re-imagine our role in preparing Luther graduates to become global citizens who care
for the world around them, work towards justice and peace, and help to begin the healing process in a
post-pandemic world.
In the words of Martin Luther, our College’s namesake, “When schools flourish, all flourishes.” As a
school of the ELCIC, we are especially grateful to you, our synodical partners, as we continue to work
together to be In Mission for Others.
Respectfully submitted,
The Rev. Dr. Marc Jerry
President, Luther College
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Report of Kinasao Lutheran Bible Camp:
Camp Kinasao, on the shores of beautiful Christopher Lake, has
been sharing the Good News of Christ for eighty-one wonderful
years! Though we have Lutheran roots and are supported by a
variety of Lutheran bodies, we work to welcome and serve all
people through the love of our faithful God.
Our theme for this summer is “Faithful Forever!” For the second
summer in a row, Kinasao will be providing pandemic-modified
programming. Our schedule and activities have changed, but our
desire to present God’s love in the beauty of His creation remains
undiminished!
God has been faithful to us by providing a capable Leadership Team. Darin Felstrom is
entering his second summer as Executive Director after fourteen years of Pastoral ministry in
Saskatoon. Kristi Stolee has been with the camp for more than a dozen years and has recently
returned to her post as Assistant Director after a maternity leave with her third child, Karina.
Daniel Bratvold has just completed his first year as Property and Projects coordinator, making
the jump from a previous summer position as a maintenance assistant. Usually, the Leadership
Team includes a Program Director and a Worship and Service Director, but these positions
have been put on-hold during the pandemic. The Leadership Team meets throughout the year
to pray, plan and prepare programs.
Our summer staff, though reduced in size this year, is made up of fourteen eager, talented and
enthusiastic Christian young people. They will begin their staff training soon and will, like last
year, be ready to do a wide variety of tasks to meet the needs of campers amidst the restrictions
and limitations of the pandemic. God has been faithful to provide flexible, brave and adaptable
young people ready to serve this summer.
Like last year, our Summer 2021 programs will focus on Day Camps for children, where the fun
and learning of camp is providing in small cohorts; Family Camps, where the same activities
will be provided for the whole family; and Prime Time Camp, where senior adults can get their
share of the Kinasao experience. Two canoe trips to the Northern part of the Province are also
planned.
God is also faithful forever in providing opportunities for community involvement. Since
November, we have gathered as a small, safe group for worship in our Retreat Centre. Now
that the warmer weather is here, we will be meeting for worship each Sunday, with an increased
capacity, in our lovely Kinasao chapel. Our campground is full to capacity with seasonal and
annual site holders who, along with our thirty-six cabin leaseholders, form a community of
believers who not only enjoy being at the lake, but who are also a key source of varied support
for Kinasao.
At our Annual General Meeting this year, the Leadership Team and the Kinasao Board of
Directors presented plans for much-needed renovations to our key camp buildings. Genesis, our
heritage office building, will have its log exterior refurbished early this Spring. Plans have also
been presented to the community for major renovations and an addition to our Retreat Centre to
provide better, safer and more accessible space for our expanding program needs. To have a
look at the plans for yourself, please visit our website at kinasao.ca! Kinasao has been
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receiving pledges from supporters for this major undertaking and would welcome your support
and that of your congregation to complete the work we have begun together.
We are so glad that Kinasao is able to offer programs year-round for people of all ages. We
continue to seek out ways to support congregations and provide an extension of their own
important ministries. We invite you to make yourself at home at Kinasao. Please contact us for
ways in which you may become involved in our programs and activities, or ask us how we may
serve your individual and congregational needs.
Please pray for Camp Kinasao as together we continue to love and serve God in our unique
context.
Respectfully submitted,

Darin Felstrom
Executive Director
Kinasao Lutheran Bible Camp
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Prairie Centre for Ecumenism
Dear Sisters and Brothers in Christ,
My name is Murray Patzwald and I have the pleasure and honour as serving as one of the ELCIC Sask
Synod reprehensive on the Prairie Centre for Ecumenism Board.
The Prairie Centre for Ecumenism ministry involves the promotion of inter-church dialogue,
understanding and co-operation with others. In addition, the Centre also promotes inter-religious
encounters in our communities. The Prairie Centre for Ecumenism has been in operation since 1984.
The purpose and vision of the Prairie Centre for Ecumenism is to be an instrument for Christian
reconciliation and unity in obedience to the Spirit, serving the Prairie region of Canada. Through its
presence, ministry, resources, and programs, its purpose is to call the churches to visible unity in one
faith and in one Eucharistic fellowship expressed in worship and in common life in Christ, through
witness and service to the world, and to advance towards that unity in order that the world may believe.
The Prairie Centre for Ecumenism is sponsored by five denominations (Anglican Diocese of Saskatoon,
Roman Catholic Diocese of Saskatoon, ELCIC Sask Synod, Living Skies Regional Council United Church of
Canada and The Presbytery of Northern Saskatchewan Presbyterian). Together we work in close
partnership with the Canadian Council of Churches, the Canadian Centre for Ecumenism, and the
Association of Inter Church Families, and other ecumenical ministries.
Some of the specific things we as a Centre have been involved in is:
·

Organized two very successful Week of Prayer for Christian Unity weeks

·

provide a quarterly newsletter entitled Growing Together.

·
Creating a strategic plan for the Prairie Centre that we can present to our sponsors for open
communication.
·

Creating a new fresh, looking website.

·

Working to increase the visibility of the Centre within our community.

·
Developing a donor database from past donations and organized a mail out fundraising campaign
to increase awareness and donations.
In this time of COVID 19 it is difficult to gather to carry out our Gospel call to work for the unity of
Christ’s church, but we are trying. We recognize that Christian Unity is the work of the Spirit and that
that work is ongoing. While we cannot gather, we can pray for God’s will be done.
On a personal note, I am gratefully for the personal and financial support of Bishop Sid, Synod Council
members and the church at large. Together are carrying out that together we might be one.
In Christ’s Service
R. Murray Patzwald
June 4-5, 2021
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Report for 2021 Saskatchewan Synod
Convention (ELCIC)
LuMinHoS – Lutheran Ministry in Hospitals of
Saskatoon
2021 marks the 5th anniversary of our government’s decision to defund Spiritual Care in
the Saskatchewan Health Authority. A unified effort between denominations continues to
advocate for reinstatement of this funding. At this time, there are 5 denominational chaplains,
representing United, Anglican, Catholic and Lutheran expressions of our Christian faith. We are
still able minister to patients in Saskatoon Hospitals. And, we are able to do so because of the
generous and faithful support of congregations and church members. Thanks be to God for you!
Leah Perrault, who was Director of Mission at St. Paul’s Hospital, regularly met with us
chaplains and was our representation and voice in various meetings within the department of
health. Because of her tenacity, passion, and professionalism she brought to her position, headway
was made. Over the years, (including last year), letters were written by her to our Premier, as well
as the Minister of Health, whom she has had no less than two conversations with. All Leah’s
efforts on our behalf resulted in an acknowledgement of the Spiritual/Faith component in the
healing of patients at Saskatchewan hospitals. The stage was set (so to speak) and the political
climate in the department was now amenable to hear conversations around what a reinstatement
of Spiritual Care in SHA would look like. However, with the unexpected arrival of the pandemic
last March, such conversations had to be placed on the backburner. But, we are ever so grateful
for the work Leah has been able to. And, although we are aware funding may not be available for
several years due to the financial strain of the pandemic, we are grateful we are being heard.
Work continued in 2019 on our Extended Care Follow Up Program, thanks to the financial
support of the Mission and Ministry Committee. Pastor Ron was able to partner with Parish
Nursing in a trial run of more intentional and planned follow up. A Parish Nurse was able to
coordinate and connect patients (who provided their consent) to ongoing spiritual care with either
local ministers or congregations after their discharge from hospital. Such a partnership with Parish
Nursing proved vital in the Follow Up program, for the nurse could easily converse with patients
about faith and health. This trial run concluded at the end of 2019. In early 2020, Pastor Ron
accepted a call to a congregation and the Follow Up program was suspended. I was called as
hospital chaplain by LuMinHoS and began ministry in the fall of that year. I have been getting
acquainted with the follow up program and expect to resume the work Pastor Ron began with
Mission and Ministry. In my short months with LuMinHoS, the Spirit has made clear the necessity
of Extended Spiritual Care. To the Mission and Ministry Committee, thank you for your prayerful
support and patience!
Like all organizations the world over, the pandemic changed how LuMinHoS continued to
offer ministry in the hospitals. God is good, and continues to provide as the board and chaplains
adjusted. Several challenges were faced. All planned fundraising events in 2020 either had to
cancelled or reimagined as virtual events. For example, our annual walk-a-thon and the Gift
Fundraiser. Lay visitors were restricted (and continue to be restricted) from entering the hospitals.
LuMinHoS chaplains became the only LuMinHoS personnel able to visit patients. In late fall, no
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visitors were allowed in hospital unless their loved one was at end of life. Thanks be to God
hospital chaplains were still allowed to make visits! One week before Christmas, patients were
allowed to have one designated visitor for a set amount of time per day. This restriction remains
in place at the time of the writing of this report.
To begin a call in hospital chaplaincy during a pandemic is certainly different. To be one
of the few to still have access to the hospital wards meant the vital role of the LuMinHoS ministry
became even more essential. I am so thankful I can minister to patients. I have visited (and
continue to visit) many lonely Lutherans who are so grateful to have the peace of Christ proclaimed
to them in a visit. Especially grateful are those who find themselves in a Saskatoon hospital, but
do not live near Saskatoon. The chaplain’s visit became a lifeline for them, and, in many cases,
their families. It is my prayer that in this unique pan-Lutheran ministry, Christ crucified and risen
be consistently proclaimed, the sacraments be consistently offered. It is also my prayer that panLutheran relationships be forged and strengthened for the sake of proclaiming God’s unconditional
grace and love to all Lutherans in hospital.
The grace of our Lord Jesus Christ, the love of God, and the communion of the Holy Spirit
be with you all. Amen.

___________________________________
Rev, Richard Glen Engel, B.A., M.Div.
Chaplain, Lutheran Ministry in Hospitals of Saskatoon – LuMinHoS
Website: www.luminhos.org
Facebook Page: https://www.facebook.com/Luminhos
To Donate: https://www.luminhos.org/donate
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Indigenous Christian Fellowship
Established in1978 as Indian Metis Christian Fellowship, Inc.

Building an urban community serving spiritual and social needs.
In Treaty 4 Territo,y and the traditional homeland of the Metis.
3131 DewdneyAvenue, Regina, SK S4T0Y5
Canada
Tel: 306.359.1096
Fax: 306.359.0103

2021 Report to Saskatchewan Synod, ELCIC
Greetings!
As I prepare to write a few notes to accompany the video that was submitted for the 2021
Convention of the Saskatchewan Synod (The Masked Man Report) I am reminded of a verse
from the song 'Trucking' by the Grateful Dead on their album 'American Beauty'.. The lyrics
Sometimes the light's all shining on me.
are:
Others times, I can barely see
Lately it occurs to me
What a long strange trip it's been.
Since my last report to you in 2018, the ministry's journey has taken many twists and turns.
However, with the advent of the COVID19 pandemic the meandering nature of our front line
ministry has taken strange turns that were never anticipated. Since March 2020, only staff and a
few volunteers have entered the ministry's facilities. Most of ICF's ministry of hospitality was
served to people through the ministry's parking lot doors. The main exceptions have been
community members needing access to use our community phone or to use a bathroom. Staff and
volunteers have done their best to serve the community in Christ's name, under difficult
circumstances
A few numbers for the period from April 2020 through March 2021 may help to illustrate the
services provided to community members by ICF staff and volunteers during the pandemic
season.
• Coffee or tea, snacks, and porridge served to 5,539 people
• 2,411 servings of soup and bannock on Wednesdays including 386 home deliveries
• On Saturday mornings, 2,246 breakfast meals were served including 299 home deliveries
• 16,605 sandwiches prepared and delivered for distribution by Trinity Lutheran
• 81 bikes were repaired and distributed to community members
Despite the departure of senior staff in June 202, the balance of staff and volunteers have done
great work serving the community in Christ's name. The video about Indigenous Christian
Fellowship will also be available on this YouTube link: https://youtu.be/xf-AMZEV6yo
Your prayers and support make the ministry of Indigenous Christian Fell owship possible.
Thank you!
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Saskatchewan Synod Report – May 2021
Our Father in heaven, hallowed be your name, your kingdom come, your will be done,
on earth as it is in heaven. Give us today our daily bread.

It has been a challenge to maintain the relationships we experience as a normal part of LCBI life.
Wondrously, LCBI staff proceeds with maturity and faith as we continue daily chapels and in-person
classes. As much as the media bombards us with COVID stats and fears, we rest on the petition; Give us
today our daily bread.

We have worked diligently over the last several years toward a sustainable operation. As a result LCBI
was in a marginally positive financial position before the series of COVID restrictions. It seemed as
though we would fall between the cracks regarding the Federal Wage Subsidy Benefit. However, by the
time our application was sent in, the government had included all independent schools. The generosity
of a few larger and consistent planned donors has given us the opportunity to maintain as many
programs as allowed. We will end this fiscal year, as the fourth year in a row, with a positive net income.
We continue with choir, hand bell choir, robotics, house plays, annual musical and in-person classes …
all masked and distanced. One of the highlights this year was the Easter Drive-Thru Presentation. LCBI
students along with members from Our Saviour’s Lutheran, Bethlehem Lutheran, and Outlook Alliance
worked together to put on this twelve station Passion Play. Over a hundred cars passed through carrying
approximately three hundred people. This takes a lot of work and dedication on behalf of our staff, who
I personally believe over perform every day. We have added to our Servant Leadership Program,
increased campus life activities making for a healthy campus life for all dorm and day students.
We realize our student body needs to grow in numbers for long-term sustainability. As a promising start,
we have added six students to our second semester for a total of 67 students. We are currently ahead of
previous years’ applications and continue to see growing interest for the fall. We have spent several
years organizing and structuring for growth and now with an improved marketing process, increased
sport, choral and drama resources and a dedicated Admission Officer we are excited to see early fruits.
LCBI has a number of capital projects in process and in development. We are replacing all the boilers in
the boys and girls dorms and are completing a sorely needed renovation to the ‘White House’. As a
reminder, we only receive one third of our revenue from the provincial government while two-thirds is
dependent on services revenue and donations. We receive zero support from the government for
capital projects. While the daily operational side is currently healthy we clearly need donation support
for capital projects. What’s in the future … a new food services building?
I can’t say enough about our Administrative Team, teachers and staff. We believe in doing what we can
with what we have, and calling on our Lord to provide the miracle of healthy relationships and support
from our alumni and friends. Sign up for our weekly Campus Clips at alumni@lcbi.sk.ca.
I encourage all alumni, parents and grandparents, to consider the option of having your children attend
LCBI this fall! Send your interest to admissions@lcbi.sk.ca.
We Would See Jesus
Wayne Hove
president@lcbi.sk.ca
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LutherCare Communities
As new Chief Executive Officer of LutherCare Communities, let me begin by introducing myself
to you. My name is Gabe Lafond, and I was hired as CEO for LutherCare Communities (LCC)
effective September 1, 2021. I came to LCC from the Saskatchewan Health Authority, where I
was Executive Director of First Nations and Metis Health. I bring with me 20 years of leadership
experience in government and the non-profit sector, as well as a work ethic learned from my
father. I succeeded Vivienne Hauck, who retired from LCC after over 30 years in various
positions, with the last 12 years as CEO.
My Senior Leadership Team includes:







Renita Falkenstern – Director of Mission
Richard Lungal – Vice President Corporate Services
Chad Okrainetz – Vice President Human Resources and Community Services
Ivan Olfert – Operations Lead, Health Services
Kelly Peevers – Vice President Housing
Nicole Semko – Director of Communications and Marketing

LCC was due to celebrate its 65th anniversary in 2020, and preparations were well underway.
However, when COVID began to erupt in March of last year, many of our celebratory events
had to be postponed and eventually cancelled.
Management has been kept busy over the last year in keeping our residents safe and healthy
during the pandemic. An outbreak occurred at Luther Special Care Home over the winter,
which took significant work to manage. While the leadership team at Luther Special Care Home
was able to keep the outbreak contained to one unit, ten residents died from COVID. We are
extremely thankful to Ivan Olfert and his team for all their hard work in managing this outbreak.
Three Housing sites had outbreaks as well, with Luther Tower’s outbreak being the most
signficant. Five tenants contracted COVID, which placed Luther Tower in outbreak for
approximately one month. While this was hard on the tenants to be isolated, there were no
deaths. The outbreaks at the other two Housing sites were well managed, and the facilities
were out of outbreak very quickly. The Group Homes have had minor outbreaks as well, but
have also been very well managed. We continue to monitor and manage COVID within LCC and
are hoping that as everyone becomes vaccinated, it will bring some more freedom to our
residents.

https://sksynod-my.sharepoint.com/personal/jparker_sasksynod_ca/Documents/Documents/2021 Sask Synod
Convention/Bulletin of Reports/6.a LutherCare Communities.docx
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Part of my goals going forward are to:
a) Continue to build upon the relationship between LCC and the Synod, as well as to build a
relationship between myself and the Bishop. Quarterly meetings are being scheduled with
the Bishop to keep the Synod up-to-date on LCC’s activities.
b) Ensure LCC remains resident focused. We are beginning to include residents on interview
panels for senior management positions and inviting participation in committees (e.g.,
Spiritual Care Committee, Ethics Advisory Committee, Fund Development Council). I have
had meetings individually with some of the Presidents of the Residents’ Councils, attended
some of their annual general meetings (which are beginning to resume after being delayed
by COVID), and resuming meetings between the Senior Leadership Team and all the
Resident Association Presidents.
Please see the attached overview of the services provided by LutherCare Communities.
Also attached are the Bylaw amendments and a list of the current Board Members.
Respectfully submitted,
Gabe Lafond
Chief Executive Officer
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Overview of LutherCare Communities Today
Health Services
Luther Seniors Centre
1800 Alexandra Avenue
Saskatoon, SK S7K 3C7
(306) 664-0368
Luther Special Care Home
1212 Osler Street
Saskatoon, SK S7N 0T9
(306) 664-0300
Community Day Programs
TEMT (Travel, Eat, Meet, Talk)
LiveSmart
Young at Heart
_______________________________

Administration
Chief Executive Officer
(306) 664-0301
Vice President Corporate Services
(306) 664-0303
Operations Lead Health Services
(306) 664-0394
Vice President Human Resources and
Community Services
(306) 664-0389
Vice President Housing
(306) 664-0371
Director of Mission
(306) 664-0315
Director of Marketing and
Communications
(306) 664-0359
_______________________________

Seniors’ Housing

Community Services

Luther Heights
1802 Alexandra Avenue
Saskatoon, SK S7K 8A6
(306) 664-0377

Group Homes – Saskatoon
1226 Temperance Street
1506 Ninth Avenue North
1906 Alexandra Avenue
1910 Alexandra Avenue
1914 Alexandra Avenue
1929 Pembina Avenue
203 Baltzan Boulevard
303 Fast Court
474 Boykowich Street
619 First Street East
630 Pendygrasse Road

Luther Place Outlook
408 McTavish Street
Outlook, SK S0L 2N0
(306) 867-9955
Luther Riverside Terrace
915 Saskatchewan Crescent West
Saskatoon, SK S7M 0M7
(306) 664-1250
Luther Tower
1223 Temperance Street
Saskatoon, SK S7N 0P2
(306) 664-0355
LutherCare Village at Stonebridge
250 Hunter Road
Saskatoon, SK S7T 0Y4
(306) 664-0501
Trinity Tower – Estevan
737 Second Street
Estevan, SK S4A 2S4
(306) 634-7307
Intermediate Care Homes
Intermediate Care Homes are located
within or adjacent to:
Luther Heights
Luther Riverside Terrace
Luther Tower
LutherCare Village at
Stonebridge

For more information, contact:
(306) 664-0388
Home Support Program
Saskatoon
Home Help
Community-wide, fee-for-service
home support
(306) 664-0393
Advocate Services
Professional counselling for
LutherCare residents
(306) 664-0357
Wellness
Wellness clinics and staff training
(306) 664-0172
Spiritual Care
(306) 664-0314
Luther Family Housing
Heritage Way
Saskatoon, SK S7H 5N8
(306) 664-0501 x223

LutherCare Foundation Inc.
1212 Osler Street
Saskatoon, SK S7N 0T9
(306) 664-0354
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Bylaw Amendments
LutherCare Communities is recommending the following amendment be made to Bylaw 4:
Bylaw 4 currently reads:
4.

Members and Associate Members
4.1. A Member of LutherCare Communities is a voting member of a congregation that is
in good standing with the Church*.
4.2. An Associate Member of LutherCare Communities is:
4.2.1. a voting member or adherent of a Lutheran congregation other than one that
is part of the Church; or
4.2.2. a voting member or adherent of any Christian denomination if that voting
member or adherent is committed to the Mission Statement of LutherCare
Communities.

* "Church" means the Saskatchewan Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada

The proposal is for Bylaw 4 to read as follows:
4. Members and Associate Members
4.1. A Member of LutherCare Communities is a voting member of a congregation that is
in good standing with the Church* or is a voting member of congregation that is in
full communion with the Church (e.g., the Anglican Church of Canada).”
4.2. An Associate Member of LutherCare Communities is a person of another Christian
denomination or world religion if that person is committed to the Vision and Mission
of LutherCare Communities.
* "Church" means the Saskatchewan Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada
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LutherCare Communities Board of Directors
Ben Nussbaum (Chair)
Monica Kreuger (Vice Chair)
Al Scholz (Secretary)
Jacqueline Almeida
Darrell Corkal
Mike Finney
Monte Gorchinski

Rowena Materne
Kelley Moore
Beverly Pavelich
Paul Rosten
Dennis Serfas
Ali Tote

Nominations
The following individuals each replaced another Board Member mid-term:
Jacqueline Almeida
Rowena Materne
Kelley Moore
We extend our sincere thanks to the following Board members for their support, expertise, and
faithful service throughout their time:
Karen Harildstad
Barb Jiricka
Peggie Koenig
Linda Moulin
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Greetings to the 2021 ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod Convention.
Greetings to the Saskatchewan Synod convention from the Board of Directors, Residents and staff of St.
Paul Lutheran Home in Melville, Saskatchewan.
St. Paul Lutheran Home is as 129 bed Long Term Care Home, which includes an 18-bed dementia unit.
We do have a day wellness program but since the start of the pandemic we have not been able to offer
this program.
We are attached to St. Peter’s Hospital and our staff provide laundry, maintenance and dietary services
to the hospital. We were very integrated with the former Sunrise Health Region services provided to us
include finance, human resources, labour relations, materials management and information technology.
We are finding with the amalgamation into one Health Authority there is some challenges in maintaining
this integrated relationship.
The pandemic has provided staffing challenges to St. Paul Lutheran Home. We have had a difficult time
to recruit registered nurses and licensed practical nurses, we have had vacant lines in these positions the
entire pandemic. We have implemented a 12 hour schedule this past year which we are hoping once
cohorting is over we will be able to attract more nurses to work in our facility.
We have been fortunate to have not had a covid outbreak in our home. We are very thankful for the work
our staff do on a daily basis to keep our residents safe.
We had a very positive uptake for residents who wanted to receive the covid vaccine. We offered the
second dose of vaccine to our residents March 25. All new residents and any resident who has changed
their mind are being offered vaccine when it is available. We had a slow start with the uptake of staff
wanting to receive the vaccine but on a weekly basis we have more staff coming forward requesting to be
vaccinated.
For the past four years we had been part of the Saskatchewan Workers’ Compensation Board Priority
Employer Program. In 2019 we completed a Saskatchewan Association of Safe Work Places in Health
Safety Management System Assessment and received a score of 93.9%. During the four years we were
part of the program we achieved a 46.5% reduction in time loss injuries, a 53% decrease in total injuries
and a 52% reduction in total claims. We received notice in December that we have successfully completed
the program.
We are fortunate to have a full-time Chaplain position. This position has been very instrumental in
helping up navigate through the pandemic. He has assisted with dining supervision and visitor screening
and spent many hours meeting the spiritual needs of our residents. Our Chaplain has given us his
intention to retire this fall. We will be starting the recruitment for this position in August.
We received capital funding to replace the flooring in our kitchen. The floor we had was not safe as it was
very slippery when it was wet. This project took six weeks and during that time we were not able to use
our kitchen. All food was prepared on our neighbourhoods and recreation area. Residents ate their
meals in their doorways using bedside tables. The project is now complete.
We are very fortunate for the financial support of the St. Paul Lutheran Home Foundation. The group of
dedicated volunteers is responsible for many projects over the last few years such as purchasing our
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wanderguard system, a front entrance security camera, and a portable sound system for our recreation
staff. The foundation will also be providing funding so we can create a patio with gazebos that families
can utilize when visiting outdoors.
Thank you for keeping us in your prayers. We appreciate the support of the ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod
and all of the churches within our community. I would also like to extend a sincere thank you to the Board
of Directors of St. Paul Lutheran Home for their guidance.
St Paul Lutheran Home Board Members:
Rev. Vivian Roberts Chair
Bev Kreklewich Vice Chair
Marilyn Hoehn Secretary
Rev. Doug Schmirler (ELCIC Representative)
Junette Croissant
Terri Hodges
Laurel Moore
Marilyn Morin
Louise Thompson
Brian Waldbaurer
This would have been my first Synod Convention as Administrator of St. Paul Lutheran Home; I will look
forward to attending the next convention in person.
Respectfully submitted.
Sheri Honeywich
Administrator
St Paul Lutheran Home
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CARE HOME CORPORATION MEETINGS
AGENDA
1. Call to Order
2. Adoption of Agenda
3. Adoption of minutes, previous corporation meeting
4. Board chairperson or administrator - address the corporation meeting and present the report
5. Adoption of report
6. Business arising from the report:
6.1
6.2
6.3
7. Nomination of the board
8. Election of board members
9. Other items of business
10. Resolution of ratification:
“That any and all actions of the triennial convention of the Saskatchewan Synod,
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada which pertain to the Corporation of
____________________________ (Name of Corporation) are hereby ratified.”
11. Adjournment
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MOTIONS PRESENTED BY SYNOD COUNCIL
1. Nomination for Synod Treasurer (Biographical form attached)
That Lyndon Carlson be nominated for the position of Treasurer of the Saskatchewan Synod, ELCIC,
for a term through to 2027.
2. Constitutional Amendments (Second Reading)
The following Constitutional items were approved in First Reading at the 2018 convention (SSC-1818). They are now presented for second and final reading.
In Article VI Congregations, Section 3, amend by deleting reference to ‘conferences’, delete
Section 4, and renumber following Sections.
Section 3. Every congregation of this synod shall choose a delegate or delegates to represent it at
conventions of this synod and at meetings of the conference to which the congregation is assigned
in accordance with procedures as defined in the bylaws of this synod. An alternate or alternates may
act in the stead of the delegate or delegates in the event of their absence.
Section 4. The alignment of congregations in parishes shall be subject to approval of Synod Council.
In Article X Conferences, delete the Article and renumber following Articles.
Section 1. This synod shall be organized regionally into conferences whose number and boundaries
shall be determined by this synod in convention upon the recommendation of Synod Council.
Section 2. The role of the conferences shall be defined in the bylaws of this synod.
In Article XII Synod Council, delete Section 4.
Section 4. The bishop shall be an ex officio member of Synod Council.
3. Bylaw Change – Election of Delegates to the National Convention
Synod Council is recommending the following bylaw amendment related to the election of delegates
to the National Church Convention. A copy of the policy approved by Synod Council is included on
the pages following these motions.
Part VI Elections of Delegates to the National Church Convention (Congregation Constitution,
Article VI, Sec. 2)
Section 1. The synod secretary shall inform the congregations of the number of voting delegates
and the apportionment of lay, youth and rostered ministers to be elected to the
national church convention as determined by this church.
Section 2. Delegates will be elected at the synod convention in the year preceding the national
convention. Nominations will be called for a minimum of 120 days prior to the synod
convention and will close no later than 60 days prior to the synod convention. The
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procedure for nomination and election of Delegates shall be as approved by Synod
Council and communicated to the congregations no later than twelve months prior to
the national church convention.
Section 3. The delegate costs for attendance at National Convention will be shared among the
congregations by dividing the total delegate costs by the total number of confirmed
members in this synod times the number of confirmed members reported by each
congregation in their most recent parochial report.
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MOTIONS PRESENTED BY SYNOD COUNCIL – addition
4. Constitutional Amendments (First Reading)
Synod Council is recommending the following constitutional amendments to bring the synod
constitution in line with action taken by the 2019 National Convention recognizing that
“ordination” is the rite which marks and celebrates the acceptance of a first call into public
ministry of a deacon, or a bishop or a pastor. As such, use of the term “minister” is no longer
used. In its place, reference is now made to rostered pastors and rostered deacons.
In addition, to be consistent with the employment agreement, the term ‘pastor’ is replaced
with ‘rostered leader’.
If first reading amendments are approved, the amendments will be brought to the 2024 Sask
Synod Convention for second and final reading, together with the related bylaw amendments.
In Article IV Missions, Section 2, amend by replacing ‘ministers’ with ‘rostered pastors
and rostered deacons’.
As the regional expression of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, in faithfulness to
the Lord of the Church, this synod shall facilitate and advance the mission of this church
within its territory and in cooperation with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada.
Guided and empowered by the Holy Spirit, it shall carry out this mission by shepherding its
congregations, synodically recognized ministries, rostered pastors and rostered deacons
ministers, and by engaging in other forms of ministry which proclaim God’s Word and serve
to bring reconciliation to the world.
In ARTICLE VI Congregations, Sections 6 & 7, amend by replacing ‘pastors’ with
‘rostered leader’.
Section 6.
When a rostered leader pastor resigns, the congregational council shall
receive the resignation, report it to the congregation and notify the bishop of
this synod.
Section 7.
During a pastoral vacancy, an interim rostered leader pastor or a vice
rostered leader pastor may be appointed by the congregational council after
consultation with the bishop. The responsibilities of the two roles are defined
in the Call Process Manual.
In ARTICLE VIII Rostered Pastors, amend by replacing ‘ordained ministers’ with
‘pastor or rostered pastor’
Section 1.
This synod shall maintain a roster of ordained pastors ministers.
Section 2.
The standards of admission and continuance on the roster of pastors ordained
ministers shall be defined in the bylaws of this church.
Section 3.
A rostered pastor ordained minister shall conduct themselves in accordance
with the bylaws and policies of this synod and of this church.
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In ARTICLE IX Rostered Deacons, amend by replacing ‘diaconal ministers’ with
‘ordained deacons, deacons or rostered deacon’.
Section 1.
This synod shall maintain a roster of ordained deacons diaconal ministers.
Section 2.
The standards of admission and continuance on the roster of deacons diaconal
ministers of this church shall be defined in the bylaws of this church.
Section 3.
A rostered deacon ordained minister shall conduct themselves in accordance
with the bylaws and policies of this synod and of this church.
In ARTICLE XII Officers, Section 1, amend by replacing ‘ordained ministers’ with
‘pastors’.
This synod shall be served by a bishop who shall be its chief pastor and chief executive
officer. The other officers shall be a chairperson and a vice-chairperson who shall be elected
from among the members of synod council and a secretary and a treasurer who shall be
elected according to procedures set out in the bylaws of this synod. The bishop shall be on
the roster of pastors ordained ministers of this church. At least two of the other officers shall
be lay members of a congregation or synodically recognized ministry of this synod. All
officers shall serve as officers of the synod council.
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COMMITTEE OF REFERENCE AND COUNSEL
The Committee of Reference and Counsel is appointed to be the impartial, discerning mind of the
Convention to facilitate the proper presentation of petitions/resolutions and to make efficient use of the
convention’s time.
Resolutions may come to the R & C Committee from Synod Council; or from a synod committee; or from
a congregation; or from two delegates, who shall sign their resolution, giving the name and location of
the congregation(s) they represent. Resolutions presented to the R & C Committee do not have to be
typewritten – but it is appreciated when they are. If resolutions are in long hand, they must be written
neatly and on a full-sized piece of paper.
The above is in keeping with Synod Bylaw Part V, Section 8, which reads as follows:
Congregations and conferences may petition this synod in convention by submitting the petition in
writing to the secretary of this synod for inclusion in the bulletin of reports. If the petition is too late
for inclusion in the bulletin of reports, the secretary shall deliver the petition to the Reference and
Counsel Committee for presentation to the convention.
The R & C Committee shall assist movers (those who propose that something be done) in preparing their
resolutions to be heard by the convention. The Committee may suggest possible clarifications or editing
of grammar, spelling or language, to form a properly-worded motion conveying their intent and taking
into account appropriate jurisdiction and constitutional or bylaw requirements.
The last opportunity for delegates to present resolutions to the R & C Committee will be indicated in the
convention agenda or announced by the convention chair. Any resolutions presented after the deadline
may still come to the convention, but (due to time constraints) may need to be referred to the Synod
Council for action.
Any material for distribution after the convention has begun, other than authorized convention reports,
shall be submitted to the R & C Committee for permission to distribute.
Near the end of the convention, the R & C Committee shall present a motion of thanks with reference to
(but not limited to) the host conference and congregation, the local arrangements committee,
convention manager, convention chaplain and guest speakers, worship planners and leaders, Synod
Council chair and officers, the Bishop and synod staff.
The R & C Committee has three alternatives to select from in dealing with each petition/ resolution. The
committee shall include in their report to the convention:
•
•

the text of the original petition/resolution and its source and
the Committee’s rationale for their recommendation.

Alternative #1: recommend consideration of the petition/resolution.
At the appropriate time the mover (and seconder) are invited to present the petition/resolution to
the convention for consideration.
Alternative #2: recommend that the petition/resolution be referred.
At the appropriate time the mover (and seconder) are invited to present the petition/resolution to
the convention. A motion to refer may then be made.
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Alternative #3: recommend that the chair rule that the petition/resolution is out of order.
The chair then rules whether or not the petition/resolution is out of order. The ruling of the chair
may be challenged by the convention. Possible reasons for a petition/resolution to be ruled out of
order are: redundant to matters already under consideration; contrary to ELCIC or Synod
Constitution or Bylaws; already in effect or would continue a current policy or practice; or unclear
in intent.
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Synod Nominations Report
(updated May 28, 2021)

The Synod Council Governance Committee, on behalf of Synod Council, has the responsibility
for nominations presented at the Synod Convention. At the February 2021, Synod Council
appointed the 2021 Nominations Committee: Jeff Barber, Cheryl Bauer Hyde, Sean Bell, Cindy
Hoppe, Ali Tote
The following persons are being nominated for the positions indicated to be filled by election at
the Synod Convention. Biographical information on these candidates is available on the pages
following this report.
Nominations can be made from the convention floor accompanied by the candidate’s completed
biographical data form.
Nominations for Synod Council (two lay members, two rostered ministers)
That the following persons be nominated to Synod Council of the Saskatchewan Synod,
ELCIC for terms through to 2027.
Lay:

1. Lynda Erlandson
2. Murray Patzwald

Rostered:

1. Victoria Mwamasika
2. Doug Schmirler

Lutheran Theological Seminary (one lay member, one rostered minister)
That Mary Vetter be nominated to serve as the Saskatchewan Synod lay representative on
the Lutheran Theological Seminary Board of Directors for a term September 1, 2021 –
August 31, 2024.
That Stewart Miller be nominated to serve as the Saskatchewan Synod rostered
representative on the Lutheran Theological Seminary Board of Directors for a term
September 1, 2021 – August 31, 2024.
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Biographical Data Form
For ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod Council - 2021
Nominated for: Synod Council – Rostered Term: 2021 - 2027
Name: Victoria Mwamasika Address: 12 Scott Crescent, Weyburn S4H 1T6
Telephone: 306.861.2650
Email: kanyengo@hotmail.com
Congregation: Zion Lutheran Church - Weyburn
Education, Experience, Skills & Contributing Factors
Please list any degrees or certificates obtained: High School Diploma, Bachelor of Divinity
What recent professional development have you taken that might relate to this position?
World Council of Churches - Bossey Online Course, “The Church: Towards a Common Vision”
2021; LWF- Action for Justice Forum 2021; Engage Difference Workshop 2021; Spiritual Care
Conversations re: MAID 2021; Book Club – ELCIC 2021; Week of Prayer for Christian Unity 2021
(Growing in Unity)
The following is a list of skills that assist individuals in contributing to the position. Please rank
your personal ability of each. (Rank: 1 – high level, 2 – moderate level, 3 – low level, 4 – no
knowledge)
Accounting and finance
Business acumen
Communications / Writing

3
3
1

Stewardship
Governance
Law or legal understanding

1
2
3

Policy setting
Change Management
Ecumenical

2
2
1

Theological

1

Negotiation and mediation

1

Strategic planning

1

Describe past experiences or positions held that would assist in the position:
Student Government Secretary, Makumira University College; Youth representative for ELCT U.E.M Indonesia; Exchange Student representing Makumira University - Copenhagen
University, Denmark; Former Pastor Neudorf/Lemberg Parish - ELCIC; Former Dean Yorkton
conference - ELCIC; Chaplain 2019 ELCIC National convention; Former Secretary Board of
directors St. Paul Lutheran Home Melville; Board Member LCBI, Outlook; LWF – Action For
Justice Forum (Representing ELCIC); Luther College Board of Regents (member)
List any concerns related to this position and/or the ELCIC SK Synod: None
Why are you interested in serving in this position? I would like to serve in this capacity
because: I believe that all people are wonderfully and beautifully created in the image of God.
Through our diversity, we bring depth to our understanding of not only who God our Creator is
but also how God invites us to be in relationship with God and each other. I want to serve on
Synod Council to ensure the voices of all is represented as we walk together in our Synod.
If elected, I am willing to serve in this position.
Signature:
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Biographical Data Form
For ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod Council - 2021
Nominated for: Synod Council – Lay Term: 2021 - 2027
Name: R. Murray Patzwald
Address: 1607 Grant Dr. Regina S4S 4V1
Telephone: 306 949 8756
Email: mpatzwald@sasktel.net
Congregation: Christ Lutheran, Regina
Education, Experience, Skills & Contributing Factors
Please list any degrees or certificates obtained: 4th year Bachelor of Education (Incomplete);
American Human (Physical, Emotional and Sexual Abuse); 30 yrs Social Worker;
Advance debriefer and mediator for Critical Incidents; Authorize Lay Minister (for ELCIC
Sask. Synod); Community Developer; First Aid
What recent professional development have you taken that might relate to this position?
Active with my church for most of my life in a leadership role; Authorize Lay Minister (for
ELCIC Sask. Synod); Community Developer; Chairperson for the City of Regina Community
Investment Board
The following is a list of skills that assist individuals in contributing to the position. Please rank
your personal ability of each. (Rank: 1 – high level, 2 – moderate level, 3 – low level, 4 – no
knowledge)
Accounting and finance
1 Stewardship
2 Policy setting
1
Business acumen
1 Governance
1 Change Management
1
Communications / Writing 2 Law or legal understanding 1 Ecumenical
1
Theological
2 Negotiation and mediation 1 Strategic planning
1
If you have a skill (s) not listed that you believe is relevant to the position, please list and rank
your personal ability here: I believe three of my strongest assets are:
1) My faith In Jesus Christ as my saviour,
2) Strong knowledge of functioning community based organizations and volunteer boards, and
3) My strong network base and experience in working with interdisciplinary teams and partner
organizations.
Describe experiences or positions held that would assist in the position:
Presently I serve on the Prairie Centre for Ecumenism as the Lutheran lay representative and
I’m the head of the personnel committee; Member at Large with the ELCA Men’s Ministry;
Past member of the Sask Synod Council; Vice Chairperson of the National Parish Life
Committee (ELCIC); Resource person for National and Provincial workshops; One of four
founding members of the Men’s Ministry in Sask.
Professionally I was a social worker for 29 years I had worked in many different programs
with the Ministry of Social Services (Young Offenders, Community Development Outreach,
Child Protection, and Child Care). I had the opportunity to provide, direction and leadership to
community members in the development of promoting equity, fairness and diversity for all I
have been trained as an advanced mediator, facilitator and debriefer of critical incidents.
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Over the last 15 years I have had the pleasure and privilege of leading worship for parishes in
the southern part of the province, bible study leader, presenter at various workshops and a
facilitator for the Strengthen Ministry of the synod where pastors/congregation were going
thru conflict. I have been a resource person and speaker for various workshops and has
recently has been approved as an authorized lay minister for the ELCIC (Sask Synod).
List any concerns related to this position and/or the ELCIC SK Synod: The biggest
concern I see for our ELCIC SK Synod is the utilization of volunteers and finding more clergy
to carry out the great commission and ministry of reconciliation.
Why are you interested in serving in this position? I believe our church is in transition and I
would like to be a part of that change. God has blessed me with many gifts and I would like to
share them with others.
If elected, I am willing to serve in this position.
Signature: _R. Murray Patzwald Date: May 27, 2021
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For ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod Council – 2021
Position nominated for: Synod Council Member Term: 2021 - 2027
Name: Lynda Erlandson
Address: Box 56, Hafford, SK, S0J 1A0
Telephone: 306-549-0080
Email: lynda.erlandson@sasktel.net
Congregational Membership
Name of congregation

St. Paul Lutheran Church

Location

Radisson, SK

Education, Experience, Skills & Contributing Factors

Please list any degrees or certificates obtained: 1982-B.Ed (U. of S); 1977 – B.Sc. (U of S.);
1974 – Bible at L.C.B.I.: Also attended Nansenskolen , a Norwegian Folk High School in 1977-78
What recent professional development have you taken that might relate to this position? As a
teacher/consultant, I took part in professional development often, with the most recent sessions being
on how to present to colleagues.

The following is a list of skills that assist individuals in contributing to the position. Please rank your
personal ability of each. (Rank: 1 – high level, 2 – moderate level, 3 – low level, 4 – no knowledge)
Accounting and finance

2

Stewardship

2

Policy setting

2

Business acumen

3

Governance

2

Change Management

2

Communications / Writing

1

Law or legal understanding

3

Ecumenical

2

Theological

2

Negotiation and mediation

3

Strategic planning

2

If you have a skill (s) not listed that you believe is relevant to the position, please list and rank your
personal ability here:
Describe past experiences or positions held that would assist in the position: I was treasurer for Trinity
Lutheran Church (LCC) in St. Walburg when we lived there. This gave me some insight into the financial
workings of that church at large. I have been involved with local teachers’ associations wherever I
worked over the course of more than 30 years. This included setting up the constitution for a newly
amalgamated group as well as serving in various executive positions.
I currently serve on the council for St. Paul Lutheran Church in Radisson
List your concerns related to this position and/or the ELCIC SK Synod:
I would like to see more young people involved in our churches as our aging rural congregations will not
be viable for many more years.

Why are you interested in serving in this position?
I have enjoyed the work with Synod Council over the past three years and would like to continue.
If elected, I am willing to serve in this position.
Signature: Lynda Erlandson
Date: March 9, 2021
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Biographical Data Form
For ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod Council - 2021
Position nominated for:
Sask Synod Council Term: 2021 – 2027
Name:
Rev. Doug Schmirler
Address:
Box 88, Melville Sk.
Telephone:
306-730-6979
Email:
doug.schmirler@sasktel.net
Congregational Membership
Name of congregation

Good Shepherd Lutheran Church, Melville

Education, Experience, Skills & Contributing Factors
Please list any degrees or certificates obtained: Bachelor of theology
What recent professional development have you taken that might relate to this position?
The following is a list of skills that assist individuals in contributing to the position. Please rank
your personal ability of each. (Rank: 1 – high level, 2 – moderate level, 3 – low level, 4 – no
knowledge)
Accounting and finance
2 Stewardship
2 Policy setting
Business acumen
1 Governance
2 Change Management
Communications / Writing 2 Law or legal understanding
3 Ecumenical
Theological
1 Negotiation and mediation
3 Strategic planning
If you have a skill (s) not listed that you believe is relevant to the position, please list and rank
your personal ability here:
Describe past experiences or positions held that would assist in the position:
I have been on Synod Council for 5 years – the past three years as Council Chair.

2
3
1
2

List any concerns related to this position and/or the ELCIC SK Synod:
Why are you interested in serving in this position?
The overall strength of our church begins with and is in direct proportion to the strength of the
Synod team. We have a dedicated and respected Bishop who has assembled amazing and
hardworking support staff. It has been a pleasure to be part of a council who is passionate and
professional in their working relationship.

If elected, I am willing to serve in this position.
Signature: Doug Schmirler
Date: March 1, 2021
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Biographical Data Form
For ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod - 2021
Position nominated for: LTS Board of Governors – Lay SK Synod
Term: 2021-2024
Name: Mary Vetter
Address: 3126 Assiniboine Avenue, Regina, SK S4S 1E3
Phone: (H) 306-584-1462; (C) 306-519-0261
Email: mary.vetter@uregina.ca
Congregational Membership

Name & Location of congregation

Bread of Life Lutheran Church, Regina

Education, Experience, Skills & Contributing Factors

Please list any degrees or certificates obtained: BA summa cum laude, Biology & Psychology, Augustana
College, Sioux Falls, SD (1973); PhD Botany, Duke University, Durham, NC (1981); MA Environmental
Planning, University of Waterloo, ON (1983)
What recent professional development have you taken that might relate to this position? I don’t have
any recent professional development.

The following is a list of skills that assist individuals in contributing to the position. Please rank your
personal ability of each. (Rank: 1 – high level, 2 – moderate level, 3 – low level, 4 – no knowledge)
Accounting and finance
3
Stewardship
3
Policy setting
2
Business acumen
3
Governance
2-3 Change Management
2-3
Communications / Writing
1
Law or legal understanding 4
Ecumenical
2
Theological
2
Negotiation and mediation
2
Strategic planning
2
If you have a skill (s) not listed that you believe is relevant to the position, please list and rank your
personal ability here:
1 – high-level understanding of post-secondary academic institutions: academic planning, faculty
appointments and careers, academic administration, federated institutional arrangements, course
planning and structure, institutional financing and management;
2 – moderate-level familiarity with distance learning
Describe past experiences or positions held that would assist in the position:
I served as assistant dean (3 years) and academic dean (6 years) at Luther College, University of Regina,
and was a faculty member there for 33 years. As academic dean I was a member of Luther’s senior
management team and of the University of Regina’s university leadership team. I was academic dean at
Luther College at a period when we were experiencing a difficult relationship with the University of
Regina and was part of the small group that negotiated an updated federation agreement (including
revenue sharing) between Luther and Campion Colleges and the University of Regina. I was very familiar
with our faculty’s collective agreement. I participated as a faculty member in developing and teaching in
interdisciplinary programs at Luther College, and actively supported those as academic dean. I am a
detail-oriented person and a good listener.
List any concerns related to this position, and/or the Lutheran Theological Seminary: I’m not deeply
familiar with LTS’s current situation, although I have a general understanding of seminary programs. As
the daughter of a Lutheran pastor (deceased), I have first-hand experience with clergy lives and
livelihoods.
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Why are you interested in serving in this position?
I feel I could contribute a high level of academic administrative experience, and I am very interested in
clergy education and well-being. I have always been dedicated to excellence in post-secondary
education; and I want to see LTS develop and evolve, as necessary, to achieve an innovative approach
that serves the needs of our clergy candidates, congregations, and LTS faculty and staff.
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Biographical Data Form
For ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod - 2021
Position nominated for: LTS Board of Governors – Rostered
Term: 2021-2024
Name: Rev. Stewart Miller
Address: 3018 Doan Drive Regina, SK
S4V 1M1
Phone: 306-535-5052
Email: pastor.stewart@sasktel.net
Congregational Membership

Name & Location of congregation

Bread of Life Lutheran, Regina

Education, Experience, Skills & Contributing Factors

Please list any degrees or certificates obtained: BA (honours) English; M.Div.
What recent professional development have you taken that might relate to this position?
Board Training with the LTS Board; Executive Skills for Pastors; Leading In Times of Crisis

The following is a list of skills that assist individuals in contributing to the position. Please rank your
personal ability of each. (Rank: 1 – high level, 2 – moderate level, 3 – low level, 4 – no knowledge)
Accounting and finance
2
Stewardship
1
Policy setting
Business acumen
2
Governance
1
Change Management
Communications / Writing
1
Law or legal understanding 3
Ecumenical
Theological
1
Negotiation and mediation
3
Strategic planning
If you have a skill (s) not listed that you believe is relevant to the position, please list and rank your
personal ability here: 34 years of various urban/rural parish ministry in the West
Describe past experiences or positions held that would assist in the position:
ELCIC National Council; SK Synod Council; AB/SK Candidacy Committees; Metochos Camp Board

2
2
1
1

List any concerns related to this position and/or the ELCIC SK Synod:
I have a strong commitment to providing full, contextual, education for ministry (especially in the
Western Canadian context).
Why are you interested in serving in this position?
As stated above … And I have been on this board for 5 years going through our many changes. Now I
want to see what our next steps will be.
If elected, I am willing to serve in this position.
Signature: Stewart Miller
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National Convention Delegate Nomination & Appointment Policy
Background
In 2015, the National Church adopted a new governance structure that included provisions to
reduce the size of national conventions. Each synod was tasked with the responsibility of
determining how it would elect its delegates. SK Synod Council adopted and has revised the
process for the two National Conventions to date with further revisions for the 2022 National
Convention.
National / Synodical Convention Cycle
The previous system of biennial conventions was replaced with a triennial cycle in 2018 for the
SK Synod, and in 2019 for the National Convention. Therefore, the SK Synod Convention will
be held in June 2021 and the National Convention in 2022.
National Convention Size / SK Synod Representation
The total number of synodical delegates attending national conventions will be 150
(Administrative By-laws Part VII Section 7). The Saskatchewan Synod share of this total is
determined by the following:
a) A base number of 10
b) An additional number based on the Saskatchewan Synod’s share of ELCIC baptized
membership
For the 2022 ELCIC National Convention, SK Synod representation of 31 delegates is allocated
as outlined below. It is recommended that 6 (20%) of the appointed delegates are youth
delegates (ages 16 – 30 as of the first day of convention):
a) Rostered Ministers:
b) Lay:

12 (40%)
19 (53.3%)

As all congregations no longer send representation to the national convention, this document sets
out a process for selecting synod representative.
The following proposal assumes that delegates will be appointed by the Synod Council. This
process will provide for consideration of diversity related to geographical location, gender,
congregation size.
As of 2017, financial costs for our National Convention delegates rests with the SK Synod. As
with the Synod convention cost share, the delegate costs for attendance at National Convention
$38,750 ($1,250 x 31) will be shared among the congregations by dividing the total delegate
costs by the total number of confirmed members in this synod times the number of confirmed
members reported by each congregational in their most recent parochial report.
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POLICY (approved by Synod Council; February 12, 2021)
Section I

Nominations for Delegates

1.

At the 2021 synod convention, the secretary of synod council shall open nominations for
delegate positions. Nominations shall close October 31, 2021.

2.

Eligible nominees shall be:

3.

a)

rostered ministers, called or appointed to serve in a ministry or retired from ministry
of this church, and a member in good standing of a congregation of this church;

b)

lay members in good standing of a congregation of this church;

c)

youth members in good standing of a congregation of this church who will be
between the ages of 16 and 30 inclusive on the first full day of the next national
convention; and

d)

willing to participate in a synod pre-convention meeting(s) to review and discuss the
Bulletin of Reports, and to assist in the development of a report to SK Synod
congregations following the National Convention.

Nominations will be accepted provided:
a)

the nominee is endorsed by the Congregational Council of the congregation within
which the nominee is a member; and

b)

the nomination form is completed in full and includes biographical information.

Section II

Appointments & Replacement of Delegates

1.

Within a period of 30 – 45 days following the closing of nomination (October 31), a list
of all nominees and their biographies will be reviewed by the Governance Committee.
The recommended delegate list of names and biographies will be provided to Synod
Council for approval. The approved list of delegates will be communicated to the Synod
congregations no later than December 31, 2021.

2.

If an appointed delegate is unable to attend or becomes ineligible to attend, the Synod
Council shall appoint a replacement delegate subject to National Church deadlines.
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Job Description for Delegates to
Assembly 2022
The 2022 ELCIC National Convention will take place in partnership with the
General Synod of the Anglican Church of Canada using the title Assembly
2022. The theme is Let There Be Greening based on Revelation 22:1–2.
Delegates to Assembly (current dates July 12 – 15, 2022) are elected or appointed by Synods as
rostered delegates or lay delegates.
• Synods are asked to make reasonable efforts to elect or appoint one‐fifth (1/5) of such
delegates who are sixteen (16) to thirty (30) years of age as of the first day of Assembly.
• Delegates thirty years of age and younger will be invited and encouraged to travel to
Calgary a day early, in order to attend a learning and community-building gathering as
part of the Assembly experience.
Delegates are expected to keep in mind the realities and concerns of their contexts—their
congregation, area, synod, etc.—but at Assembly they are delegates of the National Church,
having a prime interest in making decisions for the benefit of the whole church.
Delegates are expected to:
• Register and book travel through the ELCIC appointed travel agency (if applicable) in a
timely manner.
• Read, in advance of Assembly, the Bulletin of Reports, noting any questions. A certain
knowledge of the structure and governance of the church is an asset.
• Pray for the Assembly as you prepare to attend.
• Participate in any synodical delegate preparation sessions.
• Attend all of the business sessions of the Assembly, as well as other Assembly
activities including worship. Opportunities to volunteer for assisting in worship will be
identified during registration.
• Participate, as appropriate, in the discourse of Assembly, through active listening to
presentations, reports, and debate on the floor, through respectful speaking in table
groups or at the microphone during debate, through prayerful consideration before
votes and elections.
• Look for opportunities to share your convention experience when you return home.
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• Follow the work of the National Church following Assembly to see how the decisions
of Assembly are being enacted. This may occur through reading Canada Lutheran,
signing up for ELCIC News (www.elcic.ca/Communique/default.cfm) and following the
ELCIC on Facebook, Instagram or Twitter.
• Continue to pray for the National Church.
Some further considerations for delegates.
• The Assembly planners work with the Assembly locale to make the best possible
arrangements for persons with dietary needs and mobility concerns. It is important to
identify your needs before you arrive at the Assembly, recognizing that moving between
sessions, meals and accommodation commonly involves moving some distance.
• Childcare support is available for those who have a young family and experience
finding childcare as a barrier to attending the Convention/Assembly. Further
information to be provided in the Delegate Registration Package.
• The ELCIC provides meals and accommodation for delegates attending Assembly and
covers expenses for travel to and from Assembly. Delegates submit an Assembly
Expense Form to claim incurred expenses.
• Travel by air or VIA Rail Canada is to be arranged through the ELCIC’s travel agent.
• Airline seat selection, insurance and meal purchases are not covered by the Assembly.
Assembly will cover the cost of the baggage fee for one suitcase checked‐in each way.
Assembly will cover the cost of transportation, via taxi or shuttle, between home and
airport or train station. Delegates travelling from an airport that has an airport facility
fee in effect are requested to pay the fee and to include this item in their expense claim
along with the receipt.
• Delegates driving to Assembly may submit an expense claim for 20 cents per km for
one delegate plus 3 cents per km for each additional delegate up to the equivalent cost
of an air ticket based on the excursion rate approved for Assembly. Parking fees, gas,
accommodations and meals along the way are not reimbursable. Further information to
be provided in the Delegate Registration Package.
• Convention days are long and can be both physically and emotionally exhausting.
Delegates need to come rested and prepared for the stamina that the intense days will
require.
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SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD BIOGRAPHICAL FORM
Nomination For: National Convention Delegate
(July 12 - 15, 2022; Calgary)
Please complete the following form and submit it by October 31, 2021,
for review and appointment by Synod Council. Note: Incomplete forms
will not be considered.
Check all that are applicable: Lay Person ____ Rostered Minister ____

Are you sixteen (16) to thirty (30) years of age as of the first day of convention ____

Name ________________________________________________________________________

______________________________________________________________________________
Mailing address: Street / PO Box /RR Site
Town/City
Postal Code
Contact Phone: ________________________ Contact Email:_____________________________
Were you a delegate at the 2019 National Convention in Regina? Yes _____ No _____
Congregational Membership: _______________________________________________________
Experiences and abilities that will help you to serve as a delegate (ie., church, employment,
education, community, etc.)
1.
2.
3.
Why are you interested in serving as a delegate:
If appointed, how will you prepare to serve as a delegate prior to the National Convention?
If appointed, are you willing to participate in a synod pre-convention meeting(s) to review
and discuss the Bulletin of Reports, and to assist in the development of a report to SK Synod
congregations following the National Convention?
Yes ____
No ____
(If no, please explain):
Signed: ___________________________________________ __________________________, 2021
Signed: ________________________________________ ________________________________
Congregation Council Representative
Council Position
Nomination forms to be returned by October 31, 2021, to:
ELCIC Saskatchewan Synod, 6, 2220 Northridge Drive, Saskatoon, SK S7L 6X8
Or; email info@sasksynod.ca

June 4-5, 2021

Page 118 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

Section 9
Rosters

June 4-5, 2021

Page 119 of 187

9.1 Roster of Ministers

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

Roster of Ministers
Name
Amiotte, Jane
Anderson, Heather
Anderson, Virgil
Aristide, Emmanuel

Title
Deacon
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Status
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active

Armistead, Frank
Baker, Colette
Beish Jr, Clayton
Bell, Sean
Bender, Daphne

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active

Bestvater, Ronald
Blakley, Carla
Borgardt, Henry
Borkowsky, Gerald

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired

Zion, Saskatoon
CLWR

Brock, Wendell
Brooks, Melissa
Brown, Arlene
Buck, Erwin
Cantelon, William
Chappell, Bryan
Cherland, Henrik (Rik)
Cole-Heine, Joan
Corbin, Jailyn
Danielson, Eldon
Diegel, Michael
Dymund, Sarah
Engel, Richard
Falkenstern, Renita

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Deacon
Pastor
Deacon
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active (ACC)
Roster OLC
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active

Good Shepherd, Meadow Lake (Lutheran/Anglican)

Farmer, Hugh

Pastor

Roster Retired

Felstrom, Trent
Fingas, Dennis
Finnestad, Sonje
Fowlie-Neufeld,
Gregory
Fowlie-Neufeld,
Marilyn
Fry, Larry
Gattinger, Sheldon

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active

Bethany, Archerwill & New Hope Parish (Nut Lake &
Zion Rose Valley)
Redeemer, Saskatoon

Pastor

Roster Active

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Active

Zion, North Battleford

Greifenhagen, Volker

Pastor

Roster Active

Luther College, University of Regina

Grundahl, Allan

Bishop

Roster Retired
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LutherCare, Saskatoon
SBCS Parish, (St John's Shellbrook & Zion Canwood)

Luther College, University of Regina
Peace Parkland Parish, (Langenburg & Churchbridge)

SK Synod

Mont St. Joseph, Prince Albert
National Church (Bridges)
Trinity, Regina
LuMinHoS
LutherCare, Saskatoon

Redeemer, Davidson & Skudesnes, Loreburn
LutherCare, Saskatoon
Augustana, Saskatoon & St. Timothy's Anglican,
Saskatoon
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Name
Hall, Linda

Title
Pastor

Roster Status
Roster Active

Halvorson, Murray
Hansen, Donald
Harder, Cam
Harrison, Darlene
Harrison, William
Haugen, Sid
Haugen, Daniel
Hedlin, Edward
Hedlin, Mark

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Bishop
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active

Hendricksen, Dennis
Hesje, Harold
Hind, George
Hoffman, Amber
Hognestad, Lindsay
Hordern, Marja
Hordern, Richard
James, Lori
Jarock, Robert
Jensen, David
Jerry, Marc
Jespersen, Joan
Johnson, Carlyle
Johnson, Harley
Johnson, Jason
Johnson, Richard
Kaiser, David
Kaminski, Orville
Kiel, Greg

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active

Kleiner, Heather
Kleiner, Mark
Knudson Munholland,
Lois
Kostyna, Janet
Kristjansdottir, Iris

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Active

Kuglin-Alyea, Liz
Langdon, Robert

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Retired

Larsen, Carlton

Pastor

Roster Active

St John Norrona Parish (St John, Strasbourg &
Norrona, Bulyea)

Legre, Kragbe

Pastor

Roster Active

Five Oaks Parish – Immanuel, Naicam
(Lutheran/United)
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Southwest Parish (St Olaf, Swift Current; Cabri, Rush
Lake, Kyle)
New Hope, Regina

LTS, Saskatoon
SK Synod

Trinity, Saskatoon
Christ, Regina
Trinity, Lanigan & Campus Ministry, Saskatoon
Our Savior's, Regina
Dannevirke, Redvers
St Marks, Markinch
Trinity, Estevan & Faith, Lampman

Luther College, Regina

St. John, Laird

Southwest Parish (St Olaf, Swift Current; Cabri, Rush
Lake, Kyle)
Christ Anglican, Saskatoon
Broadway Terrace, Regina
Trinity, Lemberg; Christ, Neudorf
LutherCare, Saskatoon
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Name
Lewis, Bob

Title
Pastor

Roster Status
Roster Active

Lueck, Dennis
McDougall, Cicely

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Active

Bethlehem, Midale & Hamar, Bromhead

Miller, Lauren

Pastor

Roster Active (ACC)

St Andrew's Trinity, Rosetown (Anglican/Lutheran)

Miller, Stewart
Miner, Douglas
Moeller, Craig
Moen, Ivar
Moir, Chad
Molder, Boyd
Mtate, Munye

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active

Bread of Life, Regina
Messiah, Assiniboia
St Mark's, Regina

Mwamasika, Victoria
Myrfield, Dawn

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Active

Nachtigall, Helmut
Nelson, Wilburn

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Retired

Zion, Weyburn
St Peter's Parish (St Paul, Wadena & Moe Concordia,
Margo)

Neumann, Kenneth
Nilson, Thomas
Nostbakken, Paul

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Retired

Nostbakken, Roger
Olson, Martin
Pannell Haugen,
Roger
Peterson, Gretchen
Peterson, Kenneth
Poellet, Michael
Prankev, Richard
Roberts, Vivian

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Retired
Roster Retired
Roster Active

Deacon
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired

Robertson, Lynn
Rohrbough, Faith
Schenk, Gary
Schmidt, Fran
Schmiedge, Zsofi
Schmirler, Douglas
Schwindt, Phillip
Serfas, Dennis
Shepherd, Douglas

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Retired

Sherwin, Kim
Shore, Glenn

Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Active

St. Paul’s, Melville & All Saints Anglican, Melville
Zion, Jansen & Grace Aarnes, Wynyard

Simonson, Patricia

Pastor

Roster Retired

Shepherd of the Valley, Lumsden
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Call or Appointment
Grace, Swan River; Trinity, Birch River & Swan River,
Anglican

Trinity, Rosthern
Good Shepherd, Saskatoon

Faith Parish Outlook (Ardath, Sask River & Green
Valley, Broderick)
ELCIC National
King of Glory, Saskatoon
St. John, New Finland; St. John, Wapella; Cross &
Spire Parish (Esterhazy & Stockholm)
Christ, Regina

Messiah, Prince Albert
All Saints ACC, Regina
Good Shepherd, Melville
St Paul Lutheran Home, Melville
SK Synod
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Name
Simonson,Terry

Title
Pastor

Roster Status
Roster Retired

Call or Appointment
Christ, Kipling

Skogsrud, Lisa
Soveran, Kristin
Stepko, Karen
Stobbs, Marilyn
Tank, Jeff
Ternier-Gommers,
Marie-Louise
Tote, Ali
Uitti, Roger
Urano, Sarah

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster OLC
Roster Active (ACC)

Christ, Tisdale & Redeemer, Porcupine Plain
Hanley, Hanley & LutherCare, Saskatoon
Christ, Rhein

Pastor
Pastor
Pastor

Roster Active
Roster Retired
Roster Active

Resurrection, Saskatoon

Werner, Cindy
Wowk, Linda

Pastor
Pastor

Roster OLC
Roster Retired

June 4-5, 2021

Our Redeemer, Watrous & Watrous Anglican

Partners in Faith and Partners in Worship, Shell
Lake/Spiritwood
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Congregation
Archerwill, Bethany
Archerwill, Dahlton
Ardath, Our Savior's

Rostered Minister
Farmer, Hugh*

Assiniboia, Messiah
Beatty, Bethesda
Biggar, Redeemer
Birch River, Grace
Broadview, Grace Canadian
Broderic, Green Valley
Broderick, Saskatchewan River
Bromhead, Hamar

Miner, Douglas

Buchanan, Faith
Bulyea, Norrona
Cabri, Scandia
Canwood, Zion
Churchbridge, Concordia
Davidson, Redeemer
Davin, Emmaus
Duval, St Paul
Earl Grey, Christ
Eatonia, St Paul
Edenwold, St John
Edenwold, St Paul
Esterhazy, Redeemer
Estevan, Trinity
Fairy Glen, Carrot River Valley

Pannell Haugen, Roger

Lewis, Bob
Pannell Haugen, Roger
Pannell Haugen, Roger
McDougall, Cicely
Larsen, Carlton
Kiel, Greg; Hall, Linda
Aristide, Emmanuel
Bender, Daphne
Finnestad, Sonje

Larsen, Carlton

Roberts, Vivian*
James, Lori

Francis, Christ
Govan, Prince of Peace
Gravelbourg, St Paul
Hanley, Hanley
Herbert, St Paul
Horse Butte, Zion
Inglis, Bethany
Jansen, Zion
Kipling, Christ
Kyle, Clearwater
Laird, St John
Lampman, Faith
Langenburg, St Paul
Langham, First Saskatchewan
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Soveran, Kristin
Kiel, Greg; Hall, Linda
Shore, Glenn
Simonson, Terry
Kiel, Greg; Hall, Linda
Johnson, Jason
James, Lori
Bender, Daphne
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Congregation
Lanigan, Trinity
Lemberg, Trinity

Rostered Minister
Hind, George
Kostyna, Jan*

Loreburn, Skudesnes
Lumsden, Shepherd of the Valley
Margo, Moe Concordia
Markinch, St Mark
Meadow Lake, Good Shepherd
Medstead, Bethel

Finnestad, Sonje
Simonson, Pat*
Myrfield, Dawn
Hordern, Richard*
Brock, Wendell (ACC)

Melville, Good Shepherd
Melville, St Paul's
Midale, Bethlehem
Moose Jaw, Central

Schmirler, Douglas
Sherwin, Kim
McDougall, Cicely

Mossbank, Trinity
Naicam, Immanuel

Legre, Kragbe

Neudorf, Christ

Kostyna, Jan*

Norquay, Emmanuel
North Battleford, Zion
Porcupine Plain, Redeemer
Prince Albert, Messiah
Quinton, Trinity
Radisson, St Paul
Ratner, Beaver Creek
Redvers, Dannevirke

Gattinger, Sheldon
Skogsrud, Lisa
Schmidt, Fran

Regina, Bread of Life
Regina, Christ
Regina, New Hope
Regina, Our Savior's
Regina, St Mark
Regina, Trinity
Rhein, Christ
Rose Valley, Nut Lake
Rose Valley, Zion
Rosetown, St Andrew's Trinity

Miller, Stewart
Hendricksen, Dennis; Robertson, Lynn
Halvorson, Murray
Hoffman, Amber
Moeller, Craig
Dymund, Sarah
Stepko, Karen
Farmer, Hugh*
Farmer, Hugh*
Miller, Lauren (ACC)

Rosthern, Trinity
Rush Lake, Peace
Russell, Grace
Saskatoon, Augustana
Saskatoon, Good Shepherd

Moir, Chad
Kiel, Greg; Hall, Linda

Saskatoon, King of Glory
Saskatoon, Redeemer
Saskatoon, Resurrection

Poellet, Michael
Felstrom, Trent
Tote, Ali Tote(Alimezelli, Ali)
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Hordern, Marja

Fowlie-Neufeld, Marilyn
Mtate, Munye
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Congregation
Saskatoon, Trinity
Saskatoon, Zion
Shell Lake, Shell Lake
Shellbrook, St John's
Spalding, Dovre
Spiritwood, Partners in Faith
St Boswell, Trinity
Stockholm, New Stockholm
Strasbourg, St John

Rostered Minister
Hedlin, Mark
Bestvater, Ron
Urano, Sarah
Aristide, Emmanuel

Swan River, Trinity
Swift Current, St Olaf
Tisdale, Christ
Vibank, Emmanuel
Wadena, St Paul
Wapella, St John's
Wapella, St. John's (New Finland)
Watrous, Our Redeemer

Lewis, Bob
Kiel, Greg; Hall, Linda
Skogsrud, Lisa

Weyburn, Zion
Wynyard, Grace Aarnes
Yellow Grass, Peace
Yorkton, St Paul
Young, Christ

Mwamasika, Victoria
Shore, Glenn

Urano, Sarah
Roberts, Vivian*
Larsen, Carlton

Myrfield, Dawn
Roberts, Vivian*
Roberts, Vivian*
Ternier-Gommers, Marie-Louise ACC

Corbin, Jailyn

*Serving by appointment as vice or interim minister

June 4-5, 2021
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10. 1 Convention Committees

CONVENTION COMMITTEES
(Membership of the committees will be announced in the first session of the convention .)
1. Committee on Registration and Attendance - This committee reports to the convention
on a periodic basis the number of persons registered and present at the convention as
voting delegates, visitors and guests.
2. Committee on Nominations – This committee comprised of the Synod Council
Governance Committee who prepares a Nominations Report for the convention complete
with biographical information for each position to be elected at the convention with the
exception of those positions elected by ecclesiastical ballot. Should nominations be made
from the floor, this committee will ensure that the nominator has consent of the nominee
and obtains biographical information. The committee will prepare a final slate for election.
3. Committee on Elections – This committee facilitates the elections for Officers, Synod
Council, Lutheran Theological Seminary Board of Governors, and the Corporation
Boards of LutherCare Communities and St Paul Lutheran Home.
4. Committee on Minutes – This committee works with the Synod Secretary to ensure that
the minutes of business sessions are accurate and complete. The minutes will be
distributed to all delegates within two weeks following the convention.
5. Committee on Reference and Counsel – This committee is responsible to review
resolutions and petitions prior to consideration by the convention according to the Synod
Bylaws, Part V, Section 8. The Committee on Reference and Counsel receives petitions
and reports them to the convention with recommendations; recommends special orders for
the hearing of representatives; grants or denies permission to distribute printed matter not
issuing from the office of the secretary. They also give such assistance to the bishop or
convention chairperson as the officer may desire in the course of the convention, serving
as the parliamentarian. This committee will receive resolutions no later than Saturday at
noon.
6. Complaint Handing Committee - A minimum of two people, preferably of different genders
and with an understanding of and sensitivity to diversity, are appointed to form the Complaint
Handling Committee (CHC). The Committee receives and reviews Code of Conduct
Complaints.
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10.1 Convention Committees - Appointments

CONVENTION COMMITTEES - addition
Registration & Attendance

Anna-Marie Skogsrud

Nominations

Jeff Barber
Cheryl Bauer Hyde
Sean Bell
Cindy Hoppe
Ali Tote

Elections

Cindy Hoppe
Cheryl Bauer Hyde

Minutes (Synod Secretary)

Darlene Stelmacowich
Judy Parker

Reference & Counsel

Jerry Borkowsky
Lyndon Carlson
Dennis Serfas

Complaint Handling

Pamela Giles
Ali Tote
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10.2 Standing Rules of Order for the Sask Synod

STANDING RULES OF ORDER
SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD, ELCIC
Bourinot’s Rules of Order, current edition, is the source from which the following Standing Rules of
Order are based. Where a disagreement is found between these rules and Bourinot’s, the Standing Rules
shall defer to the source.

1.

Motions

STANDING RULES

1.1.

No motion or amendment is properly before the meeting unless proposed by the Synod
Council, or a Committee, or is seconded and submitted in writing to the Chair. Motions
coming directly from the floor must apply to the immediate discussion underway.

1.2.

Delegates putting a motion before the meeting must do so before speaking. A motion may
not be made at the conclusion of a speech or a series of “whereas-es”.

1.3.

When properly before the meeting, a motion may be withdrawn by its mover and seconder
only with the assent of the meeting as a whole.

1.4.

When a question is under consideration, the only other motions that will be considered, in
order of precedence, are:
 To adjourn
 To move the question
 To table
 To postpone (to a certain time or indefinitely)
 To refer
 To divide (number by number or clause by clause)
 To amend

1.5.

The passage of a motion requires a majority of those voting (i.e., the motion is
approved when votes cast “in favour” of a motion are of a greater number than the
number of votes cast “opposed” to the motion).

1.6.

A question once decided cannot be brought up again at the same plenary session. If it
should be necessary to rescind a motion that has been passed, notice of intention can be
given at one plenary session and dealt with at the next plenary session.

1.7.

If a motion is defeated, it may not be reintroduced except in the form of a new proposal
sufficiently varied in its terms to constitute a different question, and the assembly itself
may determine whether or not it does in fact constitute a new question.
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2.

3.

4.

10.2 Standing Rules of Order for the Sask Synod

Amendments

2.1.

An amending motion must be strictly relevant to the main motion. It must not alter in a
material way the principle embodied in the main motion but should merely vary its terms in
one or more particulars.

2.2.

An amendment may be moved to the amendment. It must not materially alter the
underlying intent of either the original amendment or the main motion.

2.3.

If a member wishes to move an amendment, but it is not in order at the time in view of the
fact that two amendments are already before the meeting, notice of the amendment may
be given as this proposal might affect the vote on the amendments that are awaiting
decisions.

Special Motions
3.1.

A motion to adjourn debate or the meeting must be seconded and voted immediately. It is
not debatable.

3.2.

A motion to proceed to the next business without completing the previous business must
be seconded and voted immediately. It is not debatable.

3.3.

A motion to call for the question must be seconded and may be debated. If the motion to
call for the question fails, debate on the matter before the convention will proceed until
the convention is prepared to vote on the motion. (In Bourinot’s Rules if the motion fails,
the main motion will be temporarily set aside.)

3.4.

A motion to table to a specified time or indefinitely must be seconded and is debatable.

3.5.

A motion to refer must be seconded, may be amended, and debated but only with respect
to the reference or committal, not the main subject at issue.

3.6.

Generally, the distinction is made that motions dealing with substantial issues on which
there will obviously be varying opinions are open to debate, while those dealing with
procedural matters are not debatable.

3.7.

A substitute motion cannot be made. If a delegate wishes, “notice of motion” may be
given. This means that if the current question being debated is defeated, a different
motion may then be introduced at the same plenary session or later.

3.8.

A motion to suspend the Bylaws or Standing Rules of Order shall require a two-thirds
majority of the delegates present.

Point of Order
A point of order should be raised when the alleged irregularity occurs; it is not acceptable if other
proceedings have intervened.
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5.
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Debate
A delegate wishing to speak to a question before the assembly shall proceed to a microphone and
wait to be recognized by the chair. Upon recognition, the delegate shall state their name and the
congregation they represent before addressing the question.

6.

Governing Parliamentary Law
The governing parliamentary law of this Synod is Bourinot’s Rules of Order, latest edition. The
general principles of Bourinot are as follows:
6.1. Proper opportunity is afforded to all concerned for an expression of opinion.
6.2. Rights of a minority are respected.
6.3. Clear decisions are reached.
6.4. Proceedings are governed by an assessment of the issues rather than by personality
factors.
For any procedure not outlined in this section, appeal is to be made to Bourinot’s.
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10.3 Sask Synod Fact Sheet

SASKATCHEWAN SYNOD
FACT SHEET
Membership
Saskatchewan Synod (Sask Synod) is one of five synods in the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada (ELCIC) which is a
member of Lutheran World Federation (LWF)
Office
#6 – 2220 Northridge Drive, Saskatoon, SK S7L 6X8 (Canada)
Telephone:
306.244.2474
Email:
info@sasksynod.ca
Web site:
www.sasksynod.ca
Organized
In 1986 through merger of the former Evangelical Lutheran Church of Canada (ELCC) and Lutheran Church in America–
Canada Section (LCA–CS)
Officers
Bishop
Chairperson
Vice-Chairperson
Secretary
Treasurer

Rev. Dr. Sidney Haugen (Bishop Sid)
Rev. Doug Schmirler
Cindy Hoppe
Cheryl Bauer-Hyde
Lyndon Carlson

Synod Staff
Anna-Marie Skogsrud, Office Manager, three quarter-time
Judy Parker, Executive Assistant, part-time
Rev. Jerry Borkowsky, Assistant to the Bishop, part-time
Rev. Dennis Serfas, Assistant to the Bishop, part-time
Contract workers for Synod
Monica Johnson, Finance Manager (approx. 1 day/week)
Anno Bell, Canada Lutheran Sask Synod Insert Editor (pay per issue)
Rev. Michael Diegel: Synod Archivist (volunteer agreement)
Mission Statement
“The mission of this church, as an expression of the universal Church and as an instrument of the Holy Spirit, is to bring
the Gospel of Jesus Christ to people in Canada and around the world through the proclamation of the Word, the
administration of the Sacraments and through service in Christ’s name.” (ELCIC Constitution)
“As the regional expression of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada in faithfulness to the Lord of the Church, this
synod shall facilitate and advance the mission of this church within its territory and in cooperation with the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada. Guided and empowered by the Holy Spirit, it shall carry out this mission by shepherding its
congregations synodically recognized ministries and rostered ministers, and by engaging in other forms of ministry,
which proclaim God’s Word and serve to bring reconciliation to the world.” (Sask Synod Constitution)
Strategic Plan Statements
Vision – Creatively transforming how to be church.
Mission – To use our God-given gifts to make a difference in the world.
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Structure
The Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada functions through three major entities: nationally as the ELCIC, regionally as
synods, and locally as congregations. Each entity has unique ministries as well as ministries which are shared with the
other entities.

Annual Goal for Benevolence Offerings from Congregations
2020 – $419,666.62 received; 2021 - $420,000 budgeted
Membership (approximate)
108 congregations; 19,977 baptized members; 121 ordained pastors; 3 diaconal ministers
Geographical Territory
The province of Saskatchewan plus four congregations located in western Manitoba
Governance
Synod Convention elects a Synod Council of 12 members plus officers. Committees include Finance and Audit, Mission in
Ministry, Candidacy, Western Examining, Lutheran Campus Ministry-Saskatoon, Companion Synod, Funding Allocation,
and others appointed as needed.
Care Facilities & Chaplaincies
Synod ministries:
 LutherCare Communities
 St. Paul Lutheran Home, Melville
Ministries with whom we have a MOU or formal agreement
 LuMinHoS (formerly Lutheran Care Society Hospital Chaplaincy), Saskatoon
 Eden Care, Regina
Schools & Campus Ministries on Synod Territory
Synod Ministry
 Lutheran Campus Ministry, College Drive and Wiggins Ave, Saskatoon
Ministries on Synod Territory with whom we have an MOU or formal agreement
 Luther High School, Dewdney Avenue, Regina
 Luther College University, University of Regina Campus, Regina
 Lutheran Collegiate Bible Institute, Outlook
 Lutheran Theological Seminary, University of Saskatchewan Campus, Saskatoon
Ministries on Synod Territory with whom Synod has a MOU or formal agreement
Indigenous Christian Fellowship, Regina
Kinasao Bible Camp, Christopher Lake
Prairie Centre for Ecumenism, Saskatoon
Companion Synod
Iglesia Evangelica Luterana Unida (IELU - United Ev. Lutheran Church of Argentina)
In Full Communion with the Anglican Church of Canada
Diocese of Qu’Appelle, Diocese of Saskatoon, and Diocese of Saskatchewan
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GLOSSARY OF COMMON TERMS AND ACRONYMS
ACC - Anglican Church of
Canada

A church in full communion with the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada
since the Waterloo Declaration signed in 2001.

Agenda

The listing of proceedings for the convention. It is adopted as one of the first
orders of business.

Benevolence

Offerings forwarded from congregations to the Saskatchewan Synod for
general operations; Sask Synod forwards a percentage of benevolence to the
ELCIC National Church

Bishop

The chief executive officer of the synod and chief pastoral leader to
congregations, rostered ministers, and conferences of the synod.

Bourinot’s Rules of Order

Bourinot’s Rules of Order rules are the official parliamentary rules of the
ELCIC which provide a framework on which to structure our deliberations.
The basics are summarized in the Standing Rule of Order for the Sask Synod
section.

Bulletin of Reports

The compilation of reports and documents provided to every delegate and
registered visitor.

CLWR - Canadian Lutheran
World Relief

The agency that assists both the ELCIC and Lutheran Church-Canada (LC-C) in
joint relief and development work around the world.

CECF - Church Extension and
Capital Fund

An ELCIC-administered fund that provides loans for specific mission projects,
especially the building of new churches, and that provides allocations to each
synod for new mission initiatives.

CLAY – Canadian Lutheran
Anglican Youth

A joint youth initiative of the ELCIC and Anglican Church that coordinates
biennial youth events in Canada. A goal is to celebrate the Full Communion
relationship of the ELCIC and the ACC and encourage youth to live out that
relationship in their home contexts

Convention Committees

Committees appointed by the Bishop to serve specific functions during the
convention.

Corporation Meeting

A “meeting within the convention” during which the stakeholder meeting of a
health care corporation affiliated with the synod takes place.

Deaconess

Member of a “Sisterhood of Service” who provides a ministry of service
within the deaconess community, the church community and to the secular
community. The sisterhood is committed to a life of prayer as well as service
and regular retreat to the community’s motherhouse. All those persons who
have been set apart as deaconesses and currently serve in the ELCIC are
included on the roster of Diaconal Ministers.

Diaconal Minister

A diaconal minister in the ELCIC is called by and publicly serves the church
with primary responsibility for witnessing to the gospel through a ministry of
service mandated by the Word and Sacraments that enables and equips the
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people of God in their ministry. Examples of this area of ministry are:
Christian education worker, congregational outreach coordinator, youth
worker, parish worker, parish nurse and parish administrator.
ELFEC – Evangelical Lutheran
Foundation of Eastern Canada

ELFEC has a three-fold mission: to help congregations manage and grow
investments, to help individuals leave gifts to the Church, and to grant money
to Lutheran charities and other church-related projects.

ELCA - Evangelical Lutheran
Church in America

Our sister church of over 5 million Lutherans in the United States and the
Caribbean. Synods and the National Church work cooperatively with the ELCA
on many occasions.

ELCIC - Evangelical Lutheran
Church in Canada

The national denomination to which we belong. The National Offices are
located in Winnipeg where the National Bishop presides over the work of the
church and the national staff.

GSI – Group Services Inc.

A separately incorporated subsidiary of the ELCIC responsible for the
administration of the pension and employee benefits plan.

IELU

Evangelical Lutheran Church in Argentina – Companion Synod to the
Saskatchewan Synod since 2001.

Intern

A seminary student who is serving a parish under a rostered minister’s
supervision in order to gain practical experience. In some parishes an intern is
called a vicar. Internships may be for ordained or for diaconal ministry.

LCBI – Lutheran Collegiate and
Bible Institute

A school of the ELCIC located in Outlook, Saskatchewan providing three years
of high school education for Lutherans and others.

LCC

LutherCare Communities

LC-C – Lutheran Church-Canada

A denominational grouping of Lutherans with whom the ELCIC shares in the
work of CLWR.

LPG – Lutheran Planned Giving

This program assists the church, congregations, and individuals to plan for the
stewardship of their assets. Pivotal to this work is assisting individuals with
tax and estate planning.

LTS – Lutheran Theological
Seminary

One of the two seminaries of the ELCIC, located in Saskatoon, which offers
opportunities for individuals to pursue academic and theological training in
preparation for service in church and society. LTS is owned by the four
western synods of the ELCIC.

Luther College

A school of the ELCIC located in Regina, Saskatchewan providing four years of
high school education for Lutherans and others on its high school campus, and
university education through Luther College, a federated college of the
University of Regina.

LWF – Lutheran World
Federation

The international communion of churches of which the ELCIC is a member.
The headquarters are in Geneva, Switzerland. World membership is over 68
million gathered in 38 churches in 77 countries.
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LWF – NA – LWF North America
Region

A continental grouping of LWF member churches whose activities are
administered by a regional coordinator. Membership includes the ELCA,
ELCIC, Estonian Evangelical Lutheran Church Abroad and the Lithuanian
Evangelical Lutheran Church in Diaspora.

MiM

Mission in Ministry Committee – a standing committee of the Sask Synod.

National Bishop

The Chief Pastor and Chief Executive Officer of the ELCIC. The National Bishop
is responsible to the National Convention and the National Church Council for
the oversight and administration of national church priorities and is the
convener of the Conference of Bishops.

NCC – National Church Council

The governing body responsible for overseeing the work of the ELCIC between
conventions. It is made up of members nominated from the five synods, both
rostered ministers and lay members, who are elected at the National
Convention. The synod bishops are advisory members of NCC

PCLM

ELCIC Program Committee for Leadership for Ministry

PCYM

ELCIC Program Committee for Youth Ministry

PCW

ELCIC Program Committee for Worship

Schedule

The broad timeline for the highlights of the convention. The agenda covers
the details for the convention.

Synod Council

The governing body responsible for overseeing the work of the Synod
between conventions. It is made up of officers and members elected at the
Synod Convention and representing the six conferences of the synods, both
rostered ministers and lay persons.

UCC

United Church of Canada

Youth Assembly

Youth and young adults who have been appointed to represent the concerns
and points of view of youth at the synod convention. The Youth Assembly
members are voting delegates at the synod convention.
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2018 Saskatchewan Synod Convention Minutes

Strengthening faith communities for service
Seventeenth Biennial Convention of the
Saskatchewan Synod of the ELCIC
June 8 - 9, 2018
Luther College, University of Regina
Regina, Saskatchewan
We acknowledge that we are on the traditional lands, referred to as Treaty 4 Territory,
the original lands of the Cree, Ojibwe, Saulteaux, Dakota, Nakota, Lakota,
and the homeland of the Métis Nation.
We respect and honour the Treaties that were made on all territories,
we acknowledge the harms and mistakes of the past, and
we are committed to move forward in partnership with Indigenous Nations
in the spirit of reconciliation and collaboration

Friday, June 8, 2018; 10:30 am
Delegates, volunteers and visitors gathered to open the 17th biennial convention of the
Saskatchewan Synod of the ELCIC.
Opening worship:
Host – Luther College, Regina
Presider – National Bishop Susan Johnson
Preacher – SK Synod Bishop Sid Haugen
Worship Assistant – Rev. Sean Bell
Musical Director – Rev. Dennis Hendricksen
Pianist – Joshua Hendricksen
Musicians – Lyle Buddecke, Brent Ghiglione, Dave Dick,
Dominic Ghiglione, Mark Preece
Readers – Deacon Gretchen Peterson; Rev. Linda Hall
Lessons – 1 Samuel 3:1-10; Psalm 130; 2 Corinthians 4:5-12; Gospel Mark 3:20-35
Recognition of Rostered Ministers - Anniversaries:
10 years – Rev. Colette Baker, Rev. Sonja Finnestad, Rev. Linda Hall,
Rev. Janet Kostyna, Deacon Gretchen Peterson, Rev. Fran Schmidt,
Rev. Lisa Skogsrud, Rev. Dr. Ali Tote
25 years – Rev. Daphne Bender, Rev. Liz Kuglin-Alyea, Rev. Robert Langdon,
Rev. Pat Simonson
40 years – Rev. Frank Armistead, Rev. Clayton Beish, Rev. Jerry Borkowsky,
Rev. Rik Hordern, Rev. Craig Moeller, Rev. Michael Poellet
50 years – Rev. Dr. Erwin Buck, Rev. Bob Jarock, Rev. Helmut Nachtigall,
Rev. Dr. Kenneth Neumann
60 years – Rev. Henry Borgardt, Rev. Gene Grant, Rev. Edward Hedlin
Remembrance of those who have died:Rev. Lewis Booth
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The service closed with the Order for Opening of Convention.
Chaplain Dennis Fingas led the convention in grace, and indicated that he and Rev. Dennis
Serfas would share chaplain service over the term of the convention. The convention recessed
for lunch at 12:00 pm.
Synod in Convention - Plenary One
Friday, June 8; 1:00 pm
Chair Sheldon Gattinger called the meeting to order, and welcomed delegates, visitors, guests,
and representatives of associated organizations. He introduced the platform table – Vice Chair
Valerie Davies; Secretary Cheryl Bauer Hyde; Treasurer Lyndon Carlson; Bishop Sid Haugen.
Chaplain Dennis Fingas provided the opening prayer.
Luther College President, Bryan Hillis, provided greeting and welcome to the SK Synod
convention.
Vice-Chair Valerie Davies walked the delegates through an orientation session drawing attention
to the name tag lanyards, Bulletin of Reports, Standing Rules of Order, speaking at microphones,
voting cards, and recognition of the Stewards including Head Steward Margaret Fast.
Convention Manager, Joan Meyer provided announcements and facility details.
Chair Sheldon introduced the Convention Committees, which assist the convention with various
roles:
Committee on Registration and Attendance: Karen Harilstad, Donna Lovberg,
Sharon Solheim
Committee on Nominations: (Synod Governance Committee) Cheryl Bauer Hyde,
Merv Bender, Tami Halvorson, Rev. Sheldon Gattinger, Bishop Sid Haugen
Committee on Elections: Bernie Bjorndalen, Cindy Vanthuyne, Rev. Bob Lewis,
Rev. Stewart Miller, Rev. Victoria Mwamasika
Committee on Minutes: Joan Lenz, Lynn Piper, Rev. Kim Sherwin
Committee on Reference and Counsel: Daryl Nelson, Doug Soveran, Rev. Roger Haugen,
Rev. Liz Kuglin-Alyea, Deacon Gretchen Peterson
Chair Sheldon introduced ELCIC National Bishop Susan Johnson, and the Synod staff – Joan
Meyer, Lindsay Tomtene, Howie Wall, Rev. Lori James, and Rev. Dennis Serfas.
Bishop Sid introduced the clergy who have joined the Synod during this Biennium:
Emmanuel Aristide, Sarah Mowatt, Cindy Werner, Brad Wudrich (UCC), Nora Borgeson
(UCC), Marie-Louise Ternier (ACC), Lauren Miller (ACC), William Harrison (ACC), Munye
Mtata.

June 4-5, 2021

Page 138 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

10.5 Minutes of the 2018 Convention

Rev. George Hind and Rev. Zsofi Schmiedge recognized the Youth delegates. There are four
youth delegates attending the convention, and all are encouraged to engage in discussion with
them.
All delegates 30 years and younger are invited to meet at lunch tomorrow to have conversation
about the future of our church.
Granting Seat and Voice
SSC-18-01 MSC that seat and voice be granted to: National Bishop Susan Johnson, Synod
Staff, and representatives of our affiliated agencies and organizations in attendance.
Registration and Attendance Report - as of 1:14 pm, June 8
62
Lay delegates (including youth)
75
Rostered delegates
137
Voting Delegates
22
Visitors
159
persons registered for the convention
Approval of the Agenda
SSC-18-02 MSC that the proposed agenda for the convention be approved.
Approval of the Minutes of the 2016 Convention
SSC-18-03 MSC that the Minutes of the 2016 Convention be approved as distributed.
Constitution / Bylaw Amendments
Secretary Cheryl Bauer Hyde and Bishop Sid introduced the process leading to the Constitution /
Bylaw Amendments, beginning six years ago with the Dream Team, then the Future With Hope
Task Force. Extensive consultation has taken place over that time period. Support was received
from Bishop Cindy Halmarson, Bishop Sid, Synod Councils, the Future With Hope Task Force,
and Synod Project Manager Joan Meyer.
Bishop’s Report
Chair Sheldon called on Bishop Sid for his report. The report is located within the Bulletin of
Reports, and he provided an oral overview including the priority areas of the Strategic Plan:
build leadership capacity, operate as one team, and inspire love and service.
Bishop Sid noted the changes in Administrative Team with Howie Wall and Joan Meyer’s
departures. He expressed thanks to Howie and Joan, and noted that Joan had been absent for
acknowledgement at the Synod Council meeting. Joan was called forward for presentation of
cards and a token of appreciation, and all rose to express their thanks for her long-standing
service.
There was a comment offered from the floor with respect to lay ministry with encouragement to
accelerating the discussion to provide sacraments especially as it relates to rural congregations
who are unable to attract / afford a rostered minister and consequently are suffering without
delivery of the sacraments at their worship services.
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National Bishop
Chair Sheldon invited Bishop Susan Johnson to provide her report. Bishop Susan noted that we
are gathered on Treaty Four land, and referred to her written report highlighting the 2018
Strategic Directions – Courageous Innovation, Reconciled Relationships, One Body Working
Together, Empowered Disciples. She provided an update on the Reformation Challenge:
- 548 refugees sponsored
- 206 scholarships for ELCJHL schools
- 97,505 trees planted in Canada, Ethiopia and the West Bank
- $159,050 donated to the LWF Endowment Fund
Bishop Susan announced that the 2019 National Convention would be held at Luther College
from July 11 – 13, 2019; ‘Called to Journey Together’.
First Ecclesiastical Ballot for Bishop
Bishop Susan referred delegates to page 221 of the Bulletin of Reports ‘How A Synodical
Bishop is Chosen’. Chaplain Dennis Serfas provided a prayer of reflection and discernment.
Delegates were then instructed to use the grey ballot provided in their convention packets, and to
write the name of their nomination for Bishop. It was indicated that to elect on the first ballot,
the nominee must receive 75% of the votes cast. The Stewards collected the ballots, and vote
was declared closed.
Evangelical Lutheran Foundation of Eastern Canada (ELFEC)
Jeff Pym, Executive Director, brought greetings, and invited delegates to sign up for a lunch and
learn session on Saturday.
The convention recessed for refreshments provided by ELFEC at 3:00 pm.
Synod in Convention - Plenary Two
Friday, June 8; 3:30 pm
Chair Sheldon called the meeting to order.
Chaplain Dennis Serfas opened the session with prayer.
Bert Ottenson, Indigenous Christian Fellowship (formerly Indian Metis Christian Fellowship)
brought greetings on behalf of Bert Adema and the ICF Board. He also introduced Board
Member Glenda Hunter-Marquardt and staff member Betty Krohn. Bert expressed thanks to the
Lutheran congregations for their support.
Registration and Attendance Report - as of 3:20 pm, June 8, 2018
62
Lay delegates (including youth)
74
Rostered delegates
136
Voting Delegates
23
Visitors
159
persons registered for the convention
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Synod Secretary Report
Secretary Cheryl was called on for the Secretary’s report. She updated the printed report on page
10 (Lyndon Carlson withdrew his resignation as Treasurer), page 12 (CTEL Committee –
Bishop’s Designate is Rev. Lori James). She requested delegates review the various committees
and contact her or the office if there was any interest on serving on these committees. New
members are vital to maintaining functioning committees.
The following changes to the printed Roster changes were noted:
- Removed from roster – Rev. Michelle Moore should be ACC (not UCC); delete Rev.
Carla Blakley by transfer to Manitoba/Northern Ontario Synod
- On Leave from Call: Rev. Mark Kleiner, parental – Year 1 through to June 2019
- Receive by reinstatement: Rev. Carlton Larsen, upon receipt of a call
- Receive by ordination: Marja Hordern, pending completion of studies and receipt
and acceptance of a call
Treasurer’s Report
Treasurer Lyndon Carlson was called upon for the financial report of the Synod. He highlighted
the use of Synod Funds in support for the Synod, the National Church, and the organizations
supported directly by Synod financial resources.
The audit of the Synod accounts is done by the Virtus Group. Lyndon expressed thanks to
Howie Wall for his service, and noted that Lindsay Tomtene would be assuming these duties.
Synod Council Reports – written reports for provided for the following with each chairperson
or Synod Council representative noting the page of the report.
Chairperson’s report (Sheldon Gattinger)
2016 Convention Motions (Sheldon Gattinger)
Strategic Plan – Strengthening Faith Communities For Service (Cheryl Bauer Hyde)
Finance & Audit Committee – budget (Lyndon Carlson)
Compensation Guidelines (Sean Bell)
Funding Allocation Committee (Merv Bender)
Governance Committee (Cheryl Bauer Hyde)
Congregational Constitution Committee (Arlene Tangjerd)
Future with Hope Task Force (Cindy Hoppe, Bob Lewis) – This task force has
concluded its work with the proposed Constitution/Bylaw amendments for consideration
in Plenary 3.
Standing Committee Reports
Committee for Theological Education and Leadership (CTEL) – Eldon Danielson
noted the recommendation for a name change to Candidacy Committee (CCOM).
Mission in Ministry Committee – Linda Hall indicated that this could be thought of as
the ‘Mission Imagining Ministry’ Committee.
Lutheran Campus Ministry – Mark Hedlin noted the departure of Chaplin Paul
Sartison, and the call to George Hind for one-third time. The University of Saskatchewan
has established the Faith Leadership Council for spiritual care to students through the
new Wellness Centre.
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Western Examining Committee – Bishop Sid indicated that the committee is currently
dealing with two candidates from SK Synod.
Reference & Counsel Committee – Report #1 – no report
Election Committee – results of Bishop Nominating Ballot
Committee member Stuart Miller announced the results:
132 voting delegates:
Bell, Sean
1
Borkowsky, Jerry
1
Hall, Linda
5
Felstrom, Trent
1
Haugen, Roger
1
Haugen, Sid
102
James, Lori
1
Kristjánsdóttir, Íris 1
Mwamasika, Victoria 2
Schmidt, Fran
1
Schmiedge, Zsofi
3
Schmirler, Doug
1
Stepko, Karen
2
Tote, Ali
10
Ballots cast 132; Ballots spoiled 0; Needed to elect 99 (75%)
With 102 ballots, Sid Haugen was declared elected.
Bishop Sid addressed the convention indicating that his election was an affirmation of the work
of the Administrative and Pastoral Teams, and the office of the Bishop. He accepted the call to
Bishop, and asked for continued support, partnership in the gospel, patience (and more patience)
and prayer. The convention responded with a standing ovation.
Chaplain Pastor Dennis Serfas lead the convention in prayer.
Chair Sheldon invited the convention to ‘share the peace’.
Reports from the ELCIC Schools
LCBI (We Would See Jesus): President Wayne Hove acknowledged two Past Presidents in
attendance, Dan Haugen and Roger Haugen. He provided a video which had been produced by
the students indicating why they attended and supported LCBI. He concluded with an appeal for
continued financial support as donations have been very low for the first five months of 2018.
Luther College (Quality education in a Christian context): President Bryan Hillis
acknowledge three board members in attendance, Chair Dave Solheim, Lyndon Carlson, and
Daryl Nelson. He indicated that enrollment at Luther High is at 460, and almost 700 at Luther
College. Donations help to fund diversity students. The SK Act of Incorporation is currently
being updated.
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Convention Manager Joan provided information regarding travel expense forms, visiting the
display areas during breaks, check out times for tomorrow, and the evening session with keynote
speaker Melanie Delva.
Chaplain Pastor Dennis Serfas concluded this session with a prayer and table grace.
The convention recessed for the evening meal at 5:30pm.
June 8, 2018, Evening Session
Vice-Chair Val called the convention to order at 7:00pm, and called on Bishop Sid to introduce
Keynote Speaker Melanie Delva.
Melanie is the Reconciliation Animator for the Anglican Church of Canada. She spoke of her
role with ACC, as it relates to the effects of colonization which she characterized as ‘a unique
kind of evil’. Melanie views reconciliation as a spiritual practice with the following
characteristics:
- Accessible to all,
- Exercised in the midst of everyday life … and yet interrupts ‘normalcy’,
- Takes practice,
- Inward and outward manifestations.
Melanie provided information regarding the ACC response to Truth and Reconciliation, and the
reconciliation toolkit which can be accessed on the ACC website.
The assembly participated in table discussion questions provided by Melanie:
1. Something I hadn’t thought about or realized is …
2. Something I would like to know more about is …
3. The way this relates to my spiritual journey is …
4. One thing I would like to do now is …
Several delegates rose to provide their personal or group discussion responses, with thanks
expressed to Melanie for her powerful and meaningful message. Chair Val provided a thank you
and token of appreciation to Melanie on behalf of the SK Synod.
Canadian Lutheran World Relief (CLWR)
Carla Blakley, Community Relations Director, provided greetings and an invitation to attend the
social time in Luther’s Cellar sponsored by CLWR.
The convention recessed at 8:30 pm for evening prayer.
Evening Prayer:
Holden Evening Prayer, Marty Haugen
Presiders – Rev. Sarah Dymund and Rev. Zsofi Schmiedge
Pianist – Michael Dymund
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Synod in Convention - Plenary Three
Saturday, June 9
Morning Worship at 8:30 am:
Presider – Rev. Dennis Hendricksen
Reader – Marja Hordern
Pianist – Rev. Dennis Hendricksen
Musician – Carlton Larsen
Lessons – Psalm 138; Galatians 3:26-28
Chair Sheldon called the meeting to order at 9:00 am.
Registration and Attendance Report - as of 8:30 am, June 9, 2018
58
Lay delegates (including youth)
73
Rostered delegates
131
Voting Delegates
27
Visitors
158
persons registered for the convention
Bylaw Amendments
SSC-18-04 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part I Headquarters, replaced ‘headquarters’ with ‘Synod Office’.
Section 1.
The headquarters of this synod Synod Office shall be located in Saskatoon.
Section 2.
All executive offices shall be located at the headquarters of the synod Synod
Office unless otherwise approved by Synod Council.
SSC-18-05 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part II Organizational Relationships, delete Section 2 Conferences, and amend Section 4
Specialized Ministries number c. by adding ‘when requested’, and renumber the Sections.
Section 2.
Conferences (Constitution, Article X)
This synod shall be divided into six conferences as follows: Weyburn, Swift
Current, Regina, Yorkton, Saskatoon, and Prince Albert.
a. All members of the congregations are encouraged to attend conference meetings.
The voting membership shall be all ordained ministers and diaconal ministers
residing within the territory of the conference, and two lay delegates from each
congregation. Congregations having more than three hundred baptized members
shall be entitled to an additional lay member for each additional three hundred
baptized members or major fraction thereof.
b. The bishop of the synod or the bishop’s appointee shall attend the conference
meetings.
c. The purpose of the conferences shall be to:
i. Assist its congregations and this synod in planning, promoting and
implementing the mission of this church;
ii. Encourage fellowship among ordained and diaconal ministers and
congregations;
iii. Arrange opportunities for the study of the Bible and Lutheran confessions;
iv. Respond in consultation with this synod to particular needs within its territory;
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v. Elect the required number of ordained ministers as delegates to the conventions
of this church;
vi. Elect or nominate representatives to synodical positions as determined in these
bylaws; and
vii. Elect two youth delegates, who shall be confirmed and between the ages of 15
and 21, to synod convention.
d. A conference may adopt for itself any rules and regulations not in conflict with the
constitution and bylaws of this synod.
e. Each conference shall meet at least once a year at a time and place set by the
conference. Conferences shall designate their own quorums.
f. Each conference shall have the right to petition this synod according to procedures
set forth in these bylaws, Part V, Section 8.
g. Each conference shall elect from its membership a dean, a secretary and at least
two other persons who shall constitute a conference council. Election shall be for
a two-year term. The dean shall be an ordained minister.
h. The conference council shall appoint persons to fill all vacancies in its council
membership.
i. The dean of each conference shall make a written report to this synod through the
bishop.
j. The deans of the conferences and the bishop shall meet at least once a year for
spiritual renewal and for general discussion of programs, plans and problems
affecting conferences and the synod. Except where otherwise provided in this
constitution and its bylaws, the function of such a meeting shall be consultative and
advisory.
k. The bishop may call upon the deans of the conferences to assist in the duties of
installations and pastoral care of the ministers and congregations in their
conferences.
Section 4. c. Synod council may, when requested, appoint a representative to the board of directors
of each affiliated agencies or institutions.
SSC-18-06 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part III Rostered Ministers – Ordained, Add the word ‘ordained’ before minister
throughout Part III, Section 1, change ‘designated’ to ‘in consultation; Section 2, remove
the word ‘manual’; Section 5, remove the word ‘only’, add ‘may implement an
investigation, remove reference to ‘conference dean’; move ii to part iv; iii / iv remove
‘Appoint an advisory committee’; v. add ‘if applicable; and renumber; Section 6 change
wording to match the Letter of Call; Section 8 change wording to reflect actual practice;
Section 9 remove; Section 10 remove reference to conferences.
Section 1. Ordination of approved candidates shall take place at a time and place, designated by
in consultation with the bishop.
Section 2. The synod shall have a call process manual approved by synod council. A congregation
wishing to extend a call shall follow the general procedures set out in the call process
manual unless otherwise advised by the bishop due to unusual circumstances.
Section 4. An ordained minister shall inform the congregational council and the bishop
immediately upon receipt of a call to another ministry, and shall inform the calling
agency and the bishop of any decision made within thirty days unless an extension is
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granted by mutual consent of all the parties involved. An ordained minister shall
terminate an existing call within two months of accepting another call, unless an
extension is granted by mutual consent of all the parties involved.
Section 5. a. Termination of Call
When no term is specified, a regular call accepted by an ordained minister to a
congregation shall constitute a relationship which may be terminated only for the
following causes:
i. Resignation of the ordained minister;
ii. Disqualification of the ordained minister as a result of discipline;
iii. Division of the pastoral charge;
iv. Incapacity of the ordained minister, either physical or mental;
v. Continued neglect of ministry by the ordained minister;
vi. Inability to conduct the ministerial office satisfactorily in a congregation in
view of local conditions, without reflection on the moral and spiritual character of
the ordained minister.
b. In the conditions set out in Section 5, iv,v,vi, the bishop or designate may implement
an investigation which may involve appointment of an advisory committee according
to the following:
i. In consultation with the conference dean, appoint an advisory committee of two
ordained ministers and two lay members to investigate. Upon the request of the
congregational council or on receipt of a petition signed by at least one-third of
the voting members of a congregation, the bishop shall appoint an advisory
committee to investigate.
ii. With the concurrence of the congregational council, suspend the minister from
ministerial duties pending the outcome of the formal proceedings when
circumstances warrant.
ii. Appoint an advisory committee to investigateAn allegation of physical or
mental disability which shall secure medical testimony to confirm or refute such
allegation. If incapacity is confirmed, the bishop may, on the advice of the
committee and with the concurrence of the congregational council, declare the
pastorate vacant. Should the ordained minister be restored to health, the bishop
shall take steps to enable the ordained minister to resume ministry in the
congregation last served or in another ministry.
iii. An advisory committee appointed to investigateAn allegation of neglect of
ministry or of local conditions that imperil the well-being of a congregation
shall provide an opportunity for all concerned parties to be heard.
iv. With the concurrence of the congregational council, the bishop or designate
may suspend the ordained minister from ministerial duties pending the
outcome of formal proceedings when circumstances warrant.
v. At the conclusion of an investigation, the bishop, in company with the
committee if applicable, shall bring recommendations to the ordained minister
and the congregation for consideration and action. Such counsel shall be
offered in Christian love and is not to be regarded as a disciplinary measure.
If the situation cannot be resolved amicably, the ordained minister may resign,
or the congregation may terminate the call by a majority vote at a properly
called congregational meeting.
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Section 6. An ordained minister shall Preach the Word, administer the Sacraments of Holy
Communion and Holy Baptism, and conduct public worship in harmony with the faith
and practices of the church; equip, train and mentor all God’s people for ministry in
all areas of spiritual renewal and faith formation; shall baptize, confirm and marry in
accordance with the teaching of the church and with the laws of the province or
territory; shall visit the sick and distressed and bury the dead; strive for righteousness,
godliness, faith, love, endurance and gentleness; shall inculcate piety in individual and
family life and provide pastoral leadership to all schools and auxiliary organizations of
the congregation; shall install members of the Congregational Council and, with the
council, administer discipline; shall seek out and encourage qualified persons to
prepare for therostered ministry; of the Gospel and strive to extend the Kingdom of
God in the community, at home and abroad; and shall encourage the members to be
generous in support of the ministry of the congregation, the synod and the church;
commend members who move to the pastoral care of the parish in which their new
home is located.
Section 7. An ordained minister shall not preach or perform any ministerial act within the parish
of another minister except at the latter’s request or consent, or visit or perform
ministerial acts in a time of a ministerial vacancy, except by invitation of the interim
minister or congregational council.
Section 8. The ordained minister shall ensure that the congregation keeps accurate records of
membership, baptisms, confirmations, marriages, burials and communicants, and shall
report such statistics annually to the secretary of the synod on the forms prescribed by
the church. These records shall be certified as being correct by the congregational
secretary on the same forms. The congregational records shall be kept in a separate
book which shall remain the property of the congregation.
Section 9. When members move, the minister shall commend them to the ministerial care of the
parish in which their new home is located.
Section 10.All ordained ministers serving under call are expected to attend all conventions of this
synod and the meetings of the conferences to which they belong.
SSC-18-07 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part IV Rostered Ministers – Diaconal, Add the word ‘diaconal’ before minister
throughout Part IV, Section 1, change ‘designated’ to ‘in consultation; Section 2, remove
the word ‘manual’; Section 5, remove the word ‘only’, add ‘may implement an
investigation, remove reference to ‘conference dean’; move ii to part iv; iii / iv remove
‘Appoint an advisory committee’; v. add ‘if applicable; and renumber; Section 6 remove
reference to conferences.
Section 1. Consecration of approved candidates shall take place at a time and place, designated
by in consultation with the bishop.
Section 2. The synod shall have a call process manual approved by synod council. A congregation
wishing to extend a call shall follow the general procedures set out in the call process
manual unless otherwise advised by the bishop due to unusual circumstances.
Section 5. a. Termination of Call
When no term is specified, a regular call accepted by a diaconal minister to a
congregation shall constitute a relationship which may be terminated only for the
following causes:
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b. In the conditions set out in Section 5, iv,v,vi, the bishop or designate may implement
an investigation which may involve appointment of an advisory committee according
to the following:
i. In consultation with the conference dean, appoint an advisory committee of two
ordained ministers and two lay members to investigate. Upon the request of the
congregational council or on receipt of a petition signed by at least one-third of the
voting members of a congregation, the bishop shall appoint an advisory committee
to investigate.
ii. With the concurrence of the congregational council, suspend the diaconal minister
from ministerial duties pending the outcome of the formal proceedings when
circumstances warrant.
ii. Appoint an advisory committee to investigateAn allegation of physical or mental
disability which shall secure medical testimony to confirm or refute such allegation.
If incapacity is confirmed, the bishop may, on the advice of the committee and with
the concurrence of the congregational council, declare the pastorate vacant. Should
the diaconal minister be restored to health, the bishop shall take steps to enable the
diaconal minister to resume ministry in the congregation last served or in another
ministry.
iii. An advisory committee appointed to investigateAn allegation of neglect of
ministry or of local conditions that imperil the well-being of a congregation shall
provide an opportunity for all concerned parties to be heard.
iv. With the concurrence of the congregational council, the bishop or designate may
suspend the diaconal minister from ministerial duties pending the outcome of
formal proceedings when circumstances warrant.
v. At the conclusion of an investigation, the bishop, in company with the committee
if applicable, shall bring recommendations to the diaconal minister and the
congregation for consideration and action. Such counsel shall be offered in
Christian love and is not to be regarded as a disciplinary measure. If the situation
cannot be resolved amicably, the diaconal minister may resign, or the
congregation may terminate the call by a majority vote at a properly called
congregational meeting.
Section 6. All diaconal ministers serving under call are expected to attend all conventions of this
synod and the meetings of the conferences to which they belong.
SSC-18-08 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part V Conventions, Section 1, change ‘biennially’ to ‘triennially’ and location/time set
by Synod Council; Section 3, remove conference appointments; Sections 4, 9, 10, change
‘ordained and diaconal’ to ‘rostered’; Section 5, revise quorum; Section 8, remove
reference to conferences; Section 11, add agreement to participate, add number 6, remove
iii (included in iv), vii remove ‘office’, remove b.ii. National Church Council, c. and d.
(conferences).
SSC-18-09 MSC that Part V, Section 3e. be amended to read: A maximum of twelve youth
delegates shall be chosen by Synod Council from a list of nominees submitted by congregations
of the Synod.
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Section 1. The regular conventions of this synod shall be held bi triennially the year prior to the
between national conventions. The location and time of convention shall be set by
Synod Council.
Section 3. e. Youth delegates elected by each conference. A maximum of twelve youth delegates
shall be chosen by Synod Council from a list of nominees submitted by congregations
of the Synod.
Section 4. At least sixty days prior to the opening day of the convention:
a) Each congregation shall submit the name(s) and address(es) of its lay delegates to
the Synod secretary.; and
b) Eachordained and diaconal rostered minister, active, non-parish, and retired, shall
submit his/her name and address to the synod secretary.
Section 5. One-third of the conventionA majority of the registered voting members shall constitute
a quorum.
Section 8. Congregations and conferences may petition this synod in convention by submitting
the petition in writing to the secretary of this synod for inclusion in the bulletin of
reports. If the petition is too late for inclusion in the bulletin of reports, the secretary
shall deliver the petition to the Reference and Counsel Committee for presentation to
the convention.
Section 9. Synod council shall approve the convention budget which will include the participation
of all delegates – lay, rostered and youth, ordained and diaconal. Convention costs
shall be shared among the congregations by dividing the total convention costs by the
total number of confirmed members in this synod times the number of confirmed
members reported by each congregation in their most recent parochial report.
Section 10. Special Conventions
ii. One-fifth of the congregations of this synod and one-fifth of the ordained
rostered ministers under call on its roster.
b. The secretary shall give written notice of a special convention to each congregation,
each ordained minister, and each diaconal rostered minister, and shall publish the
same at least thirty days prior to the opening date of the convention.
iii. Ordained Rostered ministers on the roster of the synod at the time of the
special convention.; and
iv. Diaconal ministers on the roster of the synod at the time of the special
convention.
Section 11.
Nominations and Elections (Constitution, Articles XII-XV)
2. On the first ballot, three-fourths of the votes cast shall elect. If the first ballot
does not result in an election, it shall be considered a nominating ballot.
Thereafter, voting shall be limited to those persons named on the first ballot
and who have consented to participate in the call process and proceed to
second ballot.
iii. Synod council shall nominate the secretary and the treasurer.
iv. The committee on nominations shall provide a nomination nominate at least
two persons for each synod council position, except that of the Bishop.
vii. In all elections, except for that office of the bishop, a majority of the votes cast
shall elect.
b. ii. National Church Council shall appoint 2 members.
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c. The conferences shall elect their own synod standing committee representatives
at their conference conventions.
d. The synod secretary shall inform the conferences in advance of a conference
convention the number of conference representatives on synod standing
committees that need to be elected. Terms take effect immediately following
the conference convention.
SSC-18-10 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part VII Synod Council, Section 1, reduce the number of council position and change
the term of office; Section 2, revisions to clarify role, include vice-chairperson, and other
details.
SSC-18-11 MS that Part VII, Section 1, be revised to add ‘No elected member shall be eligible
for more than two consecutive terms. However, a term of less than three years shall not be
deemed to be a term of office for this purpose. Defeated.
Section 1. The membership of synod council shall be the bishop, secretary and treasurer of the
synod together with 12 8 additional members consisting of an equal number of ordained
rostered ministers and lay persons elected by the convention to serve for four six years
in such manner that the terms of one-half of the elected members shall expire each bi
triennium. There shall be at least one ordained minister and lay person from each
conference. No elected member shall be eligible for more than two consecutive terms.
However, a term of less than two years shall not be deemed to be a term of office for
this purpose.
Section 2. Synod council shall:
a. Plan, coordinate, supervise and evaluate the activities of the synod in carrying out
its mission and ministry, including development of appropriate policies for synod
council; Develop and monitor a Strategic Plan to equip and empower the Synod in
carrying out its mission and ministry, including development of governance
policies for the Synod.
b. Elect a chairperson and vice-chairperson from among its members for a term of
two three years. The election shall be held at the first synod council meeting
following each Synod convention.
d. Issue letters of call to ordained and diaconalrostered ministers who are full-time
officers or staff officials of the synod, or who are called to special service;
h. Appoint a committee on nominations with representation from each
conference;
j. Carry out duties in good faith with a reasonable degree of diligence, care, and skill;
SSC-18-12 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part VIII Duties of the Synod Officers, add a new Section 2 and renumber the
remaining.
Section 2. The vice-chairperson of this synod shall:
a. Assume the duties of the chairperson at the request of the chairperson, or in the event the
chairperson is unable to fulfill the duties of that position; and
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b. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and policy
manuals.
SSC-18-13 MSC – that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part IX Duties of the Bishop, replace Section 1 and add new Section 2.
SSC-18-14 MS that Part IX, Section 1.b. be revised to … ministry of Word, Sacrament and
Service in this synod … Defeated.
Section 1.

The bishop shall be a minister of Word and Sacrament of this church. As this
Synod’s pastor, the bishop shall:
a. Provide spiritual leadership and counsel to this synod, its conventions, and
conferences;
b. Ordain approved candidates for ministry, consecrate approved candidates for
diaconal ministry and provide for the installation into office;
c. Oversee the call process as outlined in the Call Process Manual;
d. Attest to all official documents of the synod as may be required;
e. Appoint the synod archivist/necrologist to maintain historical records on behalf of
this synod;
f. Discipline staff and program committee members in keeping with Biblical
principles and the policies of this synod;
g. Report to synod council and the synod convention all significant matters affecting
the mission and ministry of this synod; and
h. Perform other duties as prescribed in the constitutions and bylaws of this church
and the synod, and the synod council governance and policy manuals.
a. Preach, teach, and administer the sacraments in accord with the Confession of
Faith of this church.
b. Have primary responsibility for the ministry of Word and Sacrament in this synod
and its congregations, providing pastoral care and leadership for this synod, its
congregations and its rostered ministers.
c. Exercise solely this church’s power to ordain (or provide the ordination by
another synodical bishop of) approved candidates who have received and
accepted a properly issued, duly attested letter of call for the office of ordained
ministry. (and as provided in the bylaws of this church.)
d. Consecrate (or provide for the consecration of) approved candidates who have
received
and accepted a properly issued, duly attested letter of call for service as diaconal
ministers of this church.
e. Oversee the call process. Attest letters of call for persons called to serve
congregations in the synod, letters of call for persons called by the Synod
Council.
f. Install (or provide for the installation of) rostered ministers whose calls the
bishop has attested.
g. Interpret and advocate the mission and theology of the synod as a whole.
Section 2. The bishop shall be the chief executive officer of this synod discharging all duties and
obligations of that office as mandated in the constitution, the bylaws and by
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resolution of Synod Council. As the chief executive officer of this synod the bishop
shall:
a. Serve as an ex officio member of all committees of this Synod.
b. Leader in fostering support for and commitment to the mission of this church
within this Synod.
c. Coordinate the use of the resources to achieve the Synod’s Strategic Plan.
d. Advise and counsel the Synod’s affiliated institutions and agencies.
e. Supervise all Synod staff.
f. Form management task forces as are necessary in the life of the Synod.
g. Appoint the synod archivist/necrologist to maintain historical records on behalf of
this Synod.
h. Submit a report to each regular meeting of the Synod Convention and to Synod
Council conserving the Synod’s life and work.
g. Perform other duties as prescribed in the constitutions and bylaws of this church
and the synod, and the synod council governance and policy manuals.
SSC-18-15 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part X Standing Committees, remove Section 1.b., Section 2, remove the second
‘appointed by synod council’ in a.ii., change ‘four’ with ‘six’ year terms in a.iii., remove
‘fall meeting’ in b.ii., remove ‘annually in Saskatoon in February in b.v.; Section 3, change
of name for CTEL, remove conferences and revise length of term in b. and c., remove
readmission in d.; Section 4, remove conferences and revise length of term, change allocate
to recommend in iv.
Section 1. b. No person shall be a member of more than one standing committee at the same
time.
Section 2. ii The Synod Examining Committee shall consist of the bishop and five members
appointed by synod council: one seminary professor, two lay persons, one diaconal
minister, and one ordained minister. appointed by synod council. The committee will
name its own chairperson and secretary.
iii The appointed members shall serve for four six year terms with a two-consecutiveterms limit, staggered so that no more than half are replaced at any one time.
b. ii Annually, at the fall meeting, the synod council shall appoint one lay person
and one rostered person from the synod examining committee to the Western
Synods Examining Committee, making a total of eight persons appointed from the
four participating synods. Of the four rostered persons appointed, at least one
rostered person shall be a diaconal minister, with that position assigned to one of
the synods by agreement of the synod bishops.
v. This committee shall meet annually in Saskatoon in February at a time
determined by the synod bishops and by arrangement of Saskatchewan Synod.
Section 3. The Candidacy Committee for Theological Education and Leadership (Candidacy)
shall be a standing committee of this synod.
a. The Candidacy Committee for Theological Education and Leadership shall be
accountable to synod council and shall report to the council through the office of
the bishop.
b. The Candidacy Committee for Theological Education and Leadership shall consist
of no fewer than four and no more than six members split equally between lay
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persons and rostered ministers and shall be appointed by Synod Council. eight
members. Six of the members shall represent the conferences of this synod, and
shall be appointed by synod council upon nomination by the conference councils.
The other two members will be appointed by synod council at large. Four of the
committee members shall be lay persons, four shall be clergy. The synod bishop
shall be an ex officio member. The committee will name its own chairperson and
secretary.
c. The appointed members shall serve for six four year terms with a two consecutive
term limit, staggered so that no more than half are replaced at any one time.
d. It shall be the duty of this committee to select and endorse candidates for the
ordained and diaconal ministry; review applications to the ministries of the synod
by persons seeking readmission to the rosters of the synod; receive applications
from candidates who come from Lutheran churches with whom mutual recognition
of ministry has not yet been established, or who come from other churches; and
refer candidates to the examining committee for colloquy according to the policies
and procedures established by this church.
Section 4. The Mission in Ministry Committee shall be a standing committee of this synod.
b. The Mission in Ministry Committee shall consist of no fewer than three nor
more than seven four members and not more than six members. The members shall
be appointed by the synod councilin consultation with the conference deans. The
synod bishop, or designate, shall be an ex officio member. Due attention shall be
given to rostered/lay representation. The committee will name its own chairperson
and secretary.
c. The members shall serve for four six year terms with a two consecutive term
limit, staggered so that no more than half are replaced at any one time.
d. iv. Allocate and request Recommend disbursement of Church Extension and
Capital Funds (CECF);
SSC-18-16 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part XI Lutheran Theological Seminary, revise Section 2 to reflect only this Synod;
revise Section 3 and 4 to refer to the LTS Constitution/Bylaws; Section 5 revised to reflect
only this Synod.
Section 2. The board may, in consultation with the church, propose to the synod(s) an increase in
the number of its members, such increase to include an equal number of ordained
ministers and lay persons. Any proposal for increase in the number of members of the
board must have the approval of the synod.(s).
Section 3. Election of Synod representatives to the Lutheran Theological Seminary Board shall
be in accordance with its Constitution, Bylaws and policies. The term of office for each
member of the board shall be four years except in the following cases:
a. Where a member is appointed to fill a vacancy, such appointment shall be by the
synod council and shall be for the remainder of the term of the predecessor.
b. In the case of the first of any new elections in connection with increasing the
number of the said board, the terms of office shall be for two or four years, so
spaced that one-half of the members of the board shall be elected each biennium.
Section 4. Members of the board shall be eligible to serve for not more than two consecutive
terms.
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Section 5. Financial support for the seminary shall be determined by a process of consultation
between the board of governors, this church and Synod Council
SSC-18-17 MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
In Part XII Financial Matters, delete Section 3; revise Section 5 to reflect CPA SK
terminology.
Section 3. Representatives of synod council shall meet with representatives appointed by National
Church Council to agree upon the synod’s commitment goal for support of the budget
of the church during the next fiscal year. These representatives shall recommend for
approval by synod and National Church Council the amount of support to be
transmitted through this synod to the church.
Section 5. The financial accounts of this synod shall be submitted annually for audit to a
professionally designated accountant by synod council. Synod Council shall submit the
financial accounts of this synod annually for audit to a Chartered Professional
Accountant.
Constitutional Amendments (First Reading)
SSC-18-18 MSC that the following constitutional amendments presented for First Reading be
approved.
In Article VI Congregations, Section 3, amend by deleting reference to ‘conferences’, delete
Section 4, and renumber following Sections.
Section 3.
Every congregation of this synod shall choose a delegate or delegates to represent
it at conventions of this synod and at meetings of the conference to which the
congregation is assigned in accordance with procedures as defined in the bylaws
of this synod. An alternate or alternates may act in the stead of the delegate or
delegates in the event of their absence.
Section 4.
The alignment of congregations in parishes shall be subject to approval of Synod
Council.
In Article X Conferences, delete the Article and renumber following Articles.
Section 1.
This synod shall be organized regionally into conferences whose number and
boundaries shall be determined by this synod in convention upon the
recommendation of Synod Council.
Section 2.
The role of the conferences shall be defined in the bylaws of this synod.
In Article XII Synod Council, delete Section 4.
Section 4.
The bishop shall be an ex officio member of Synod Council.
The convention recessed for refreshments at 10:00 am. Workshops ommence at 10:30 am;
followed by lunch at 12:00 pm.
Workshops
First National Culture & Spirituality – Lyndon Linklater, Treaty Commissioners’ Office;
Reconciliation – Annie Battiste, Treaty Commissioners’ Office; Relationships with Indigenous
Peoples – Melanie Delva; Blanket Exercise (KAIROS Blanket Exercise) – Lee Prosper,
Hayley Fayant
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Synod in Convention - Plenary Four
Saturday, June 9; 1:00 pm
Chair Sheldon called the meeting to order. Chaplain Dennis Fingas provided a prayer.
Registration and Attendance Report - as of 12:50 pm, June 9, 2018
64
Lay delegates (including youth)
73
Rostered delegates
137
Voting Delegates
29
Visitors
166
persons registered for the convention
Committee on Nominations
Secretary Cheryl referred to the report provided in the Supplement Bulletin of Reports (page
179).
Nominated for:
Secretary – Cheryl Bauer Hyde
Synod Council (Lay - 4 to be elected) – Jeff Barber, Merv Bender,
Lynda Erlandson, Cindy Hoppe, Darlene Stelmacowich
Synod Council (Rostered – 4 to be elected) – Sean Bell, John Dut,
Liz Kuglin-Alyea, Stewart Miller, Doug Schmirler, Ali Tote
Lutheran Theological Seminary (one member) – Larry Tehse
Ministry Partners’ Reports
Lutheran Theological Seminary – President Rev. Dr. William (Bill) Harrison highlighted
various areas of the written report extending the invitation to ‘Be Challenged’ encouraging
potential ELCIC leaders to ‘Challenge Yourself’; ‘Challenge Others’ ‘Challenge the World’;
Challenge scholarships; and the authorized lay ministry program (more information to follow)
Regina Lutheran Hospital Chaplaincy (Eden Care Communities) – Chaplain Rev. Howard
Ulmer referred to the written report, and added that Regina hospital chaplaincy services contract
will terminate on June 30, 2018, with future plans unknown at this time.
LuMinHoS (Lutheran Ministry in Hospitals of Saskatoon) – Chaplain Rev. Ron Bestvater
distributed a Spiritual Care information/contact card which can be distributed through
congregations, and spoke about the termination of denomination patients lists and partnerships
with social workers and other religious organizations.
Prairie Centre for Ecumenism – Stewart Miller, Board Member, brought greetings on behalf of
Executive Director, Darren Dahl, and referred to the written report.
Elections
SSC-18-19 MSC that nominations for the positions of Synod Secretary, Synod Council, and SK
Synod Lay representative to Lutheran Theological Seminary Board of Directors cease.
Ballots were distributed and collected for the Lay and Rostered positions Synod Council.
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Reference and Counsel Committee – Report #2
Committee of Reference & Counsel recommends that this resolution be considered by the
assembly.
SCC-18-20 Moved by Rev. John Mayer Dut; Seconded by Rev. Ron Bestvater - That thanks,
appreciation, and gratitude be extended to ELCIC, Government of Canada and people for prayers
and pressure to South Sudan leaders to accept Peace, this saves and rescues innocent lives; and
That we continue our prayers in Saskatchewan Synod and across Canada to pray that Almighty
God bring Full Peace to South Sudan people; and
That we encourage those who wish to support humanitarian assistance to the South Sudan people
to channel financial contributions through CLWR. Carried
LutherCare Communities
Tammy Pshebylo, Vice President of Business Development, provided greetings as sponsor of the
refreshment break.
The convention recessed at 2:30 pm for refreshments.
Synod in Convention - Plenary Five
Saturday, June 9; 3:30 pm
Secretary Cheryl called the meeting to order. Chaplain Dennis Serfas provided a prayer.
Registration and Attendance Report - as of 2:50 pm, June 9, 2018
64
Lay delegates (including youth)
73
Rostered delegates
137
Voting Delegates
30
Visitors
167
persons registered for the convention
Canadian Lutheran World Relief (CLWR)
Rev. Dr. Karin Achtelstetter referred to the written report, and quoted Hebrews 13:2 ‘Be not
afraid to entertain strangers: for thereby some have entertained angels unawares’ in reference to
our support of refugees. Karin thanked the church for their humanitarian support through CLWR
and for the warm welcome.
Kinasao Lutheran Bible Camp
Dave Bragg, Development Director, brought greetings and thanks for support of the Kinasao
ministry. He asked for continued involvement with Kinasao program, prayers and financial
contributions.
The convention recessed for the Corporation Meetings at 4:00 pm
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LutherCare Communities: Bishop Sid called the Corporation meeting to order at 4:00 pm.
MSC that the agenda be approved.
MSC that the minutes of the previous corporation meeting be approved.
Executive Report
Allan Scholz, Board Chair, introduced board members in attendance: Karen Harilstad and Joan
Meyer. He thanked retiring board members; Allan Grundahl and Bill Nelson.
Chief Executive Officer, Vivienne Hauck read the report that was contained in the convention
docket, and referred to staff member Tammy Pshebylo in attendance. She noted that mid-term
Board appointments have included Darrell Corkal, Karen Harilstad, Beverly Pavelich.
MSC that the report be adopted.
Election of Board Members
Nominated for their first four-year term:
Barb Jiricka, Dennis Serfas, Ali Tote
Nominated for their second four-year term: Monte Gorchinski, Monica Krueger,
Beverly Pavelich
MSC that nominations cease.
Monte Gorchinski, Barb Jiricka, Monica Krueger, Beverly Pavelich Dennis Serfas, Ali Tote, are
declared elected by acclamation.
Bylaw Amendments
MSC that the following Bylaw amendments be approved.
6.1 LutherCare Communities shall hold a regular General Meeting every second calendar year in
conjunction with and at the same place as the biennial meeting of the Church. in conjunction
with and at the same place as the General Meeting of the Church.
8.2.4 No more than three (3) Directors shall be Associate Members “The majority of the Board of
Directors shall be Members.”
8.6.1 Except as set out in 8.6.2 or 8.6.3 or unless the Director ceases to hold office under 8.8, a
Director holds office from the commencement of the first Board meeting following the regular
General Meeting at which he or she was elected until the commencement of the first Board
meeting following the second next regular General Meeting after being elected provided each
Director shall hold office for a minimum period of (a period of approximately four (4) years and
the Voting Delegates may, by Ordinary Resolution before the elections are held at a regular
General meeting, provide for commencement or end of a Director’s term, as the case may be, to
allow for a rotation of the directors’ terms of office.
8.6.3 To provide for a rotation of Directors' terms of office, the Voting Delegates, by Ordinary
Resolution before the elections are held at a regular General Meeting, may provide that the terms
of office of one or more of the Directors to be elected will expire before the commencement of
the first Board meeting following the second regular General Meeting after being elected.

June 4-5, 2021

Page 157 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

10.5 Minutes of the 2018 Convention

Other Business
In response to a question regarding a meeting with St. Paul Lutheran Home representatives,
Vivienne indicated that LutherCare would have the capacity of providing support, if agreed upon
by both organizations. She indicated there had been a brief meeting which did not include
discussion of an ongoing relationship or followup.
Resolution of ratification:
MSC that any and all actions of the biennial convention of the Saskatchewan Synod, Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada which pertains to the Corporation of LutherCare Communities, are
hereby ratified.
The Corporation meeting was declared adjourned at 4:20 pm
St. Paul Lutheran Home, Melville: Chair Sheldon called the Corporation meeting to order at
4:20 pm.
MSC that the agenda be approved.
MSC that the minutes of the previous corporation meeting be approved.
Executive Report
Bob Edwards, Board Chair, referred to the report provided by Executive Director Kim Bucsis,
and introduced both Kim and Board Secretary, Vivian Roberts. He noted that there may have
been a misunderstanding about the purpose and outcome of the meeting between St. Paul
Lutheran and LutherCare held February 2017.
MSC that the report be adopted.
Business from the report
Moved: That the Corporation approves the transfer of ownership of St. Paul Lutheran Home to
Emmanuel Care.
Merv Bender raised a point of order, and asked for a ruling by the Chair as to whether this
motion was in order as the St. Paul’s Constitution Article IX reads: ‘Amendments to this
constitution shall be made by majority vote at the meetings of the Corporation and such changes
proposed shall be made in writing to the President of the Corporation at least two (2) months
prior to the meeting.’ Bylaw 10.02 states ‘Proposed changes shall be made in writing to the
President of the Corporation a minimum of two (2) months prior to the meeting.
Chair Sheldon indicated that notice of the motion and intention of transfer of ownership was
dated April 16, 2018, and therefore did not meet the time requirement. Therefore, the motion
was ruled out of order.
Because this motion could not be dealt with at this meeting, there was felt to be a need to enable
the Board to move forward in their attempt to increase their influence in the new health system
and to gain additional supports in providing quality, holistic care, so that actions can be
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undertaken prior to the next Synod convention in 2021. However, it was stated that changes of
this magnitude require a due diligence process, and additional time is needed. This includes a
meaningful process of communication and engagement with LutherCare Communities, and
discussion and dialogue with supporters from Melville and surrounding communities.
MSC that Synod Council be authorized to work with the Board of St. Paul Lutheran Home –
Melville, to explore viable options and approve a final decision, to be reported to the Synod.
The hard work of the Board was acknowledged.
Resolution of ratification:
MSC that any and all actions of the biennial convention of the Saskatchewan Synod, Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada which pertains to the Corporation of St. Paul Lutheran Home,
Melville are hereby ratified.
The Corporation meeting was declared adjourned at 5:00 pm.
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The Synod convention reconvened at 5:00 pm
Election Committee
On behalf of the Elections Committee, Victoria Mwamasika reported:
Election Results
Synod Council
Lay:
111 ballots cast; 1 spoiled ballot
Jeff Barber
91
Merv Bender
89
Lynda Erlandson
85
Cindy Hoppe
95
Darlene Stelmacowich
70
Jeff Barber and Cindy Hoppe were declared elected for 6-year terms ending 2024;
Merv Bender and Lynda Erlandson were declared elected for 3-year terms ending 2021
Rostered:

Sean Bell
88
John Dut
36
Liz Kuglin-Alyea
74
Stewart Miller
59
Doug Schmirler
64
Ali Tote
101
Sean Bell and Ali Tote were declared elected for 6-year terms ending 2024; Liz KuglinAlyea and Doug Schmirler were declared elected for 3-year terms ending 2021
Synod Secretary:

Cheryl Bauer Hyde was declared elected by acclamation for a
6-year term ending 2024

Lutheran Theological Seminary (Lay):

Larry Tehse was declared elected by
acclamation for a 6-year term ending 2024

SSC-18-21 MSC that the ballots be destroyed.
National Delegates Election
SSC-18-22 MSC that the 15 delegate nominees to the 2019 National Convention be declared
elected as delegates and that the Synod Council will appoint the additional 13 delegates to fill the
Saskatchewan Synod delegate slate to the 2019 National ELCIC Convention.
Rostered Ministers:
1. Lori James, Cross & Spire Parish, Esterhazy/Stockholm
2. Doug Schmirler, Good Shepherd Lutheran, Melville
3. Dennis Serfas, Messiah Lutheran, Prince Albert
4. Karen Stepko, Christ Lutheran, Rhein
Lay:
1. Cheryl Bauer Hyde, Messiah Lutheran, Prince Albert
2. Merv Bender, Messiah Lutheran, Prince Albert
3. Lynda Erlandson, St. Paul Lutheran, Radisson
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4. Gwen Hudy, Good Shepherd Lutheran, Melville
5. Eunice Morck, St. Olaf Lutheran, Swift Current
6. Connie Rayner, St. Olaf Lutheran, Swift Current
7. Deb Roberts, Christ Lutheran, Regina
8. David Scheirer, Good Shepherd Lutheran, Melville
9. Allan Scholz, Good Shepherd Lutheran, Saskatoon
10. Arlene Tangjerd, St. Paul Lutheran, Yorkton
Youth:
1. Bryce MacEwen, Redeemer Lutheran, Saskatoon
Reference and Counsel Committee – Report #3
Committee of Reference & Counsel recommends that this resolution be considered by the
assembly.
SCC-18-23 Moved by the Committee on Reference & Counsel. That this Convention offer
thanks to:
Host – Luther College (Bryan Hillis, Rev. Sean Bell)
Head Steward – Margaret Fast
Volunteers – registrars, set-up, the many tasks required to create this experience
A/V Technician – Inland Audio Visual
Facilities & Food – the leadership and staff of Luther College
Social & Refreshment Hosts – CLWR, ELFEC, LutherCare Communities, Luther
College
Worship Coordinators – Rev. Sean Bell, Rev. Sarah Dymund, Rev. Dennis Hendricksen,
Rev. Amber Hoffman, as well as Worship Leaders and Musicians
Workshop Leaders and Facilitators
Convention Committee members
Keynote Speaker Melanie Delva
Convention Chaplains – Rev. Dennis Fingas, Rev. Dennis Serfas
Convention Manager – Joan Meyer
Local Arrangement Co-ordinators – Joan Adams, Val Davies
Golf Cart Driver and transportation – Paul Davies,
Office Manager / Registrar / Newsletter – Lindsay Tomtene
Finance Manager – Howie Wall
Power Point – Kathy Haugen
Bishop Sid Haugen & Synod Council – Officers Rev. Sheldon Gattinger, Valerie Davies,
Cheryl Bauer-Hyde, Lyndon Carlson; and all Synod Council members
Convention Committees – Registration & Attendance, Nominations, Elections, Minutes,
Reference & Counsel
Youth Assembly Coordinators – Rev. Emmanuel Aristide, Rev. George Hind,
Rev. Zsofi Schmiedge
Bishop Susan Johnson and honoured guests
Displayers & Sponsors
All delegates – lay, youth, rostered
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Convention Manager Joan announced that delegates need to clear the convention meeting space
at conclusion of this section, pick up expense cheques at the registration table, turn in name tags
and evaluation forms. Luther College will be providing refreshments following the closing
service this evening at 6:30 pm.
Chaplain Dennis Serfas led the assembly in prayer and grace.
The meeting adjourned for dinner at 5:30 pm
Closing Evening Worship:
Presider / Installation of Council – Bishop Sid Haugen
Preacher – National Bishop Susan Johnson
Worship Assistant – Rev. Amber Hoffman
Gospel – John 15:1-8
Musical Director – Rev. Dennis Hendricksen
Cantor / Musician – Jonathan Achtzehner
Pianist – Michael Dymund
Recognition of Closed Ministries: Evangelical Lutheran Broadcast (Prince Albert),
Metochos Lutheran Bible Camp (Metochos Ministries, Midale)
The service closed with the Order for Closing of Convention.
Refreshments were provided by Luther College.
Lord Jesus, you shall be my song as I journey;
I’ll tell ev’ry body about you wherever I go;
You alone are our life and our peace and our love.
Lord Jesus, you shall be my song as I journey.
(Les Petites Souers de Jesus and
L’Arche Community; tr. Stephen Somerville)
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ARTICLE I
Name and Incorporation
Section 1.

The name of the synod functioning under this constitution shall be Saskatchewan
Synod of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada.

Section 2.

The synod shall be incorporated under the laws of Saskatchewan.

Section 3.

The seal of the Saskatchewan Synod shall consist of a cross encircled by the
words "Saskatchewan Synod Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, Inc." The
bishop shall have custody of the seal.
ARTICLE II
Territory

The territory of this synod shall be the Province of Saskatchewan and the geographical area
served by member congregations and synodically recognized ministries outside Saskatchewan.
ARTICLE III
Confession of Faith
Section 1.

This synod confesses the Triune God - Father, Son and Holy Spirit - as the one true
God. It proclaims the Father as Creator and Preserver; His Son, Jesus Christ, as
Redeemer and Lord; and the Holy Spirit as Regenerator and Sanctifier.

Section 2.

This synod confesses that the Gospel is the revelation of God's saving will and
grace in Jesus Christ, which He imparts through Word and Sacrament. Through
these means of grace the Holy Spirit creates believers and unites them with their
Lord and with one another in the fellowship of the Holy Christian Church.

Section 3.

This synod confesses the Scriptures of the Old and New Testaments as the inspired
Word of God, through which God still speaks, and as the only source of the
church's doctrine and the authoritative standard for the faith and life of the church.

Section 4.

This synod confesses the following symbols, comprising the Book of Concord of
1580, which it subscribes specifically as witnesses to the way in which the Holy
Scriptures have been correctly understood and explained and confessed for the sake
of the Gospel, namely
a.
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b.

The Unaltered Augsburg Confession as its basic formulation of Christian
doctrine;

c.

Luther's Small Catechism as a clear summary of Christian doctrine;

d.

The Apology of the Augsburg Confession, Luther's Large Catechism, the
Smalcald Articles with the Treatise, and the Formula of Concord as further
witnesses to the Unaltered Augsburg Confession.
ARTICLE IV
Mission

Section 1.

The mission of this church, as an expression of the universal Church and as an
instrument of the Holy Spirit, is to share the Gospel of Jesus Christ with people in
Canada and around the world through proclamation of the Word and the celebration
of the Sacraments and through service in Christ’s name.

Section 2.

As the regional expression of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, in
faithfulness to the Lord of the Church, this synod shall facilitate and advance the
mission of this church within its territory and in cooperation with the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada.
Guided and empowered by the Holy Spirit, it shall carry out this mission by
shepherding its congregations synodically recognized ministries and rostered
ministers, and by engaging in other forms of ministry which proclaim God’s Word
and serve to bring reconciliation to the world.
ARTICLE V
Membership

Section 1.

The membership of this synod consists of member congregations and synodically
recognized ministries that are recognized by this synod in the manner described in
the bylaws of this church. Baptized individuals who are members of a congregation
or synodically recognized ministry shall exercise their privileges and
responsibilities through participation in the congregation or synodically recognized
ministry in which they are members.

Section 2.

Congregations and synodically recognized ministries may be recognized by this
synod acting on behalf of this church in the manner described in the constitution
and bylaws of this church.
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This synod may revoke its recognition of any congregation or synodically
recognized ministry in the manner described in the constitution and bylaws of the
church.
ARTICLE VI
Congregations
(Bylaws, Part II, Section 1)

Section 1.

Every congregation which is recognized by this synod shall have a constitution
which, in the judgment of this Synod Council, is in harmony with the constitution
and bylaws of this church and this synod.

Section 2.

Every congregation shall support faithfully with prayer, personal service and
offerings the common work of this church and of the synod.

Section 3.

Every congregation of this synod shall choose a delegate or delegates to represent
it at conventions of this synod and at meetings of the conference to which the
congregation is assigned in accordance with procedures as defined in the bylaws
of this synod. An alternate or alternates may act in the stead of the delegate or
delegates in the event of their absence.

Section 4.

The alignment of congregations in parishes shall be subject to approval of Synod
Council.

Section 5.

Congregations shall have the right to petition this synod, according to procedures
set forth in the bylaws.

Section 6.

In case of strife and division in a congregation, the congregational council shall
seek the advice of the bishop of this synod.

Section 7.

When a pastor resigns, the congregational council shall receive the resignation,
report it to the congregation and notify the bishop of this synod.

Section 8.

During a pastoral vacancy, an interim pastor or a vice-pastor shall be appointed by
the congregational council after consultation with the bishop. The responsibilities
of the two roles are defined in the Call Process Manual.

Section 9.

A congregation desiring to withdraw from this church must comply with the
procedures for withdrawal set out in the bylaws of this church.

Section 10.

A congregation which has ceased to exist or whose membership has so diminished
in numbers as to render it impossible or impractical for the congregation to function
according to its constitution and bylaws shall, after consultation with any remaining
members, be deemed by this synod to be defunct. This synod through this Synod
Council shall appoint trustees, including where feasible former members of the
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congregation, who shall take charge and control of the property of said
congregation to hold, manage and convey the same on behalf of this synod.
Section 11.

A lay member of any congregation, who is under discipline, may appeal to this
synod in the manner described in the bylaws of this synod.
ARTICLE VII
Synodically Recognized Ministries

Section 1.

This synod shall maintain a roster of synodically recognized ministries as
described in the bylaws of this church.

Section 2.

Each synodically recognized ministry is entitled to choose a representative to
conventions of this synod in accordance with procedures as defined in the bylaws.

Section 3.

A lay member who is under discipline by his or her synodically recognized
ministry may appeal to this synod in a manner described in the bylaws of this
synod.
ARTICLE VIII
Rostered Ministers - Ordained
(Bylaws, Part III)

Section 1.

This synod shall maintain a roster of ordained ministers.

Section 2.

The standards of admission and continuance on the roster of ordained ministers
shall be defined in the bylaws of this church.

Section 3.

An ordained minister shall conduct himself/herself in accordance with the bylaws
and policies of this synod and of this church.
ARTICLE IX
Rostered Ministers - Diaconal
(Bylaws, Part IV)

Section 1.

This synod shall maintain a roster of diaconal ministers.

Section 2.

The standards of admission and continuance on the roster of diaconal ministers of
this church shall be defined in the bylaws of this church.
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A diaconal minister shall conduct himself/herself in accordance with the bylaws
and policies of this synod and of this church.
ARTICLE X
Conferences
(Bylaws, Part II, Section 2; Part V, Section 11, c,d)

Section 1.
Section 2.

This synod shall be organized regionally into conferences whose number and
boundaries shall be determined by this synod in convention upon the
recommendation of Synod Council.
The role of the conferences shall be defined in the bylaws of this synod.
ARTICLE XI
Conventions
(Bylaws, Part V)

Section 1.

The convention of the synod shall be its highest legislative authority.

Section 2.

Conventions of this synod shall be held according to times, policies, and
procedures as described in the bylaws of this synod.
ARTICLE XII
Synod Council
(Bylaws, Part VII)

Section 1.

Synod Council is the governing body of this synod and shall carry out all normal
functions and responsibilities on behalf of this synod in accordance with the
constitution, the bylaws and resolutions of this synod in convention.

Section 2.

Synod Council shall consist of the officers of this synod, and members, all of whom
shall be members in good standing of congregations or synodically recognized
ministries of this synod, elected according to procedures defined in the bylaws of
this synod.

Section 3.

The terms of the elected members shall begin at the conclusion of the convention
at which the election occurred.

Section 4.

The bishop shall be an ex officio member of Synod Council.
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ARTICLE XIII
Officers
(Bylaws, Part VIII & IX)
Section 1.

This synod shall be served by a bishop who shall be its chief pastor and chief
executive officer. The other officers shall be a chairperson and a vice-chairperson
who shall be elected from among the members of synod council and a secretary and
a treasurer who shall be elected according to procedures set out in the bylaws of
this synod. The bishop shall be on the roster of ordained ministers of this church.
At least two o f the other officers shall be lay members of a congregation or
synodically recognized ministry of this synod. All officers shall serve as officers
of the synod council.

Section 2.

The purpose, duties and expectations of the officers shall be defined in the bylaws.
ARTICLE XV
Committees
(Bylaws, Part X)

Section 1.

Synod Council shall have authority to establish such committees deemed necessary
for the mission of this synod.

Section 2.

Term of reference for, and membership on, any committee shall be defined in the
bylaws of this synod or in a policy manual.

Section 3.

The committees shall be accountable to this Synod Council, and report to the
council through the Office of the Bishop.
ARTICLE XVI
Theological Institutions
(Bylaws, Part II, Section 4; Part V, Section 11 b., Part XI)

Section 1.

This synod acknowledges its responsibility to maintain a theological seminary
within the guidelines provided by this church, to strengthen this seminary
spiritually and academically, and to provide for its financial support.

Section 2.

The Board of Governors of Lutheran Theological Seminary, Saskatoon,
Saskatchewan, shall control and manage the seminary and determine its academic
and administrative affairs.
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Section 3.

Terms of reference for, and membership on, the Board of Governors of Lutheran
Theological Seminary shall be defined in the bylaws of this synod or in a policy
manual.
ARTICLE XVII
Bylaws

Section 1.

This synod may adopt such bylaws, not in conflict with this constitution, as may be
necessary. Such bylaws may be amended at any convention by a two-thirds vote
of the delegates present and voting. At least one day shall elapse between first
presentation and convention action unless unanimous consent to amend is given.

Section 2.

Bylaws relating to convention procedure may be suspended by a two-thirds vote
of the delegates present and voting.
ARTICLE XVIII
Amendments

Section 1.

The Confession of Faith as stated in Article III shall be that of the Evangelical
Lutheran Church in Canada, and is not amendable.

Section 2.

Amendments to this constitution shall be in writing and may be proposed by
either:
a.
b.
c.
d.

Section 3.

The National Church Council;
The Synod Council;
A congregation of the synod;
Ten convention delegates.

All proposed amendments must be reported to the convention no later than the first
full day of business. The Synod Council shall make a report and recommendation
during that convention on all proposed amendments. Adoption of an amendment
shall require passage at this and the next regular convention by a two-thirds vote
of the delegates present and voting. Notice of the full text thereof shall be sent to
the ordained ministers, diaconal ministers and congregations of this synod at least
one month prior to the second reading. Further amendment at the second reading
shall require unanimous consent. Such amendments shall be effective upon
ratification by the National Church Council.

As amended at the 2016 Saskatchewan Synod Convention
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Part I
Synod Office
(Constitution, Article II)
Section 1. The Synod Office shall be located in Saskatoon.
Section 2. All executive offices shall be located at the Synod Office unless otherwise approved by
Synod Council.
Part II
Organizational Relationships
Section 1. Congregation (Constitution, Article VI)
a. In relating to congregations within its territory, the synod shall organize, recognize,
receive, release and exclude congregations, and approve or disapprove of the relocation
or the merger of congregations.
b. Congregations may petition this synod according to the procedures set forth in these
bylaws, Part V, Section 8.
c. A lay member of a congregation who wishes to appeal discipline imposed by his or her
congregation on that member shall appeal in writing to the bishop within thirty (30) days
after the disciplinary action has been taken. The appellant shall send copies of the appeal
to the congregation. The bishop shall appoint a special committee to investigate the
appeal. The decision of the committee shall be reported to the appellant, the pastor and
secretary of the congregation and to the bishop. The decision of the committee shall be
final.
Section 2. Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada (Constitution, Article V)
In relating to the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada, this synod shall recognize, where
operating within the territory of the synod, all organizations recognized by the ELCIC, as
provided for in the ELCIC Constitution, Article XVI.
Section 3. Specialized Ministries
a. This synod may affiliate with specialized ministries such as campus ministries, camps,
Lutheran social service agencies and health care institutions.
b. On request of an affiliated institution or agency, synod council may call and install a
pastor or chaplain to such affiliated agency or institution.
c. Synod council may, when requested, appoint a representative to the board of directors of
affiliated agencies or institutions.

June 4-5, 2021

Page 172 of 187

Sask Synod 18th Convention Bulletin of Reports

10. 7 Sask Synod Bylaws 2018

Part III
Rostered Ministers - Ordained
(Constitution, Article VIII)
Section 1. Ordination of approved candidates shall take place at a time and place, in consultation with
the bishop.
Section 2. The synod shall have a call process approved by synod council. A congregation wishing to
extend a call shall follow the general procedures set out in the call process unless otherwise
advised by the bishop due to unusual circumstances.
Section 3. Each ordained minister, except those who are retired, disabled, on leave from call, or
suspended from pastoral ministry, shall be in possession of a proper call from a congregation,
a synod or this church itself. Such a call may be for an indefinite or a specified length of
time. Before issuing the call, the calling agency shall consult with the bishop of this synod.
Section 4. An ordained minister shall inform the congregational council and the bishop immediately
upon receipt of a call to another ministry, and shall inform the calling agency and the bishop
of any decision made within thirty days unless an extension is granted by mutual consent of
all the parties involved. An ordained minister shall terminate an existing call within two
months of accepting another call, unless an extension is granted by mutual consent of all the
parties involved.
Section 5. a. Termination of Call
When no term is specified, a regular call accepted by an ordained minister to a congregation
shall constitute a relationship which may be terminated for the following causes:
i. Resignation of the ordained minister;
ii. Disqualification of the ordained minister as a result of discipline;
iii. Division of the pastoral charge;
iv. Incapacity of the ordained minister, either physical or mental;
v. Continued neglect of ministry by the ordained minister;
vi. Inability to conduct the ministerial office satisfactorily in a congregation in view of
local conditions, without reflection on the moral and spiritual character of the
ordained minister.
b. In the conditions set out in Section 5, iv, v, vi, the bishop or designate may implement an
investigation which may involve appointment of an advisory committee according to the
following:
i. Upon the request of the congregational council or on receipt of a petition signed by at
least one-third of the voting members of a congregation.
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ii. An allegation of physical or mental disability which shall secure medical testimony to
confirm or refute such allegation. If incapacity is confirmed, the bishop may, on the
advice of the committee and with the concurrence of the congregational council,
declare the pastorate vacant. Should the ordained minister be restored to health, the
bishop shall take steps to enable the ordained minister to resume ministry in the
congregation last served or in another ministry.
iii. An allegation of neglect of ministry or of local conditions that imperil the well-being
of a congregation shall provide an opportunity for all concerned parties to be heard.
iv. With the concurrence of the congregational council, the bishop or designate may
suspend the ordained minister from ministerial duties pending the outcome of formal
proceedings when circumstances warrant.
v. At the conclusion of an investigation, the bishop, in company with the committee if
applicable, shall bring recommendations to the ordained minister and the
congregation for consideration and action. Such counsel shall be offered in Christian
love and is not to be regarded as a disciplinary measure. If the situation cannot be
resolved amicably, the ordained minister may resign, or the congregation may
terminate the call by a majority vote at a properly called congregational meeting.
vi. The foregoing procedure shall not be invoked when questions of doctrine or morality
are involved. Such cases shall be treated as disciplinary matters.
Section 6. An ordained minister shall preach the Word, administer the Sacraments of Holy Communion
and Holy Baptism, and conduct public worship in harmony with the faith and practices of the
church; equip, train, and mentor all God’s people for ministry in all areas of spiritual renewal
and faith formation; confirm and marry in accordance with the teaching of the church and
with the laws of the province or territory, visit the sick and distressed and bury the dead;
strive for righteousness, godliness faith, love, endurance and gentleness; install members of
the Congregational Council and, with the council, administer discipline; seek out and
encourage qualified persons to prepare for rostered ministry; encourage the members to be
generous in support of the ministry of the congregation, the synod and the church; commend
members who move to the pastoral care of the parish in which their new home is located.
Section 7. An ordained minister shall not preach or perform any ministerial act within the parish of
another ordained minister except at the latter’s request or consent, or visit or perform
ministerial acts in a time of a ministerial vacancy, except by invitation of the interim minister
or congregational council.
Section 8. The ordained minister shall ensure that the congregation keeps accurate records of
membership, baptisms, confirmations, marriages, burials and communicants, and shall report
such statistics annually on the forms prescribed by this church. . The congregational records
shall be kept in a separate book which shall remain the property of the congregation.
Section 9. All ordained ministers serving under call are expected to attend all conventions of this synod.
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Section 10.An ordained minister of a church with which the ELCIC has a full communion agreement
serving in this synod under the provisions of the full communion agreement shall have the
same rights and privileges as an ordained minister of this synod.
Part IV
Rostered Ministers - Diaconal
(Constitution, Article IX)
Section 1. Consecration of approved candidates shall take place at a time and place in consultation with
the bishop.
Section 2. The synod shall have a call process approved by synod council. A congregation wishing to
extend a call shall follow the general procedures set out in the call process unless otherwise
advised by the bishop due to unusual circumstances.
Section 3. Each diaconal minister, except those who are retired, disabled, on leave from call, or
suspended from pastoral ministry, shall be in possession of a proper call from a congregation,
a synod or this church itself. Such a call may be for an indefinite or a specified length of
time. Before issuing the call, the calling agency shall consult with the bishop of this synod.
Section 4. A diaconal minister under call shall inform the congregational council and the bishop
immediately upon receipt of a call to another ministry, and shall inform the calling agency
and the bishop of any decision made within thirty days unless an extension is granted by
mutual consent of all the parties involved. A diaconal minister shall terminate an existing
call within two months of accepting another call, unless an extension is granted by mutual
consent of all the parties involved.
Section 5. a. Termination of call
When no term is specified, a regular call accepted by a diaconal minister to a congregation
shall constitute a relationship which may be terminated for the following causes:
i. Resignation of the diaconal minister;
ii. Disqualification of the diaconal minister as a result of discipline;
iii. Division of the pastoral charge;
iv. Incapacity of the diaconal minister; either physical or mental
v. Continued neglect of ministry by the diaconal minister;
vi. Inability to conduct the ministerial office satisfactorily in a congregation in view of
location conditions, without reflection on the moral and spiritual character of the
diaconal minister.
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b. In the conditions set out in Section 5, iv, v, vi, the bishop or designate may implement an
investigation which may involve appointment of an advisory committee according to the
following:
i. Upon the request of the congregational council or on receipt of a petition signed by at
least one-third of the voting members of a congregation.
ii. An allegation of physical or mental disability which shall secure medical testimony to
confirm or refute such allegation. If incapacity is confirmed, the bishop may, on the
advice of the committee and with the concurrence of the congregational council,
declare the pastorate vacant. Should the diaconal minister be restored to health, the
bishop shall take steps to enable the diaconal minister to resume ministry in the
congregation last served or in another ministry.
iii. An allegation of neglect of ministry or of local conditions that imperil the well-being
of a congregation shall provide an opportunity for all concerned parties to be heard.
iv. With the concurrence of the congregational council, the bishop or designate may
suspend the diaconal minister from ministerial duties pending the outcome of formal
proceedings when circumstances warrant;
v. At the conclusion of an investigation, the bishop, in company with the committee if
applicable, shall bring recommendations to the diaconal minister and the
congregation for consideration and action. Such counsel shall be offered in Christian
love and is not to be regarded as a disciplinary measure. If the situation cannot be
resolved amicably, the pastor may resign, or the congregation may terminate the call
by a majority vote at a properly called congregational meeting.
vi. The foregoing procedure shall not be invoked when questions of doctrine or morality
are involved. Such cases shall be treated as disciplinary matters.
Section 6. All diaconal ministers serving under call are expected to attend all conventions of this synod.
Part V
Conventions
(Constitution, Article XI)
Section 1. The regular conventions of this synod shall be held triennially the year prior to the national
convention. The location and time of convention shall be set by Synod Council.
Section 2. The Secretary shall publish the time and place of each regular convention at least six months
in advance. The secretary shall send out a bulletin of reports to all voting members at least
thirty (30) days before each regular convention.
Section 3. The voting membership of conventions shall consist of:
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a. One lay delegate from each congregation and, from congregations having more than three
hundred (300) baptized members, one lay delegate for each additional two hundred (200)
baptized members;
b. Ordained ministers on the roster of this synod; and
c. Diaconal ministers on the roster of this synod;
d. Lay members of synod council;
e. A maximum of twelve youth delegates shall be chosen by Synod Council from a list of
nominees submitted by congregations of the Synod.
Section 4. At least sixty days prior to the opening day of the convention:
a. Each congregation shall submit the name and address of its lay delegates to the synod
secretary; and
b. Each rostered minister, active, non-parish, and retired, shall submit his/her name and
address to the synod secretary.
Section 5. A majority of the registered voting delegates shall constitute a quorum.
Section 6. Seat and voice at conventions shall be granted to:
a. The Bishop of the Evangelical Lutheran Church in Canada and such other official
representatives of this church as may be designated by National Church Council;
b. Chairpersons of synodical committees in connection with their reports; and
c. Representatives of institutions and agencies related to or officially recognized by the
synod.
Section 7. All arrangements for worship services or public meetings shall be made in consultation with
the bishop.
Section 8. Congregations may petition this synod in convention by submitting the petition in writing to
the secretary of this synod for inclusion in the bulletin of reports. If the petition is too late for
inclusion in the bulletin of reports, the secretary shall deliver the petition to the Reference
and Counsel Committee for presentation to the convention.
Section 9. Synod council shall approve the convention budget which will include the participation of all
delegates - lay, rostered, and youth. Convention costs shall be shared among the
congregations by dividing the total convention costs by the total number of confirmed
members in this synod times the number of confirmed members reported by each
congregation in their most recent parochial report.
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Section 10. Special Conventions
a. Special conventions for specified purposes shall be called by the chairperson of this
synod within ninety days of receiving in writing a request for such a convention from:
i. Synod council by at least a two-thirds majority vote; or
ii. One-fifth of the congregations of this synod and one-fifth of the rostered ministers
under call on its roster.
b. The secretary shall give written notice of a special convention to each congregation, and
each rostered minister,, and shall publish the same at least thirty days prior to the opening
date of the convention.
c. The voting members at a special convention shall consist of:
i. Lay delegates who were seated in the preceding regular convention provided that they
have not been disqualified by termination of membership in the congregation they
represented. Vacancies in the lay delegates shall be filled by the congregations
affected at a regular or specially called congregational meeting. Vacancies thus filled
shall be reported to the secretary of the synod not less than five days before the
special convention.
ii. Lay members of the current synod council;
iii. Ordained ministers on the roster of the synod at the time of the special convention;
and
iv. Diaconal ministers on the roster of the synod at the time of the special convention.
Section 11. Nominations and Elections (Constitution, Articles XII-XIII)
a. The convention shall elect the bishop, secretary and treasurer, and synod council
members in the following manner:
i. Nomination for bishop shall be limited to those who are or are eligible to be on the
roster of ordained ministers of this church.
ii. The election of the bishop shall be by secret ballot without oral nomination, and shall
proceed in the following manner:
1. On the first ballot, three-fourths of the votes cast shall elect. If the first ballot
does not result in an election, it shall be considered a nominating ballot.
Thereafter, voting shall be limited to those persons named on the first ballot and
who have agreed to participate in the call process and proceed to second ballot.
2. On the second ballot, two-thirds of the votes cast shall elect. If the second ballot
does not result in an election, voting shall be limited to the four persons receiving
the highest number of votes cast.
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3. On the third ballot, a majority of the votes cast shall elect. If the third ballot does
not result in an election, voting shall be limited to the three persons receiving the
highest number of votes cast. Following the third ballot, those three persons
receiving the highest number of votes cast will be invited to address the
convention.
4. On the fourth ballot, a majority of the votes cast shall elect. If the fourth ballot
does not result in an election, voting shall be limited to the two persons receiving
the highest number of votes cast. Following the fourth ballot, those two persons
receiving the highest number of votes cast will be invited to respond to questions
submitted in writing from the convention delegates and selected by the elections
committee. As each responds, the other candidate will be sequestered.
5. On the fifth ballot, a majority of the votes cast shall elect.
6. A call to serve as bishop will be offered to the elected candidate for consideration.
iii. The Committee on Nominations shall provide a nomination for each synod council
position, except that of the bishop.
iv. Additional nominations may be made from the floor for all positions except that of
the bishop, with the prior consent of the person being nominated.
v. All elections shall be by secret ballot.
vi. In all elections, except for that of the bishop, a majority of the votes cast shall
elect.
vii. If an election does not occur on a first ballot for any position except that of the
bishop, voting on the second ballot shall be limited to the two persons receiving the
highest number of votes cast on the first ballot.
viii. The result of each ballot in every election shall be announced in detail to the
convention.
b. Election of synodical representatives to the Lutheran Theological Seminary Board of
Governors shall proceed as follows:
i. Synod council, in consultation with the seminary, shall nominate one or more persons
for each position for which election is required.
ii. Nominations may be made from the floor with the consent of those nominated.
iii. Normally, nominations will be presented in such a way that representation alternates
between male and female at the completion of an individual’s term or terms.
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iv. A majority of the votes cast shall elect. If an election does not occur on a first ballot,
voting on a second ballot shall be limited to the two persons receiving the highest
number of votes cast on the first ballot.
Section 12. The convention procedures shall be published in a convention manual approved by Synod
Council.
Part VI
Elections of Delegates to the National Church Convention
(Congregation Constitution, Article VI, Sec. 2)
Section 1. The synod secretary shall inform the congregations of the number of voting delegates and the
apportionment of lay, youth and rostered ministers to be elected to the national church
convention as determined by this church.
Section 2. Delegates will be elected at the synod convention in the year preceding the national
convention. Nominations will be called for a minimum of 120 days prior to the synod
convention and will close no later than 60 days prior to the synod convention.
Section 3. The delegate costs for attendance at National Convention will be shared among the
congregations by dividing the total delegate costs by the total number of confirmed members
in this synod times the number of confirmed members reported by each congregation in their
most recent parochial report.
Part VII
Synod Council
(Constitution, Article XII)
Section 1. The membership of synod council shall be the bishop, secretary and treasurer of the synod
together with 8 additional members consisting of an equal number of rostered ministers and
lay persons elected by the convention to serve for six years in such manner that the terms of
one-half of the elected members shall expire each triennium.
Section 2. Synod council shall:
a. Develop and monitor a Strategic Plan to equip and empower the synod in carrying out its
mission and ministry, including development of governance policies for the Synod;
b. Elect a chairperson and vice-chairperson from among its members for a term of three years.
The election shall be held at the first synod council meeting following each Synod
convention.
c. Be the directors of the corporation and trustees for this synod;
d. Issue letters of call to rostered ministers who are full-time officers or staff officials of the
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synod, or who are called to special service;
e. Fill vacancies until the next convention except as otherwise provided;
f. Determine the fact of the incapacity of an officer of the synod according to the procedures in
the bylaws of this church;
g. Approve candidates for call, ordination and admission to the rosters of ordained and diaconal
ministers;
h. Appoint a committee on nominations;
i. Appoint all committees for which there is no other provision;
j. Carry out duties in good faith with diligence, care, and skill;
k. Expect the same standard of conduct from lay, ordained and diaconal members;
l.

Make and enforce its own policies, including the discipline of its members; and

m. Perform such additional duties as prescribed in the constitution, the bylaws, or by resolutions
of this synod in convention.
Section 3. Synod council shall appoint an ordained minister to assume the duties and responsibilities of
the bishop in the event of the resignation, incapacity, or death of the bishop, pending the
election of a new bishop at the next regular or specially called synod convention.
Section 4. Synod council shall hold at least two meetings annually.
Section 5. Special meetings of the synod council may be called by the bishop or chairperson of this
synod when circumstances warrant.
Section 6. A majority of the members of synod council shall constitute a quorum.
Part VIII
Duties of the Synod Officers
(Constitution, Article XIII)
Section 1. The chairperson of this synod shall:
a. Convene and preside over conventions of this synod and meetings of synod council; and
b. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and policy manuals.
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Section 2. The vice-chairperson of this synod shall:

a. Assume the duties of the chairperson at the request of the chairperson, or in the event the
chairperson is unable to fulfill the duties of that position; and
b. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and policy manuals.
Section 3. The secretary shall:
a. Oversee all secretarial and record keeping duties on behalf of this synod as prescribed in
these bylaws and in the synod council governance and policy manuals.
Section 4. The treasurer shall:
a. Oversee all financial affairs and accounts of this synod, including deeds, mortgages,
contracts, trust funds, investments, etc.;
b. Be bonded under the fidelity coverage provided by this church; and
c. Perform additional duties as prescribed in the synod council governance and policy
manuals.
Part IX
Duties of the Bishop
(Constitution, Article XIII)
Section 1. The bishop shall be a minister of Word and Sacrament of this church. As this Synod’s
pastor, the bishop shall:
a. Preach, teach, and administer the sacraments in accord with the Confession of Faith of
this church.
b. Have primary responsibility for the ministry of Word and Sacrament in this synod and its
congregations, providing pastoral care and leadership for this synod, its congregations
and its rostered ministers.
c. Exercise solely this church’s power to ordain (or provide the ordination by another
synodical bishop of) approved candidates who have received and accepted a properly
issued, duly attested letter of call for the office of ordained ministry. (and as provided in
the bylaws of this church).
d. Consecrate (or provide for the consecration of) approved candidates who have received
and accepted a properly issued, duly attested letter of call for service as diaconal
ministers of this church.
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e. Oversee the call process. Attest letters of call for persons called to serve congregations in
the synod, letters of call for persons called by the Synod Council.
f. Install (or provide for the installation of) rostered ministers whose calls the bishop has
attested.
g. Interpret and advocate the mission and theology of the synod as a whole.
Section 2. The bishop shall be the chief executive officer of this synod discharging all duties and
obligations of that office as mandated in the constitution, the bylaws and by resolution of
Synod Council. As the chief executive officer of this synod the bishop shall:
a. Serve as an ex officio member of all committees of this Synod.
b. Leader in fostering support for and commitment to the mission of this church within this
Synod.
c. Coordinate the use of the resources to achieve the Synod’s Strategic Plan.
d. Advise and counsel the Synod’s affiliated institutions and agencies.
e. Supervise all Synod staff.
f. Form management task forces as are necessary in the life of the Synod.
g. Appoint the synod archivist / necrologist to maintain historical records on behalf of this
Synod.
h. Submit a report to each regular meeting of the Synod Convention and to Synod Council
conserving the Synod’s life and work.
i. Perform other duties as prescribed in the constitutions and bylaws of this church and the
synod, and the synod council governance and policy manuals.
Part X
Standing Committees
(Constitution, Article XIV)
Section 1. Standing committees of this synod will have continued existence, formed to do their
assigned work on an ongoing basis.
Section 2. This synod shall have a Synod Examining Committee and shall participate in the Western
Synods Examining Committee. Terms of reference for and procedures of the Examining
Committee shall be defined in the candidacy manual of this church.
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a. The Synod Examining Committee shall be a standing committee of this synod.
i. The Synod Examining Committee shall be accountable to synod council and report to
synod council through the office of the bishop.
ii. The Synod Examining Committee shall consist of the bishop and five members
appointed by synod council: one seminary professor, two lay persons, one diaconal
minister, and one ordained minister. The committee will name its own chairperson
and secretary.
iii. The appointed members shall serve for six year terms with a two-consecutive-terms
limit staggered so that no more than half are replaced at any one time.
iv. When the Western Synods Examining Committee is not meeting, it shall be the duty
of the Synod Examining committee to examine candidates for ordained and diaconal
ministry, for reception from other Lutheran churches with whom mutual recognition
of ministry has not been established, and for reception from other Christian churches
according to policies and procedures established by this church. The committee shall
present its recommendations to synod council.
v. The committee shall work in close cooperation with the Candidacy Committee.
b. The Western Synods Examining Committee shall be the usual body to examine
candidates for ordained and diaconal ministry.
i The Western Synods Examining Committee shall serve the Synods of British
Columbia, Alberta and the Territories, Saskatchewan and Manitoba/Northwestern
Ontario.
ii

Annually, the synod council shall appoint one lay person and one rostered person
from the synod examining committee to the Western Synods Examining Committee,
making a total of eight persons appointed from the four participating synods. Of the
four rostered persons appointed, at least one rostered person shall be a diaconal
minister, with that position assigned to one of the synods by agreement of the synod
bishops.

iii The Lutheran Theological Seminary, Saskatoon shall annually appoint two faculty
members.
iv. The synod bishops shall serve ex officio on the Western Synods Examining
Committee.
v. This committee shall meet at a time determined by the synod bishops.
vi. Each examination shall be conducted by a sub-committee of the Western Synods
Examining Committee comprised of at least one member from each synod, including
one faculty, two lay persons, two rostered persons, and the bishop of the candidate’s
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synod. When a diaconal candidate is being examined, the sub-committee shall
include a diaconal minister.
vii. It shall be the duty of this committee to examine candidates for ordained and diaconal
ministry, for reception from other Lutheran churches with whom mutual recognition
of ministry has not been established, and for reception from other Christian churches.
The committee shall report its recommendations to the synod council of the synod
where the candidate is registered.
Section 3. The Candidacy Committee shall be a standing committee of this synod.
a. The Candidacy Committee shall be accountable to synod council and shall report to the
council through the office of the bishop.
b. The Candidacy Committee shall consist of no fewer than four and no more than six
members split equally between lay persons and rostered ministers and shall be appointed
by synod council. The synod bishop shall be an ex officio member. The committee will
name its own chairperson and secretary.
c. The appointed members shall serve for six year terms with a two consecutive-term limit,
staggered so that no more than half are replaced at any one time.
d. It shall be the duty of this committee to select and endorse candidates for the ordained
and diaconal ministry; receive applications from candidates who come from Lutheran
churches with whom mutual recognition of ministry has not yet been established, or who
come from other churches; and refer candidates to the examining committee for colloquy
according to the policies and procedures established by this church.
e. This committee shall receive applications for financial aid from ministry candidates and
authorize the disbursement of synod funds designated for this purpose.
Section 4. The Mission in Ministry Committee shall be a standing committee of this synod.
a. The Mission in Ministry Committee shall be accountable to synod council and shall
report to the council through the office of the bishop.
b. The Mission in Ministry Committee shall consist of no fewer than four nor more than six
members. The members shall be appointed by the synod council. The synod bishop, or
designate, shall be an ex officio member. Due attention shall be given to rostered/lay
representation. The committee will name its own chairperson and secretary.
c. The members shall serve for six year terms with a two consecutive term limit, staggered
so that no more than half are replaced at any one time.
d. It shall be the duty of the Mission in Ministry Committee to:
i. Provide direction and leadership for mission initiatives in the synod;
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ii. Initiate and maintain linkages with mission partners in Canada;
iii. Support new and continuing mission initiatives in congregations and specialized
ministries;
iv. Recommend disbursement of designated programming funds to Synod Council;
v. Function according to the policies and procedures of the Church Extension and
Capital Fund Management Handbook.
Section 5. The Committee for Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon shall be a standing committee of
this synod.
a. The Committee for Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon shall be accountable to synod
council and shall report to the council through the office of the bishop.
b. The Committee for Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon shall consist of six members,
the majority of whom shall be members of ELCIC congregations. The members shall be
nominated by the Bishop in consultation with the Committee for Lutheran Campus
Ministry – Saskatoon, and appointed by Synod Council. The Committee will name its
own chairperson, secretary and treasurer.
c. The committee may appoint up to three student members.
d. The student members shall serve for one-year terms with all other members serving twoyear terms. No member shall be eligible for appointment for more than three consecutive
terms.
d. It shall be the duty of the Committee for Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon to:
i. Create and nurture a Christian community, the ministry of which shall be focused
primarily within the University of Saskatchewan campus;
ii. Evaluate programs, their effectiveness and adherence to Lutheran theology and
practice;
iii. Manage the Lutheran Campus Centre properties in Saskatoon;
iv. Prepare the annual budget for Lutheran Campus Ministry – Saskatoon and
recommend it to the Bishop.
v. Elect and recommend a chaplain for call.
Part XI
Lutheran Theological Seminary
(Constitution, Article XV)
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Section 1. The property of the seminary, both real and personal, shall be held by the board of governors
in trust for and under the guidance of the British Columbia Synod, Alberta and the Territories
Synod, Saskatchewan Synod and Manitoba/Northwestern Ontario Synod.
Section 2 Any proposal for increase in the number of members of the board must have the approval of
the Synod.
Section 3. Election of Synod representatives to the LTS Board shall be in accordance with the LTS
Constitution, Bylaws and policies.
Section 4. Financial support for the seminary shall be determined by a process of consultation between
the board of governors and synod council.
Section 5. The board shall make a report to the regular convention of this synod.
Part XII
Financial Matters
Section 1. The fiscal year and the budget year of the synod shall be the calendar year.
Section 2. The annual budget and financial reports of the synod shall reflect the entire range of its
activities. The income listed shall include support from all sources.
Section 3. Special appeals to congregations for the raising of funds shall require the consent of the
convention or synod council.
Section 4. Synod Council shall submit the financial accounts of this synod annually for audit to a
Chartered Professional Accountant.
As amended at the 2018 Saskatchewan Synod Convention
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